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China Everbright International Limited (“the Company”, and together with its
subsidiaries, collectively “the Group”) is a fast growing business conglomerate which
has integrated technology development, construction and operation management
focusing on environmental protection and alternative energy businesses. The Group
has established the research and development and construction service bases
in Beijing and Shenzhen respectively. The business of the Group is classified into
environmental energy, environmental water, alternative energy and infrastructure. Its
projects mainly include waste-to-energy, methane-to-energy, straw cogeneration,
biomass power generation, solar photovoltaic energy, industrial solid waste landfill,
waste water treatment, reusable water and toll bridge etc. These businesses are
spreading over cities and rural areas in Jiangsu, Shandong, Fujian, Guangdong and
Anhui Provinces.

With its highly trained and dedicated management team as well as strong parental
support from China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, the Group is fully
prepared to further explore and develop the environmental protection market and
strives to obtain new environmental protection projects, with the aim to become a
leading player in the environmental protection industry in the PRC.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

TANG Shuangning (Chairman)

ZANG Qiutao (Vice-chairman)

LI Xueming (Vice-chairman)

CHEN Xiaoping (Chief Executive Officer)

WANG Tianyi (General Manager)

WONG Kam Chung, Raymond (Chief Financial Officer)
ZHANG Weiyun

Non-executive Director
FAN Yan Hok, Philip

Independent Non-executive Directors
Sir David AKERS-JONES

LI Kwok Sing, Aubrey

MAR Selwyn

COMPANY SECRETARY
POON Yuen Ling

REGISTERED OFFICE
Room 2703, 27th Floor

Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Bank of Jiangsu

China Everbright Bank Co., Limited
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd.
China Citic Bank

CITIC Ka Wah Bank Limited

DBS Bank Ltd

Deutsche Bank, AG

Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Shanghai Pudong Development Limited
The Bank of East Asia, Limited
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SOLICITORS
Paul, Hastings, Janofsky & Walker
Grandall Legal Group (Beijing)

AUDITORS
KPMG

REGISTRARS

Tricor Tengis Limited

26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

PUBLIC RELATIONS

Strategic Financial Relations (China) Limited
Unit A, 29/F., Admiralty Centre |

18 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

WEBSITE
www.ebchinaintl.com

STOCK CODE
257
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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS
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2009 2008 Percentage
—BTAE —TTN\F Change
HK$000 HK$" 000 Ekd
BETRT AT b))
RESULTS 3
Tumover ¥R 1,765,996 1,862,509 -5%
EBITDA on recurring basis™ BRFIE - T8 - FTER
BRI R 711,609 592,727 20%
Profit attrioutable to equity RRR A 22 7
shareholders 371,898 339,018 10%
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) M5B & [O13R(%) 10.06 12.86 -3%
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FRREARZF GBI 11.39 10.80 5%
FINANCIAL POSITION BATSHRR
Total assets BERRE 8,667,268 6,300,678 38%
Total liabilities BfEesE 3,737,502 3,169,637 18%
Shareholders’ equity IR 4,572,832 2,819,615 62%
Net asset value per share attributable IR EL AR
to equity shareholders (HK$) BEFEEET) 1.257 0.897 40%
Gearing (%) BEBBLE%) 43 50 7%
Current ratio (%) TRENLL (%) 248 136 112%
MARKET INFORMATION HigEE
Share price at year end (HK$) IR 7 IRE (B TT) 4.00 1.43 180%
Price earnings ratio at year end FREzMEE(E)
(times) 35.12 13.24 165%
Market capitalisation at year end FREZ EATE 14,557,299 4,495,602 224%

# EBITDA is the profit for the year before deduction of interest, taxation,

depreciation and amortisation.

* The amount for current year is stated excluding the valuation gains on
investment properties of HK$4,888,000. The amount for last year is stated
excluding the profit on disposal of subsidiaries of HK$51,778,000.
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01/2009 02/2009

Binzhou Boxing Waste Water
Treatment Project and
Extension and Upgrade Project
of Jinan Waste Water Treatment
Projects were ready to receive
water

Everbright Environmental Energy
(Yixing) Limited was awarded
the “Outstanding Enterprise”,
“Outstanding Foreign Invested
Enterprise”, “Outstanding
Safety Production Enterprise”
and “Outstanding Employee
Protection Enterprise” in 2008
by National Yixing Environmental
Technology Industrial Park
and “Outstanding Energy
Conservation and Emission
Reduction Enterprise” by Yixing
Municipal Government
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03/2009

Changzhou Waste-to-energy
Project scored 98 points
in overall grade during the
assessment of commercial
operation by an expert team
of the Construction Bureau of
Jiangsu Province
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BERBEFMAETERRE
E&F - BRERLE8D

Final results announcement for
2008, with profit attributable to
equity shareholders amounted
to HK$339,018,000

Entered into a “Concession
Right Agreement” in respect
of Jinan Xike Waste Water
Treatment Project with Jinan
Municipal and Public Utility
Bureau

Jinan Licheng Waste Water
Treatment Project was ready to
receive water

5%@1@%%7%@55 BHE
K
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04,2009 05/2009

Commencement of commercial
operation of Jinan Waste Water
Treatment Project No. 2 Plant
after completion of upgrading
work

Was awarded the “National
Enterprise Environmental
Achievement Award 2008-
2009” by Hong Kong
Environmental Protection
Association
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Commencement of commercial
operation of Jinan Waste Water
Treatment No. 1 Plant after
completion of extension and
upgrading work

Jointly established the
“Everbright International
— Shandong Academy of
Sciences Environmental
Protection and Energy Saving
Engineering Technology
Research Institute” with
Shandong Academy of
Sciences in Beijing

Jointly organized the Master
of Environment Engineering
program with Tsinghua
University

Held Annual General Meeting of
2008

Was awarded the “Outstanding
Leader in Corporate
Social Responsibility and
Environmental Protection in
the PRC” by Environmental
International Summit of the PRC
in 2009
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06/2009

Commencement of commercial
operation of Suzhou Waste-to-
energy Project Phase I

FRNMB IR BIRE —HYE
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07/2009

Established Everbright
Environmental Energy (Jinan)
Limited and entered into a
“Concession Right Agreement”
in respect of Jinan Waste-

to-energy Project with Jinan
Municipal and Public Utility
Bureau

Held ceremony with themes
of “Environmental Protection,
Technology and Development”
celebrating the completion of
extension and upgrade work of
Jinan Waste Water Treatment
Project which improves the
processed sewage to the
national Grade 1A discharge
standard, the completion of
construction of Jinan Licheng
Waste Water Treatment Project
for receiving waste water, the
commencement of construction
of Jinan Xike Waste Water
Treatment Project and the
establishment of Everbright
Environmental Energy (Jinan)
Limited

Entered into a “Framework
Agreement” in respect of the
environmental protection,
ecological restoration and
alternative energy projects with
the Management Committee
of Zibo High-tech Industrial
Development Zone

Entered into a “Framework
Agreement” in respect of the
environmental protection,
construction of public utilities
and infrastructure, alternative
energy and alternative resources
projects with the Dezhou
Municipal People’s Government

Entered into a Memorandum
in respect of building energy
saving, solar energy and wind
power projects with Belgium 3E
Company
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08/2009

Entered into a “Supplementary
Agreement of Concession
Right Agreement” in respect
of extension work for Jiangyin
Waste-to-energy Project Phase
Il with Jiangyin Municipal
Construction Bureau

EUTRR ™ 2R B E M T
RENTEN KRR EEEIRAR
—HRETRE

09/2009

Entered into a “Facility
Agreement” with Asian
Development Bank in respect
of a long term loan of USD 200
million

Successfully placed
480,000,000 shares of the
Company to independent
investors

Entered into a “Comprehensive
Strategic Cooperative
Agreement” in respect of
Zhenjiang Everbright Industrial
Park with the Management
Committee of Zhenjiang New
District

Entered into a “Comprehensive
Strategic Cooperative
Agreement” in respect of
reusable water, alternative
energy, alternative resources,
urban rural waste water
treatment projects with the
Jiangyin Municipal People’s
Government

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZNFF#

Entered into a “Concession
Right Agreement” in respect
of Ling County Waste Water
Treatment Project with the Ling
County People’s Government,
Shandong Province

Was awarded the “Silver medal
of water treatment group of
Annual Report International
Award 2008” by Mercomm Inc.
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ate Milestones 1D AKFE4 B

10/2009  11/2009

Entered into a “Concession
Right Agreement” in respect
of Zhenjiang Waste-to-energy
Project with Zhenjiang Municipal
Government

Entered into a “Comprehensive
Strategic Cooperative
Agreement” in respect of the
waste water treatment plant,
underground water plant,
reusable water, alternative
energy projects with the Xinyi
Municipal People’s Government,
Jiangsu Province

Everbright Environmental Energy
(Jiangyin) Limited received three
certificates, namely the ISO9001
Quality management System
Certificate, the ISO 14001
Environmental Management
System Certificate and the
GB/T-28001 Occupational
Health Management System
Certificate

Commencement of commercial
operation of Jinan Licheng
Waste Water Treatment Project

Commencement of construction
of Ling County Waste Water
Treatment Project
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Entered into “Framework
Strategic Cooperative
Agreements” in respect of the
environmental protection and
alternative energy projects with
the Huaining County People’s
Government, Anhui Province

Entered into a “Framework
Strategic Cooperative
Agreement” in respect of the
environmental protection and
alternative energy projects with
the Dongshan County People’s
Government, Anhui Province

Commencement of commercial
operation of Zibo Zhoucun
Waste Water Treatment Project

Suzhou Waste-to-energy Plant
was dubbed the “Garden-
like Waste-to-energy Plant” by
CCTV
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12/2009

Entered into “Cooperative
Agreements” in respect of
Sugian Waste-to-energy Project
and Sugian Everbright Industrial
Park with the Sugian Municipal
People’s Government

Entered into a “Concession
Right Agreement” in respect
of Huidong Waste-to-energy
Project with the Huidong
County People’s Government

Entered into an “Investment
Agreement” in respect of the
Xinyi Biomass Cogeneration
Project with the Xinyi Municipal
People’s Government, Jiangsu
Province

Entered into a “Management
Contract” in respect of the
waste water source heat pump
project with the Management
Committee of Zibo High-tech
Development Zone

Upgrading work of Northern
Plant of Zibo Waste Water
Treatment Project was awarded
the “National Outstanding
Construction Award 2009”

Was awarded the “Hong Kong
Outstanding Enterprises 2009”
by Economic Digest

Everbright Water (Jinan
Licheng) Limited entered into
a “Framework Agreement” in
respect of the reusable water
project with the Shandong
Luneng Development Group

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZNFF#
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AIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

ER®RE

Carry forward the spirit
of China Everbright
Strive to establish

a renowned
Environmental Protection

brand

RBJAKFE - FARERE

2009 was an unusual year. Facing the challenges of the financial
crisis, countries around the world have taken a series of measures to
stimulate economic growth and achieved positive results. Given the PRC
has taken measures timely and appropriately, it is the first to achieve
economic recovery and completed “securing 8%” growth targets.
At the same time, in order to curb global warming and protecting
the common homeland of mankind, the PRC government has made
energy- saving emission reduction targets in the global climate summit
held in Copenhagen last year. This has not only set an image of a
responsible big country in the international community, but also provided
an enormous room for development of the environmental protection
industry in the PRC.

In 2009, guided by its appreciation of current needs, its vision of
contributing to a harmonious society, its responsibility towards building
a healthy living environment, and its determination to grow the scale and
strength of its business, the Group further restructured its resources and
at the same time developed and classified its environmental protection
businesses into three core sectors, namely Environmental Energy,
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Environmental Water and Alternative Energy. The regional coverage
and business vertical penetration have achieved a breakthrough. By the
end of the year, the Group’s investment projects have been increased
to 32, spreading over the cities and rural areas in Jiangsu, Shandong
and Guangdong Provinces, commanding a total investment of RMB7.8
billion. Business in the key areas is relatively concentrated, which
facilitates the share of the construction and management team between
projects and effectively controls the construction and operating costs,
achieving better economies of scale and synergies. During the year,
the Group secured a 10-year term loan facility of USD200 million from
the Asian Development Bank and also raised HK$1.4 billion through
share placement. These moves have notably strengthened the financial
position of the Group and laid a solid foundation for its future business
development.

For the year under review, the profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Group was HK$371,898,000 and the EBITDA on recurring basis
was HK$711,609,000, which is 20% higher than that of last year (2008:
HK$592,727,000). The achievement was mainly attributable to the
steady growth of the core environmental protection business bringing in
increased revenues and the effort of the Group in boosting management
and reducing operating costs during the year.

Taking into account the satisfactory results and the healthy financial
position of the Group, the Board has proposed to pay the equity
shareholders of the Company a final dividend of HK1.2 cents per share.
Together with the interim dividend of HK1.0 cent per share already paid,
the total dividends for the year will be HK2.2 cents per share (2008:
HK1.6 cents).

Looking ahead, supported by the Central Government to vigorously
promote the policies on energy saving environmental protection industry
development and backed by its parent China Everbright Holdings
Company Limited and the brand presence of the Group, we are
confident in our future development. The Group will continue to expand
its core businesses, increase investment in research and development,
strengthen its core competitiveness to further consolidate its leadership
in Jiangsu and Shandong, in addition to exploring business opportunities
in regions in the Pearl River Delta, the Yangtze River Delta and the
Huanbohai area.

| hereby would like to express my heartfelt thanks to the management
and the staff members of the Company. My gratitude also goes to all
shareholders, fellow Board members and all business partners for their
unwavering trust and support. We will continue to use our best efforts to
promote the development of the Company so as to generate favorable
returns for the shareholders.

Tang Shuangning
Chairman

Hong Kong, 10 March 2010
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S REPORT

TTHRERE

OPERATING RESULTS

In 2009, the Group has grasped the opportunities of the Central
Government’s favorable policies on renewable energy and endeavored
its effort on energy conservation and emission reduction, providing green
energy, and building better environment. The Group is now developing
green environment and alternative energy businesses with high level of
social responsibilities and spirit. During the year under review, the Group
has further restructured its resources and established environmental
protection and alternative energy businesses as its future investment
direction and development focus. The Group’s environmental protection
business is now classified into three sectors, namely Environmental
Energy, Environmental Water and Alternative Energy. Hong Kong
head office is the investment and management center of the Group.
Subsidiaries in Shenzhen and Beijing are its project construction and
technology development management centers. With the existing project
bases located in Jiangsu and Shandong Provinces, the Group has also
extended its foothold into markets nearby such as the Guangdong and
Anhui Provinces. The Group aims at developing into an environmental
protection conglomerate specializing in technology development,
construction, operation and management.

In 2009, the Group took advantage of the reviving financial market
to place shares and raised approximately HK$1,433,035,000. This
coupled with the US$200,000,000 10-year loan facility provided by
Asian Development Bank (“ADB”) have greatly strengthened the Group’s
financial position. As at 31 December 2009, the Group had cash and
bank balances of approximately HK$2,024,272,000 (excluding the ADB
loan facility). With abundant financial resources, the Group has a solid
foundation for its environmental protection business to march into the
next round of robust growth.
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During the year under review, a number of environmental protection
projects of the Group commenced commercial operation, which
has expanded the base of its operation service revenue. As for
the construction service revenue, it was reduced as most of the
construction projects completed in the first half year. With the signing
of new projects of total worth approximately RMB2.8 billion during
the year, the Group sees its construction activity entering a two-
year peak period during which strong growth in construction service
revenue will be achieved. In 2009, the consolidated turnover of the
Group amounted to HK$1,765,996,000, representing a decrease of
5% from HK$1,862,509,000 in 2008. EBITDA on recurring basis was
HK$711,609,000, representing a growth of 20% from HK$592,727,000
in 2008. The Group recorded valuation gains on investment properties
of HK$4,888,000 in 2009. In 2008, the Group recorded a non-recurring
profit of HK$51,778,000 from the disposal of interests in two subsidiaries
engaged in non-core property business. The income tax expense for
2009 was HK$99,060,000, representing an increase of HK$3,899,000
as compared to HK$95,161,000 of 2008. Profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company for the year was HK$371,898,000, an
increase of 10% when compared to HK$339,018,000 of 2008. Basic
earnings per share were HK11.39 cents, HK0.59 cent more than
HK10.80 cents of last year.
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To reward shareholders for their support and taking into consideration
the long-term continual development of the Group, the board of directors
(“the Board”) has proposed to pay a final dividend of HK1.2 cents
per share to shareholders of the Company. Together with the interim
dividend of HK1.0 cent per share already paid, the total dividends for the
year will be HK2.2 cents per share (2008: HK1.6 cents per share).

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION BUSINESS

During the year under review, the Group stepped up its effort in exploring
new projects and secured 10 new projects that carried a total investment
of approximately RMB2,766,531,000. As at 31 December 2009, the
Group had 32 environmental protection and alternative energy projects
commanding a total investment of approximately RMB7,816,640,000, of
which the projects with construction completed had a total investment
amounting to approximately RMB5,122,789,000 whereas those
currently in construction worth a total of about RMB1,635,078,000. As
for projects still in preparatory stage, their estimated total investment
cost was approximately RMB1,058,773,000. Subsequent to 31
December 2009, the Group further secured three new projects including
Dangshan Biomass Power Generation Project, Huaining Photovoltaic
Energy Project and Zibo Reusable Water Project with total investment of
approximately RMB436,470,000.

The increasing number of projects and rising processing volume and
standard have boosted the Group’s revenue base on operation service.
During the year under review, turnover from environmental protection
business amounted to HK$1,650,971,000 (construction service revenue:
48%, operation service revenue: 32%, and finance income: 20%), a
decrease of 5% when compared with 2008 and accounting for 93% of
the Group’s total turnover, similar to that in 2008. EBITDA amounted to
HK$634,434,000, an increase of 24% when compared with 2008 and
accounting for 85% of total profit on recurring basis.

A EIRBIR A S B B AR B R B A
BER %%@(F%%AJ)L**ﬁﬁiiﬁﬁé
R EERI2EN - ER-_ZTNFEH
HIR B EB.08 - 2FREEM2.281l
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2,766,531,0007C * HE_ZTENF+ A
E+—E’$%@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ £RIEE
H32fd - I E LK ARET7,816,640,0007T °
Eﬂham%t STIRAIRRIBE RERELHA
R#5,122,789,0007T ; B AIERPHIEE &%
BEMH AREA,635,078,0007T : EHETHIE
BREREAHARKE1,058773,0007C ° i
—EEAFE+-_RA=+—RH%" miﬁ%&f
*HN—%:{I%&IEE BIEGILEYE et
IEE BWIRBEEIEER )Si/“ﬁ%k@ﬁﬁlﬁ
w&é%AE%%aMQmwco
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Major operating and financial data of the environmental protection
business in 2009:

“TENFRAEB 2 TR ELEBYBEE

(I

Environmental Environmental
Energy and Energy and
Alternative  Environmental Alternative  Environmental
Energy Water Energy Water
projects projects projects projects
IRRAERR RFKH Total BREER RRKHE Total
HeERER BB &i GIE L (] ai
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR TR ETR MNTR B%TR TR
Tumover 2%
- construction service —RiER% 268,078 530,516 798,594 595,006 505,460 1,100,466
- operation senvice ~EE R 206,501 325,890 532,391 138,362 241,642 380,004
~finance income —BBRA 140,675 179,311 319,986 111,248 142,958 254,206
615,254 1,035,717 1,650,971 844,616 890,060 1,734,676
EBITDA' BRHS TR HER
BRI R 295,581 338,853 634,434 286,239 225,000 511,239

* After elimination of inter-segment profits

During the year under review, the Group has processed household and
industrial waste of 1,724,000 tonnes and generated green electricity
of 481,000,000 kilowatt-hour, which can fuffill the annual electricity
consumption of 400,000 households and is equivalent to coal saving
of 192,700 tonnes and reduction of carbon dioxide (CO,) emission of
564,100 tonnes. Meanwhile, the Group has processed waste water
(including leachate from waste-to-energy projects) of 400,000,000 m3
and reduced COD emission of 143,700 tonnes. Since the operation
of the first environmental protection project in 2005, the Group has
processed accumulated household and industrial waste of 2,780,000
tonnes and generated green electricity of 957,000,000 kilowatt-
hour, which can fulfill the annual electricity consumption of 800,000
households and is equivalent to coal saving of 380,000 tonnes and
reduction of carbon dioxide emission of 1,200,000 tonnes. Meanwhile,
the Group has processed accumulated waste water (including leachate
from waste-to-energy projects) of 1,200,000,000 m? and reduced COD
emission of 490,000 tonnes.
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Environmental Energy sector currently comprises 10 waste-to-energy projects,
3 environmental protection industrial parks and 1 industrial solid waste landfill
project. The designed total annual household waste processing capacity is
approximately 3,200,000 tonnes which is capable of producing an average
annual on-grid electricity of approximately 900,000,000 kilowatt-hour. The
industrial waste storage capacity is approximately 200,000 m?.

RIRGERRMIRA HENFREREEE - —EARREEREE N (AT EEREE
YIEIRIAE o FAEN NIRRT IRE493,200,000MF : 4 498 = 49900,000,000
TR TEEYRHFE4200,00037 75K o
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The environmental energy sector encompasses waste-to-energy
projects, an industrial solid waste landfill project (“Solid Waste Project”)
and environmental protection industrial parks being developed. The
Group currently has 11 projects. The designed total annual processing
capacity is approximately 3,200,000 tonnes of household waste
generating an average annual on-grid electricity of approximately
900,000,000 kilowatt-hour, and also approximately 200,000 m? storage
capacity of industrial waste.

The Group secured the Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project in 2004 and
five waste-to-energy projects commenced operation and processed
up to 4,150 tonnes of wastes a day in the six years’ time. In 2009, the
Group secured five waste-to-energy projects including Jinan Waste-to-
energy Project, Jiangyin Waste-to-energy Project Phase Il, Zhenjiang
Waste-to-energy Project, Sugian Waste-to-energy Project and Huidong
Waste-to-energy Project. These projects have a total daily waste
processing capacity of 4,600 tonnes which exceeds the total of projects
secured in the prior six years. Construction of these environmental
protection projects will gradually begin in 2010 and when all works are
completed, it will notably raise the leading position of the Group in the
environmental protection industry.

During the year under review, the environmental energy projects
of the Group together processed 1,724,000 tonnes of household
waste, 22,000 m3 of solid waste and generated on-grid electricity of
365,120,000 kilowatt-hour, representing an increase of 84%, 57% and
96% as compared with last year. The environmental energy projects
brought an EBITDA of HK$284,826,000, representing an increase of
3% against last year. The increase in profit was mainly attributable to
the increased contribution from the operating projects in Yixing, Jiangyin
and Changzhou, which offset the decline in construction service revenue
during the year.

In addition, the Group expanded the geographical footprint of its
environmental energy projects in 2009: 1) it secured the Sugian Waste-
to-energy Project which allowed it to extend business reach from the
southern part to the northern part of Jiangsu Province; 2) landing the
Huidong Waste-to-energy Project in Guangdong Province marked the
Group’s entry into the Pearl River Delta region. The expanded footprint
bears testament to the Group’s leadership in the environmental energy
sector.

Environmental energy business delivered outstanding performance
during the year. The commencement of commercial operation of Suzhou
Waste-to-energy Project Phase Il together with the operation of the
Phase | project has a designed total daily processing capacity of 2,050
tonnes. The Project is the largest waste-to-energy facility in the PRC and
was dubbed the “Garden-like Waste-to-energy Plant” by CCTV recently.
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Major operating and financial data of the environmental energy sector in
2009:

- Suzhou Waste-to-energy ~ —BRMIIRCIEREIER
Project (“Suzhou Project’) ([&MEE )-8k

—TENFRAERRA 2 TRE L EYB
BB

Phase | and Phase Il —HA 775,000 489,000 171,969,000 110,800,000 147,599 147,745
- Yixing Waste-to-energy ~EENREETER
Project (*Yixing Project’)? ((E8ER )0 228,000 200,000 47,020,000 34,514,000 22,864 15,089
- Jiangyin Wasteto-energy ~ — TS iR E AR
Project Phase | (“Jiangyin —H([TREE—H])e
Project Phase '@ 347,000 248,000 70,140,000 41,370,000 52,955 34,902
- Jiangyin Waste-to-energy ~~ — TReSRMERTER
Project Phase Il (“Jiangyin ZH(IRIER 8 )
Project Phase I’} - - - - (122) -
- Changzhou Waste-to-energy — &M ERTER
Project (“Changzhou ([%EE e
Project’)s 374,000 - 75%991,000 - 54,175 72,832
- Jinan Waste-to-energy — BRI RELEER0
Project® - - - - (3.222) -
- Zhenjiang Waste-to-energy ~ — BT IMERE AR
Project (‘Zhenjiang (M&TEE )0
Project’) - - - - 871) -
1,724,000 937,000 365,120,000 186,684,000 273,378 270,568
- Solid Waste Project® (m9) ~ —EEIBERE (SIHK) 22,000 14,000 - - 11,448 7,142
284,826 277,710
) With the commencement of commercial operation of Suzhou Project Phase Il (1) BERMNIBER R ST AFNAMBEE

in June 2009, the Suzhou Project became the largest waste-to-energy project
in the PRC. It is expected that the operational efficiency will increase.

2] The increase in profit of Yixing Project was mainly attributable to the growth
of waste processing volume and on-grid electricity which increased the
operation service revenue.

3 The increase in profit of Jiangyin Project Phase | was mainly attributable to the
growth of waste processing volume and on-grid electricity which increased
the operation service revenue.

4) Construction work of Jiangyin Project Phase Il is expected to commence in
the first half of 2010.

B BMNEBRRT PESAMARREE
BEIRA - WKL WEEGE LRI -

HEIEENAMN T - TEHRERERE
R EEEE ET - 1B INEE IR -

TRRIEE —HWAEM L7 - T EHREERE
BERk FEEE I RITELRBUE

TRBEE —HBEAR T —ZTF ¥ FRA
TEE% -
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) The decrease in profit of Changzhou Project was mainly attributable to the
recognition of construction service revenue in 2008. The project started
commercial operation in November 2008 and only recognised operation
service revenue in 2009. The operational efficiency of the project is expected
to increase.

©6) Construction work of Jinan Waste-to-energy Project commenced in February
2010.

(7) Construction work of Zhenjiang Project is expected to begin in the first half of
2010.

8) The increase in profit of Solid Waste Project was mainly attributable to the
increase in solid waste treatment volume which increased the revenue of the
Project.

Environmental protection industrial park

Environmental protection industrial park is another environmental
energy business which the Group has strived to expand. On the
footing of waste-to-energy projects secured in different regions, the
Group has moved on to forging stronger ties with local governments
on environmental protection projects in terms of centralized planning
of those projects in the mode of the environmental protection industrial
park. With centralized management, the projects will enjoy greater
economies of scale and synergies. Currently, the Group has agreements
with the governments in Suzhou, Zhenjiang and Sugian to develop
industrial parks.

In the Suzhou Veinous Industrial Park in Jiangsu Province, the completed
projects included Phase | and Il of the waste-to-energy project, Phase
| and Il of the methane-to-energy project and Phase | of Solid Waste
Project. Projects in construction and preparatory stage include leachate
treatment and leachate methane-to-energy projects. In 2010, the
Group will discuss with the Suzhou Municipal Government about
implementation of the environmental protection projects being planned
including Phase Il of the waste-to-energy project, a sludge treatment
center, a solid waste technology development and research center,
kitchen waste treatment and equipment manufacturing centre, etc.

In 2009, the Group signed an agreement with the Zhenjiang Municipal
Government and the Sugian Municipal Government respectively to
build in each locality an environmental protection industrial park in two
to five years. The Group will invest and operate the industrial parks in
phases. The industrial parks will have various projects such as integrated
treatment of kitchen waste, collection and recycling of used plastics,
facilities for dismantling and recycling electronic wastes and used cars,
recycling of residue food resources and sludge treatment, hazardous
waste landfill, integrated use of incineration residues and construction
wastes and methane-to-energy projects, etc.
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Environmental Water sector currently comprises 17 waste water treatment
projects with annual waste water treatment capacity of approximately
550,000,000 m3.

RIFRKBIRBIEE T LES/KERIERE - F)57KEIEE#550,000,0003Z 77K e
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ENVIRONMENTAL WATER

This sector is made up of waste water treatment projects in Shandong
and Jiangsu provinces. As at 31 December 2009, a total of 17
investment projects were secured and the total designed annual waste
water treatment capacity is approximately 550,000,000 m3. In 2009,
the Group secured new projects including the Jinan Xike Waste Water
Treatment Project, the Ling County Waste Water Treatment Project and
Xinyi BT (Build-Transfer) Waste Water Treatment Project, which is the
Group’s first BT waste water treatment project.

Taking a total investment of approximately RMB62,150,000 to build,
Phase | of the Xinyi BT Waste Water Treatment Project is the Group’s
first project operating in BT mode. It has a designed daily waste water
treatment capacity of 10,000 m?3 (the entire project has a daily waste
water treatment capacity of 30,000 m3). The Group will be responsible
for construction and, when construction is completed as scheduled
for the fourth quarter of 2010, the project will be transferred to the Xinyi
Municipal People’s Government in return for payment by installments
spread over four years (construction period inclusive).

During the year, the Group accomplished the targets set for the
environmental water sector. They included acquisition of piping network
for the Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment Project, adjustment of water
charges in Qingdao Project, overall upgrading work of Jinan Project and
construction and operation of Jinan Licheng Project, assuring the urban
areas of Jinan city meet Grade 1A waste water treatment standard.
Currently, the Group accounts for 85% of COD emission reduction on
waste water treatment in Jinan and Zibo urban areas.

During the year under review, the Group’s environmental water projects
treated 388,012,000 m? of waste water, representing an increase
of 7% as compared with the previous year. The projects brought an
EBITDA of HK$338,853,000, representing an increase of 51% against
the previous year. The increase in profit was mainly attributable to the
growth in operation service revenue by 35% as a result of the increase
in waste water treatment fees of Jinan Project and Qingdao Project. The
construction service revenue was also increased by 5% as a result of the
upgrade works done for Jinan Project and construction of Jinan Licheng
Project and Jinan Xike Project during the year.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZTNFFHK

BRIRKIE
RIFKBIRRBIEAEER LRSS RTEHE
FSKEEIBE - HE_TTNF+= H
=+—H  XEERBEI7TEER - LFHR
E%Eﬁﬁﬁmm%mmmmzﬁ\o_g
TNFE - AEEFEEEARS/KERIE
B - BRESKEIEEE MFTBT(RE—iE
%)5/KEBIER - ER ¥ 5/KEEBTIER
BAAREEEEUBTRAERAS/KEIEER -

FTBT5/KEIEHE —HBKRENARK
62,150,0007t  JHE ¥ AAEE & EUBTE
NIEEREZMNIER - ERREEBARESK
10,0003 5 oK (Fr5 /KR IBTE B AR E A
30,0003 2 5 K) - AEE B B EHE)S/KEIEIR
BEBRGEITTARBAT - 5H2010F F
WEETT  WAHITTHARBISUS 8
NAREEB #EITEAE - 188 O R A
F(E5ERE) -

FA - BRRKBENZHBE - 81FIRB)5
KRB EMEE  S5RBEKERAER -
EFIIH B 2 E T ARSGENE RS IR B 2
%&@'ﬁ%@ﬁﬁ@%@fﬁu—%Mﬁ
RERRIR)TIK o B AR ADE B IR )5 KR I
CODJRHFEHI85% AN E BT °

CIEEFEN  RRKBSEEB A LEE5K
388,012,000 5K * BEFIEIMN7% ° IRIR
KIEIEE BRI FIE « Bi18 - & B AT
B A4 75 #338,853,0007T © B EFH# N
51% o ZF| b FEHRRBEFEAARE
B EREE KRS SHEE AAISKERE
B BH)ELRIFKE EFA35% o thoh - F
NEEER A RAMGETR  BEEWER &
EEAREBETRETR  NSEERE
W EF EF5% ©

25



Chief Executive Officer’s Report 1T 42, e

“TENFROKGRE 2 TR E L EBYB
BET

Major operating and financial data of the environmental water sector in
2009:

EBITDA (HK$°000)
BRFIR - BIE - TER
BRI (ERTT)

Waste water treatment
volume (m3)

BIKEIEE (I HK)

—5BKERIEIER
([E8™HEE Do

— Qingdao Waste Water
Treatment Project

2009

2008

2009

2008

(“Qingdao Project”)® 67,252,000 ©69,172,000 31,634 20,430
— Zibo Waste Water Treatment — 1855 /K R I8 IE B

Project (including Southern (B Em XD ERAN

and Northern Plants) e (1S BRIk

(“Zibo Southern and IEH e

Northern Plants Project”)® 81,559,000 83,659,000 28,832 17,019
- Zibo High-tech Zone Waste ~ — 3§18 = ¥7& 57K BRIE

Water Treatment Project HE (DSEsHE

(“Zibo High-tech Zone HE )

Project”) 34,124,000 34,607,000 13,719 13,682
— Jinan Waste Water Treatment — 2z 57K BRIEIE B

Project (“Jinan Project”)® (NEmIEA D 143,095,000 146,517,000 123,857 72,883
- Jinan Licheng Waste Water — — & Il /57K R 3R

Treatment Project (“Jinan HA ([EmEN

Licheng Project”) IHE )@ 11,694,000 - 23,939 15,419
— Jinan Xike Waste Water — BRI 5KERE

Treatment Project (“Jinan HE ([EEAR

Xike Project”)® R e = - 11,139 -
- Binzhou Boxing Waste Water — &N 8857k RIE

Treatment Project (“Boxing IHA ([1EHEHIFE |)e

Project’)o 8,216,000 3,309,000 6,168 6,506
— Zhoucun Waste Water — B EKEEIEE

Treatment Project (TAFEE 1o

(“Zhoucun Project”)® 9,557,000 - 1,766 7,978
— Jiangyin Waste Water —IkKERIEIER

Treatment Project ([Ikei5/KIER J)e

(“Jiangyin Waste Water

Project”)® 32,515,000 26,648,000 97,799 70,993

388,012,000 363,912,000 338,853 225,000
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The increase in profit of the Qingdao Project was mainly attributable to the
receipt of waste water treatment adjustment fee of RMB7,040,000 in respect
of the previous year. Furthermore, approval was given during the year under
review for waste water treatment fee to be increased from RMB1.06/m3 to
RMB1.11/m3.

The increase in profit of the Zibo Southern and Northern Plants Project
was mainly attributable to the revision of waste water treatment fee from
RMBO0.75/m? to RMB0.98/m3 after Grade 1A upgrading work was completed
in May 2008.

The increase in profit of the Jinan Project was mainly attributable to the
recognition of construction service revenue of overall upgrading works in the
first half of 2009. The upgrade resulted in the treated water meeting Grade
1A standard and in turn an increase in waste water treatment fee from
RMBO0.75/m8 to RMB1.012/m3.

Jinan Licheng Project commenced commercial operation in October 2009.

Jinan Xike Project commenced construction in July 2009.

Upgrade of Boxing Project Phase | and construction of Phase Il were
completed during the year under review. Trial run is underway and the project is
expected to commence commercial operation after receipt of the government
approval.

The decrease in profit of the Zhoucun Project was mainly attributable to the
recognition of construction service revenue in 2008. The project commenced
commercial operation in November 2009.

Operational efficiency of the Jiangyin Waste Water Project is expected to
increase steadlily following the completion of the sewage piping network and as
waste water treatment volume gradually increases.
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Alternative Energy sector comprises methane-to-energy projects, photovoltaic

energy project, biomass energy projects and waste water source heat pump
project.
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ALTERNATIVE ENERGY

The PRC has been relentless in pursuing and investing in environmental
protection while pushing for economic development. Developing
alternative energy coincides with the global trend and also the
fundamental national policy for sustainable development of the
country. In 2009, the Group also identified alternative energy as a key
development area for future investment. As at 31 December 2009,
the major alternative energy projects secured by the Group included
Suzhou Methane-to-energy Project Phase | and Phase Il (“Suzhou
Methane Project”), the Zibo Waste Water Source Heat Pump Project
and Xinyi Straw Cogeneration Project, commanding a total investment of
approximately RMB436,800,000.

Suzhou Methane Project, the Group’s first alternative energy project in
operation, has achieved Gold Standard Voluntary Emission Reduction
(“VER?”) Project registration from Switzerland’s Gold Standard
Foundation, the first VER project in the PRC. During the year under
review, the Suzhou Methane Project supplied 19,830,000 kilowatt-
hour of electricity to the power grid and brought an EBITDA of
HK$10,990,000, representing an increase of 29% as compared with
2008. The Group is currently developing the leachate methane-to-energy
projects in Suzhou, Yixing, Changzhou and Jiangyin and the Qingdao
Sludge Methane-to-energy Project.
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During the year, the Group also embarked on waste water source heat
pump project, biomass cogeneration project. In November 2009, it
signed an agreement with the Zibo Municipal People’s Government in
Shandong Province to provide heating and cooling services to the Zibo
Science Park. The Group intends to implement the heat pump project
in two phases. Phase |, which will span 125,000 m2, commands a total
investment of approximately RMB57,887,000 of which RMB24,800,000
will be invested in internal air-conditioning of the building. The investment
and work schedule of the Phase Il will depend on the subsequent
operation status of Phase | and market conditions. The initial estimated
service area of Phase |l when fully operational is approximately
1,500,000 m2.

In December 2009, the Group had successfully obtained the first
biomass energy project, Xinyi Straw Cogeneration Project. The total
investment of the project is approximately RMB338,000,000. The
designed daily processing capacity of the project is 800 tonnes and
the annual processing capacity is 260,000 tonnes. It will be equipped
with two 15MW electricity generators and is expected to commence
commercial operation in 2012. Securing this project has significant
meaning in the development of the alternative energy sector of the
Group.

In 2009, the Group has entered into Framework Agreements with
Dupont and the Huaining County People’s Government with respect to
Shenzhen photovoltaic energy project and Huaining photovoltaic energy
on-grid project (both projects have obtained approval from the National
Development and Reform Commission) respectively. The Group has
also reached preliminary consent with the Dangshan County People’s
Government with respect to biomass energy project. All these projects
are now proceeding as planned.
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The Group also signed cooperative framework agreements with the
Jiangyin Municipal People’s Government in Jiangsu Province, the Zibo
High-tech Zone Management Committee in Shandong Province and
the Dezhou Municipal People’s Government in Shandong Province
regarding development of alternative energy in the two provinces.

Furthermore, the Group signed a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”)
with Belgium-based 3E S.A. (“S8E Company”) on alternative energy
technology development. 3E Company is an international renewable
energy and energy conservation technology company. The objective
of the MOU is for the two parties to establish long-term strategic
relationship and combine strengths in exploring different energy-related
initiatives.
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Everbright Environmental Protection Engineering (Shenzhen) Limited is the
engineering technology management platform for environmental protection
construction business development of the Group. Its mission is to “Produce
quality projects and build a quality brand”. At present, there are 18 environmental
protection projects completed construction and commenced commercial
operation.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ENGINEERING
Everbright Environmental Protection Engineering (Shenzhen) Limited
(“Everbright Environmental Engineering”) is the Group’s engineering
technology platform for environmental protection construction business
development in the PRC. Everbright Environmental Engineering
holds a licence of “Main Contractor for Municipal Public Works” and
ISO9001:2000 (Quality), ISO-14001 (Environment) and OHSMS28001
(Occupational Health and Safety) Management System accreditations. It is
a “High-tech Enterprise”.

Regardless of the scale of and size of investment in a project, Everbright
Environmental Engineering has insisted on “Producing quality projects
and building a quality brand” in carrying out its work. It upholds
the operating philosophies of “Integrity, pragmatism, efficiency and
innovation” and delivering work of “First-class design, technology,
equipment, construction and management”. Applying its strengths in
technology, management and human resources, it boasts effective
control on the quality, standard, technology and efficiency of its projects,
developing a number of excellent projects for the community, which
are recoghized by governments at different level, and establishing a
good image in the industry. Completed projects included construction
of household waste-to-energy plants, industrial solid waste landfills and
methane-to-energy plants in Suzhou City, Changzhou City, Yixing City
and Jiangyin City in Jiangsu Province, and construction and upgrading
of waste water treatment plants in Jinan City and Zibo City in Shandong
Province. Projects in progress included household waste-to-energy
projects and waste water treatment projects in Jiangyin City of Jiangsu
Province, Jinan City and Zibo City in Shandong Province.

In 2009, Everbright Environmental Engineering had six projects
completed and commenced operation. For instance, Changzhou Project
underwent an assessment of commercial operation by an expert team
of the Construction Bureau of Jiangsu Province. It scored 98 points in
overall grade and made Grade A rating. Construction of Suzhou Project
Phase Il took only 15 months to complete, attributable to the efficient
management of construction works for the project by the Group. During
the year, the Group completed upgrading work of Jinan Project and
construction of Jinan Licheng Project. These plants have reached Grade
1A national waste water discharge standard. In addition, civil engineering
construction of Jinan Xike Project was completed, and construction of
the Ling County Waste Water Treatment Project has been started and
the project is expected to commence commercial operation in mid-
2010.

2010 will be a year in which the Group has the most projects in
construction in the environmental protection business. Everbright
Environmental Engineering will push forward at full strength the
construction of different projects and ensure works progress smoothly
and are carried out with effective safety, quality and cost control. In
2010, the Group will focus on the construction of ten major projects
including five environmental energy projects in Jinan, Jiangyin (Phase ll),
Zhenijiang, Huidong and Sugian, two alternative energy projects in Xinyi
and Dangshan and three waste water treatment projects in Jinan Xike,
Xinyi and Ling County.

Guided by its emphasis on scientific development and business
development strategies, Everbright Environmental Engineering will
continue to learn from its experience, consolidate and enhance its
capability in engineering technology, optimize management flow and
develop human resources, with the aim of making critical contribution to
build a resource efficient and environmentally-friendly society.
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Everbright Environmental Protection Technology Development (Beijing) Limited
is the platform of technology transformation and technological research and
development of the Group for its development into a new environmental
protection enterprise.
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Everbright Environmental Protection Technology Development (Beijing)
Limited (“Everbright Technology Development”) is the platform of
cooperation with technology research institutions, international advance
technology transfer and technological research and development of the
Group.

During the year under review, the Group focused on the research and
development of proprietary furnace bed of incinerators, furnace control
system, biomass energy, sludge dehydration, waste water source heat
pump technology for heating and cooling services, high-grade reusable
water, improvement of leachate treatment, photovoltaic energy and wind
power generation. In addition, to facilitate development of alternative
energy business, the Group conducted on-site market research on
wind power, solar energy, biomass energy, geothermal energy, tidal
power, waste water treatment and waste-to-energy in Jinan, Qingdao,
Zibo, Binzhou, Weifang, Dongying and Rizhao, etc. In 2010, the
Group identified ten major research and development topics including
domestically developed grate furnaces and automatic control system,
standardization of design of waste-to-energy and waste water treatment
projects, technologies on waste-to-energy and waste water treatment in
small to medium cities, technologies application on reusable water, solar
energy, wind power, biomass power generation, establishment of sludge
treatment and waste leachate treatment center.

During the year under review, the Group has submitted applications
for 12 research projects and obtained government research and
development funding in the total amount of RMB4,720,000. It also
obtained 3 invention patents and 3 utility patents. Assessment of 9 other
patent applications has entered public inspection stage.

The Group will continue to invest in technological innovations and
enhance research and development capabilities, with the aim of
lowering construction and operating costs and boosting the cost
effectiveness and competitiveness of its projects. The Group will seek to
commercialize patented technologies and strive to develop into a new
environmental protection enterprise that employs “Top-notch techniques
and high-end technologies”.

During the year under review, the Group worked with academic
institutions including Tsinghua University, Tongji University and the
Shandong Academy of Sciences on various initiatives including research
and development projects, sourcing of government funding for research
and organizing seminars on technological applications, etc. Furthermore,
it continued to work with other strategic partners in the industry such
as China Light Industry Guangzhou Design & Engineering Co., Ltd,
China Northeast Municipal Engineering Design and Research Institute,
An Hui No. 2 Electric Power Engineering & Construction Co. to share
knowledge and information including new relevant government policies
and new technologies etc. In May 2009, the Group and the Shandong
Academy of Sciences set up the “Everbright International-Shandong
Academy of Sciences Environmental Protection and Energy Saving
Engineering Technology Research Institute” in Beijing. The move marked
the beginning of cooperation between the environmental protection
industry and research institutes in the PRC to equip the industry with
locally-made equipment and develop proprietary core technologies.
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The Qingzhou Bridge is at the center of the major transportation hub of Fuzhou
City. The traffic flow of the Qingzhou Bridge continued to grow, providing steady
cashflow to the Group.
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INFRASTRUCTURE

The Qingzhou Bridge is at the center of the major transportation hub of
Fuzhou City. Traffic flow on the bridge has been increasing steadily since
traffic commenced in 2003, thus has been a stable source of cash flow
for the Group. In 2009, the average daily number of standard vehicles
crossing the bridge increased to 35,408 or by 5% when compared with
2008. During the year under review, the project generated an EBITDA of

HK$107,427,000 to the Group, a 9% increase against 2008.

Looking forward, with the gradually recovering global economy bringing
increasing truck traffic and the completion of Phase Il of the North Airport
Highway in Fuzhou, the traffic on Qingzhou Bridge is expected to keep

rising.
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HONORS AND RECOGNITIONS
Awards won by the Group during the year under review are listed as
follows:

Date Organizer

e EdgpEE (i

29 April 2009 Hong Kong Environmental Protection

—EENFIOA=+TIA Association

ERRBREHS

21 June 2009
—EENFANAZ+—H

China Association for Promoting
International Economic & Technical
Cooperation

FEBEREERM A EES

21 June 2009
—EFENFARAZ+—H

China Association for Promoting
International Economic & Technical
Cooperation

PR EER A EES

September 2009 Mercomm Inc.
—ZZNERA
8 December 2009 Economic Digest

—TTNF+T-ANR BB

National Enterprise Environmental

Achievement Award 2008-2009

2B (P EIRIRAK B £22008-2009
IKEEIEAR R

23rd International ARC Awards 2009 —
Silver award (Water Treatment Group) 2009
%=+ =2 BIBARCLL £ (2009)8R 58 —

o 37T
REREFEN - AEELESERE - 55
o

Awards

®’IA

National Enterprise Environmental Achieverment
Award 2008-2009
2 BIPFIRIRAH 222008-2009

Top 10 Most Social Responsible Brand Enterprise
in the PRC
PR+ AFEM R ERmERE

2009 Top 100 Innovation Enterprise in the PRC
20095 1 BBl EL (R 510058

23rd International ARC Awards 2009 —
Silver award (Water Treatment Group)

2~ 1 = R BB ARCLL B(2009) R 42 —
IKERIEER

Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprises 2009
BB BEE2009

Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprises

HAGHE2009
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS

Putting scientific development into action, and with the PRC government
hastening optimization of industries, environmental protection and green
GDP have become guiding principles of the era. And development of
power technology and low carbon economy, the promotion of wind
power, solar energy and biomass energy, waste-to-energy, waste water
treatment, reuse and reproduction of waste, energy conservation and
emissions reduction is set to become an integral part of people’s life and
at the same time will present enormous room for growth of the green
industry.

The huge development potential of the green market in the PRC wiill
continue to give strong impetus to the Group to develop its businesses.
In the future, the Group will adhere to the operational philosophy of
“Producing quality projects and building a quality brand” and draw on
past experience in tackling new projects, with the aim of expanding
and strengthening its core businesses and enhancing the influence and
presence of the “Everbright Environment” brand across the country.

In 2009, the Group shifted focus from developing individual projects to
building environmental industrial chains and endeavored to “transform
from a traditional environmental company into a new environmental
protection enterprise that employs top-notch techniques and high-
end technologies”. And, developing alternative energy business is a
realization of these strategies. In the coming years, development of new
technologies, new materials and renewable energy business will be our
focuses in striving for sustainable development.

The existing business structure of the Group is conducive to its foray
into the alternative energy industry. The current environmental protection
projects of the Group are located mainly in Jiangsu and Shandong
Provinces, both of which have rich alternative energy resources as well as
strong demand for alternative energy. Their alternative energy sectors are
also developing the fastest in the country and have announced concrete
development plans. Armed with the prominent “Everbright Environment”
brand, the Group stands well in gaining government support in the two
provinces in tapping the alternative energy field.
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Furthermore, the Group has years of experience in project construction
to serve as a fundamental capacity in developing alternative energy
projects. The Group also has partners in specialized academic
institutions who can provide it with research and development backup
for entering the alternative energy industry.

The Group will apply its leadership advantages and follow the principle
of “Implementing projects with one success followed by another”,
step up investment in and speed up pursuit of projects in the Yangtze
River Delta, Pearl River Delta and Bohai Coastal regions, so as to
seize strategic high ground that can allow it to win in the next round of
international competition.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Position

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had total assets amounting to
approximately HK$8,667,268,000, with HK$4,572,832,000 worth of
net assets attributable to equity shareholders of the Company, which
amounted to HK$1.257 per ordinary share, representing an increase of
40% as compared to HK$0.897 per ordinary share for the year of 2008.
As at 31 December 2009, gearing ratio (total liabilities over total assets)
of the Group was 43%, 7 percentage points less than the 50% as at end
of 2008.

Financial Resources

The Group adopts a prudent approach in cash and financial
management to ensure proper risk control and low costs of funds.
It primarily finances its operations with internally generated cash flow
and loan facilities from banks and funds from its ultimate holding
company. As at 31 December 2009, the Group had cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$2,024,272,000, representing an
increase of HK$1,325,217,000 as compared to HK$699,055,000 at
the end of 2008. The increase mainly came from the net proceeds of
HK$1,433,035,000 from placing of shares during the year. Currently,
most of its cash, about 96%, are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi.
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Borrowings

In 2009, the Group strived to increase its banking facilities to reserve
sufficient funds for the development of its environmental protection
business. During the year, the Group was granted a 10-year
US$200,000,000 loan facility from the ADB, US$100,000,000 of which
is a direct loan from ADB and the remaining US$100,000,000 will
come from commercial banks led by ADB. This is the first long-term
loan provided by ADB to a Chinese enterprise engaging in municipal
solid waste management projects, indicative ADB’s support in our
development of waste-to-energy business.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had outstanding borrowings
of approximately HK$3,101,306,000, representing an increase
of HK$490,691,000 as compared to HK$2,610,615,000 at the
end of 2008. The borrowings comprised secured bank loans of
HK$1,706,778,000, unsecured bank loans of HK$1,242,106,000,
other loans of HK$39,715,000 and loans of HK$112,707,000 owed
to the ultimate holding company. The borrowings are mainly, about
90%, denominated in Renminbi and the remaining are denominated in
US dollars and Hong Kong dollars. Most borrowings have variable rates.
In 2009, the average interest rate of the Group’s borrowings dropped
from 7% to 6%, which was mainly attributable to interest rate cut.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s assets, borrowings and major transactions are mainly
denominated in Renminbi. It mainly settles business expenses in the
PRC with Hong Kong dollar remittance and income in Renminbi. It has
not used any financial instruments to hedge against bank borrowings
in Renminbi, which are used mainly to meet capital requirements of its
business in the PRC. The Group will closely manage and monitor foreign
currency risks given the increased loan balances in Hong Kong dollars
and US dollars.
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2009, certain banking facilities of the Group were
secured by certain revenue and receivables in connection with the
Group’s service concession arrangement, bank deposits, mortgages
on fixed assets and shares of a subsidiary of the Company. Such
banking facilities, amounting to HK$2,885,595,000, were utilised to
the extent of HK$1,706,778,000 of the facilities as at 31 December
2009. The aggregate net book value of assets pledged amounted to
HK$4,055,137,000 as at 31 December 2009.

Commitments

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had outstanding commitments in
connection with TOT arrangements in the amount of HK$303,135,000
and HK$248,097,000 of purchase commitments outstanding in
connection with construction contracts.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2009, the Company had issued financial guarantees
to five wholly-owned subsidiaries and a non-wholly owned subsidiary.
The directors do not consider it probable that a claim will be made
against the Company under the guarantees. The maximum liability of
the Company as at year end under the guarantees issued is the facility
drawn down by the subsidiaries of HK$956,044,000.

Placing of Shares

On 23 September 2009, the Company, its substantial shareholder
Guildford Limited (“Guildford”), and the placing agent Nomura
International (Hong Kong) Limited signed a placing and subscription
agreement. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company placed
480,000,000 shares to independent investors at HK$3.03 per share and
Guildford subscribed for 480,000,000 new shares of the Company at
$3.03 per share. As at the date of the agreement, the market price per
share of the Company was HK$3.20. The net proceeds of the share
placement amounted to approximately HK$1,433,035,000, which will be
used for the development of the environmental protection business and as
general working capital.
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The share placement significantly enhanced the capital position, liquidity
of the Group, thus consolidated its financial condition. In addition, it also
boosted funds of the Group for supporting future development of its
environmental protection business and laid a solid foundation for growth
of the business.

Internal Management

The Group adheres diligently to the management principle of focusing on
“People-oriented, pragmatism, creativity and systematic management”
and is committed to building a solid risk management culture. During
the year under review, the Group adopted a series of measures to
strengthen internal management including “Revised Target Management
and Appraisal Policy for Environmental Protection Project Companies”,
“Revised Remuneration Management Policy for Site Construction
Team”, “Market and Project Development Management Policy” and
“Budgetary Management Policy”, etc., to motivate staff in joining project
construction and developing new markets and projects. With the help of
the Risk Management Advisory Committee, the Engineering Technical
Management Committee and the Budget Approval and Management
Committee, the Group formulated strict regulations on investment in and
construction and operation of environmental protection projects.

Human Resources

The Group highly values its human resources. It believes realizing the
full potential of its employees is crucial to its long term growth, thus it
puts great efforts on staff training. In 2009, the Company co-organized
a Master of Environmental Engineering program with the School of
Environmental Science and Engineering of Tsinghua University to raise
the staff's engineering capabilities so as to help the transformation of
Everbright Environment into a new environmental protection enterprise
that employs top-notch techniques and high-end technologies. The aims
of the program are to improve the professional skills of staff and their
work efficiency, and in turn the overall quality of the Group.
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As at 31 December 2009, the Group had approximately 1,100
employees in Hong Kong and mainland China. Employees of the Group
are remunerated according to their qualifications, experience, job nature,
performance and with reference to market conditions. Apart from
discretionary performance bonus, the Group also provides other benefits
such as medical insurance and provident fund scheme to employees
in Hong Kong. According to the share option scheme approved by
the Company’s extraordinary general meeting on 26 May 2003, at the
discretion of the Board, share options may be granted as performance
incentives to any employees, including directors. During the year under
review, no share option was granted.

Corporate Governance

The Group has been untiring in raising its corporate governance
standard, which, it believes, is the key to assuring healthy business
development and safeguarding shareholders’ interest. The Group
upholds the management principle of “People-oriented, pragmatism,
creativity and systematic management”, and through a set of rules
and regulations, continuously strengthens internal control and risk
management. Furthermore, by full and timely public disclosure of
information, the Group maintains transparency and accountability which
align with its corporate values. The Board meets regularly and has set
up an Executive Committee, an Audit Committee, a Remuneration
Committee and a Management Committee. For risk management, the
Group has set up a Risk Management Advisory Committee to monitor
and assess risks regularly, raise related management standards and
evaluate investment projects. Regarding technological risk management,
the Group has in place an Engineering Technical Management
Committee responsible for assessing the technologies used in different
investment projects. For financial control, the Group insists on stringent
budget management, and has set up a Budget Approval Management
Committee that focuses on monitoring construction budgets. In addition,
the Group has also set up an Internal Audit Department to perform
internal audits on investment projects so as to help the Group raise its
management standard.

The Code on Corporate Governance (“the Code”) set out in Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”) was duly adopted by the
Board as the code on corporate governance practices of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2009, the Company had complied
with the provisions of the Code and most of the recommended best
practices as set out in the Code.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises Mr. Tang Shuangning (Chairman),
the Chairman of the Board, and six executive directors, namely Mr.
Zang Qiutao, Mr. Li Xueming, Mr. Chen Xiaoping, Mr. Wang Tianyi,
Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung and Ms. Zhang Weiyun. Its main
duties include performing the duties assigned by the Board as well as
exercising the authority and rights authorized by the Board. The general
mandate in relation to the Executive Committee in written form has been
established.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, comprising the three independent non-executive
directors of the Company, namely Sir David Akers-Jones (Chairman),
Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and Mr. Selwyn Mar, is primarily responsible
for reviewing the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, as well as discussing and reviewing internal control and financial
reporting matters of the Group. The terms of reference of the Committee
are disclosed on the website of the Company. The Audit Committee has
reviewed with the management and KPMG, the Company’s auditors,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed the Group’s internal control and financial reporting matters,
including review of the annual results for the year ended 31 December
2009.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises Mr. Zang Qiutao
(Chairman), the Vice-chairman of the Board, and the three independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Sir David Akers-
Jones, Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and Mr. Selwyn Mar. Its main duties
include offering advice to the Board on the matters pertaining to the
remuneration policy and remuneration structure of the directors and
senior management of the Company. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are disclosed on the website of the Company.
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Management Committee

The Management Committee comprises Mr. Chen Xiaoping (Chairman),
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mr. Wang Tianyi, the
General Manager of the Company, Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung,
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, the General Manager of
Everbright Environmental Engineering, the General Manager of Everbright
Technology Development, the person-in-charge of the Environmental
Energy sector, the person-in-charge of the Environmental Water sector,
the person-in-charge of the Alternative Energy sector and the person-in-
charge of the Investment Development Department. The Management
Committee makes decisions in relation to day-to-day operation of the
Group and also carries out duties assigned by the Board as well as
exercises the authority and rights authorized by the same. The general
mandate in relation to the Management Committee in written form has
been established.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Group has adopted the model code (“the Model Code”) set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions. Specific enquiry was made with all
the directors, who confirmed they had complied with the required
standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2009.

OTHER INFORMATION

Final Dividend

The Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of HK1.2 cents per
share (2008: HK1.0 cent per share) to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 7 May
2010. Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the final dividend
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, dividend
warrants will be dispatched to shareholders on or about Wednesday,
19 May 2010.
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Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
7 May 2010 to Wednesday, 12 May 2010 (both days inclusive), during
which no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the
proposed final dividend for the year, all completed transfer forms
accompanied with the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company'’s share registrars, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 26/F, Tesbury
Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 6 May 2010.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the listed securities of the
Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

By Order of the Board

China Everbright International Limited
Chen Xiaoping

Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 10 March 2010
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CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

TEHESEERS

With the sense of social responsibility and mission, the Group has been enthusiastically participating in social
charity activities, such as energy conservation and emission reduction, environmental education, donation and
environmental greening during the process of rapid development of its environmental protection business.
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The Group commenced its environmental protection business in
2003, and has been taking advantage of the opportunities arising from
the PRC’s comprehensive implementation of scientific development
and emphasis on energy conservation and emissions reduction,
environmental protection as well as building a community with ecological
balance, from which the Group will take the responsibility to create a
beautiful environment and benefit the general public while at the same
time commit to the eco-mission and pay back the society. Under the
strong support from our parent company China Everbright Holdings
Company Limited, the Group, after years of “Exploration, deployment
and development” and with its quality professional management team
working with the philosophy of “Integrity, pragmatism, efficiency and
innovation”, created a series of outstanding environmental protection
projects which are of excellent quality, standard, technology and
efficiency, therefore setting “Everbright Environment” as a renowned
brand that is highly regarded by the peers.

While environmental protection is the key for creating a balance
ecosystem, it is also crucial for the sustainable development of the
state. The Group will continue to actively look for new development
opportunities, enhance its effort in research and development of
environmental protection technology, encourage innovation and make
more significant advancements with its environmental protection
business so as to serve for the environmental protection of people and
the health of community, to which it is fulfiling the social responsibility of
an environmental protection guard.

As a company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”), the Group is a public listed
company as well as a social responsibility enterprise. As such, it needs
to take the initiative to take up social responsibility. For years, the Group
holds social responsibility as its basic values, always committed to social
responsibility and fulfilled its obligations in following aspects of its work:

1. protect shareholders’ interests, realize the responsibility of
maximizing investors’ values;

2. realize the win-win development responsibility with business
partners by integrity and honesty;

3.  realize the responsibility of protecting creditors’ legal rights;

4. realize the responsibility to employees by taking care of their
growth and adding value to their abilities;

5.  realize the responsibility of sustainable development by enhancing
environmental protection and building up an energy-conservative
society;

6. participate and support the social charity activities.
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The recent operating results and the financial strength of the Group both
experienced a significant growth under the nurture of positive policies of
the PRC as well as the support and guidance from the government of
every level. With the economic benefits of the Group steadily growing,
the Group would put emphasis on protecting the interests of its
shareholders and focus on reasonable return to its investors. Since 2004,
the Group insisted to pay dividend to its shareholders on a half year
basis, which demonstrated the wilingness to share the achievements in
business development.

The Group continues to optimize the governance structure, set up
requirements for the operation and protects shareholders’ legal rights. In
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“Companies
Ordinance”) and the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Company convenes and holds general meeting, deals with all
shareholders fairly and ensures that all shareholders can fully exercise
their rights. The Company strictly complies with the Listing Rules, the
Companies Ordinance and the Company’s Articles of Association so
as to effectively regulate the fairness of the disclosure of information
and protect the legal rights of investors. Through different activities and
channels, such as result press conference twice a year, investors’ and
securities analysts’ visits, meetings with analysts and corporate investors
etc., the Company has taken the initiatives to strengthen the intimate
communication with the shareholders and investors.

The Company not only pursues the optimization of the shareholders’
interest, but also ensures the financial stability of the Company, the safety
of the Company’s assets and capital and the lawful interests of creditors.
All material decision making processes on the Group’s operation have
considered comprehensively and practically protected the creditors’
lawful interests.
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The Group enters into agreements with the local governments in the
regions where the projects are invested to construct and operate
projects on “BOT” (Build — Operate — Transfer), “TOT” (Transfer
— Operate — Transfer) or “BT” (Build — Transfer) basis. When the
construction work of the projects is progressing, the Group would
strictly abide by the terms of contracts entered into between the Group,
design institute, supervision companies, equipment suppliers and the
enterprises for construction and installation, ensuring that the fees for
equipment and construction would be fully paid on schedule. As a
result, the Group enjoys a very good reputation in the industry. In the
meantime, the Group has fulfiled the commitment to local governments
and community. The construction work of each project is completed on
schedule with quality and all discharges are of strict compliance to the
standards, largely protecting the interests of the local governments and
the community. In 2009, the Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project had been
appraised by CCTV as “Garden-like waste-to-energy plant”. Following
the completion of upgrading work of the Jinan Waste Water Treatment
Plant No. 1 and 2 and the commencement of the commercial operation
of Jinan Waste Water Treatment Plant No. 3, the treated waste water in
Jinan city has reached Grade 1A standard. At present, about 85% of the
COD emission reduction in Jinan and Zibo cities is done by the Group.

Environmental protection is an essential national policy of the PRC
to solve the increasingly serious environmental problem, procure
environmental balance development and implement sustainable
development strategies. It is not only a tough mission for the whole
society but also a social responsibility taken by the Group.

In 2009, the Group has processed household and industrial waste of
1,724,000 tonnes, providing green electricity of 481,000,000 kWh for
400,000 households in a year, saving the equivalent of 192,700 tonnes
of standard coal and reducing carbon dioxide emission of 564,100
tonnes. The Group has also treated waste water (including leachate) of
400,000,000 m3, reducing the COD emission of 143,700 tonnes.

The Group strives to adopt high standard on construction and operation
of the environmental protection projects. Emission standard of waste-
to-energy projects is above the national standard. Gas emission
construction complies with Euro monitor standard and the Group has
taken the initiative to accept supervision from local government and
general public by linking up its online gas emission monitoring system
with the network of the local environmental protection departments.
Waste water treatment projects are constructed and operated according
to the national’s highest Grade 1A standard. Below are the awards won
by the construction projects and project companies in recent years.
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2006

Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou) Limited (“Suzhou Energy
Company”) was granted the “First batch of experimental enterprises in
the recycling economy” and “Outstanding Contributor to Environmental
Protection” by Suzhou Municipal Government. Everbright Water (Zibo)
Limited (“Zibo Water Company”) was elected as “Model of Labor
Protection and Integrity”. Everbright Water (Ji’'nan) Limited (“Ji'nan
Water Company”) was elected as the “Ten Best Foreign-invested
Enterprises in Jinan”.

2007

Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project Phase | won the “Gusu Cup”. Ji'nan
Water Company was elected as “First Batch of Ten Best Enterprises
Fully Supported and Trusted by Clients and Government”. Everbright
Environmental Protection Engineering (Shenzhen) Limited was awarded
the “Shenzhen Technology Innovation Award” by the Shenzhen
Municipal People’s Government.
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2008

Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project Phase | won the “Yangzi Cup”.
Yixing Waste-to-energy Project won the “Taodu Cup” and “Taihu
Lake Cup”. Everbright Environmental Energy (Yixing) Limited (“Yixing
Energy Company”) was elected as “Yixing Energy Conservation and
Emission Reduction Model Enterprise”, “Yixing Foreign-invested
Advanced Enterprise” and “Yixing Production Safety Advanced Unit”.
Zibo Hanmiao Waste Water Treatment Plant won the silver medal in
the “State Outstanding Construction Projects”. Zibo Water Company
obtained the “Certificate of Operation” (Grade A Industrial Waste Water
Treatment Standard and Grade A Household Waste Water Treatment
Standard) issued by the Ministry of Environmental Protection. Ji’'nan
Water Company was elected as the “Ten Best Waste Water Treatment
Plants in the PRC”.
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2009

Suzhou Waste-to-energy Plant was dubbed by CCTV as “Garden-
like Waste-to-energy plant”. Suzhou Energy Company was
awarded with the “Ten Best Recycle Resources Enterprise in the
Jiangsu Province Environmental Protection Industry” by the Jiangsu
Provincial Environmental Protection Industry Association. Everbright
Environmental Energy (Jiangyin) Limited (“Jiangyin Energy Company”)
was granted the “Garden Unit” by Wuxi City. Jiangyin Waste-to-
energy Project won the “Taihu Lake Cup”. Changzhou Waste-to-
energy Project scored 98 marks in Jiangsu Province Operation Quality
Assessment. The upgrading work for Zibo Northern Plant has won the
silver medal in the national outstanding construction work. Ji'nan Water
Company was accredited by the Jinan Municipal People’s Government
for its contribution in energy conservation and emission reduction.
Everbright Water (Jiangyin) Limited won the award of “Ten Best Energy
Conservation and Emission Reduction Advanced Enterprise in Jiangyin
City”.

The Group was appointed by the government to assume the drafting
responsibility for the waste-to-energy industry standard and based
on the production and operation of the Suzhou Energy Company to
compile the white paper of “The Standard of Jiangsu Waste-to-energy
Project Series”.

Through the various means of effort, the Group intends to research
and develop the new technology applicable to the PRC environmental
protection industry, with an aim to contribute more in energy
conservation as well as emission reduction of the PRC. (l) The leachate
treatment of a waste-to-energy project is a common problem for the
industry. The Group took the initiative to accept the responsibility of
solving the industry problem by being the pioneer to apply Grade 1A
standard in leachate treatment system for Yixing Waste-to-energy
Project. The reusable water thus formed is also applied in recycling
and planting, which demonstrate a breakthrough in the industry.
Subsequently, the Group has newly constructed Suzhou, Jiangyin,
Changzhou and Yixing leachate-to-energy projects and all of them are
running smoothly. Tackling such problem is a significant innovation
of the Group’s environmental technology. (Il) To achieve domestically
developed grate furnaces, the Group has initiated its research and
development on domestically developed grate furnaces and automatic
control system based on its experience in Suzhou, Changzhou,
Yixing, Jiangyin projects and the works are having satisfactory
progress. (lll) The Group has also overcome the technical problem of
decontamination of sludge, from cost reduction to the technical aspect.
At present, the sludge disposal programs in Suzhou, Jiangyin, Yixing
have basically been implemented.
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The Group has a well-facilitated and advanced open laboratory. Its
technology development equipments and developing ability are of
international advanced and local top standards, and enabled continuous
training for technology staff. This provided technological professionals
who are in touch with new information worldwide and able to create
more high-tech products. As at 2009, 21 patent applications had been
filed by the Group, of which 3 utility invention patents and 9 model
patents were secured, and 9 invention patents were entered into the
review stage publicly. In addition to application for patents, technological
achievements were being promoted and applied comprehensively in
daily operation of each project that resources could be utilized more
effectively to help pushing environmental protection and sustainable
development a step further ahead.

The Group has established environmental and social responsibility
management system and environmental protection annual planning,
which implemented stringent control on the new projects, upgrade
projects and expansion projects of the Group and had been
incorporated in the enterprise’s overall project management. The
management of “Planning, implementation, inspection, review” is carried
out in each environmental project and the requirements and targets of
the environment will be included at all levels in the management system.
The Group has formulated an accurate, swift and sensitive monitoring
system, established comprehensive indicators for monitoring system of
environmental management and is equipped with advanced monitoring
equipment and set up an information and data system, etc. The Group
also implemented the integration of information collection, forecasting,
prediction and control.

The Group applies appropriate knowledge, technical and skill training to
facilitate the integration of concept of environmental protection, corporate
social responsibility and sustainability development in each management
activities, based on the different level of management, technical and
operational personnel and according to the needs of the jobs.
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Hong Kong Awards

The Group won the “Outstanding Environmental Protection Corporation
Award” by the Hong Kong magazine, Capital, in three consecutive
years in 2006, 2007 and 2008.

The Group was awarded with the “Hong Kong Outstanding
Enterprises” by the Hong Kong magazine, Economic Digest, in three
consecutive years in 2007, 2008 and 2009.

The Group was awarded with the “National Enterprise Environmental
Achievement Award 2008-2009” by the Hong Kong Environmental
Protection Association in 2009.

PRC Awards

]
)
it

The Group was elected as the “Most Socially Responsible and Honest
Enterprise in 2006” and ranked 15th among the “Top 100 Most
Dynamic Enterprises in the PRC in 2006”.

The Group was awarded with the “Top 100 Renowned Honest
Enterprise in China” and the “Most Pioneering Entrepreneur in the PRC
in 2007”.

The Group was awarded with the “Most Well-recognized and Reliable
Green Enterprise” in 2008.

The Group was awarded with the “Top 100 Most Pioneering Enterprise
in the PRC” and the “Top 10 Most Social Responsible Brand Enterprise
in the PRC” in 2009.

While the Group creates economic benefits, the Group remains
enthusiastic in social charity and is keen on initiating and participating
in a range of activities including charity and donations. The Group
also provides enthusiastic support to social commonweal including
education, culture and hygiene, which gradually develops a way to
repay society with “Everbright International” characteristics.

In 2008, the Sichuan Wenchuan Earthquake, the Group arranged staff
to donate over RMB1,300,000 to the disaster areas and to participate
in the “Love Activities for 512 students on Disaster Areas” organized by
the China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation in which the staff donated
love packages to students in the disaster areas. The Group has actively
participated in fund-raising campaigns for Taiwan’s windstorm in 2009
as well as made donation to those retired illness staff, etc.
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report

The Group focuses on producing skilled talents. The Group has trained
hundreds of specialized technical staff for the waste water treatment
plants and waste-to-energy plants in areas where its investments laid.
Such move gained the recognition from the local governments as
well as all sectors of society. Each project company relies on the local
governments to develop technology center and environmental model
projects and aims at promoting common knowledge on environmental
protection technology to college, secondary and primary students,
students majoring in environmental studies and nearby citizens. The
project companies welcome visitors and field workers for over a hundred
times every year, catering up to 5,000 to 8,000 people.

The Group actively initiates and participates in environmental greening
and tree planting activities in the areas of each project. It organizes staff
to join local tree planting activities every year and each staff plants over
20 trees in average.

The Group has been sticking to its belief of “considering benefits for
the others to promote a welfare society” and actively making such
belief into practice. Over the previous years, the Group has developed
close collaborations with the national charitable organizations like
China Charity Foundation, Red Cross of China, China Foundation for
Poverty Alleviation, China Youth Development Foundation and China
Environmental Culture Promotion Association etc, and has contributed its
effort to repay the society as its commitment to the social responsibility.

In 2004, the Group and the Beijing Organizing Committee of Olympics
jointly organized the Beijing International Environment Forum with a
theme of improving the city environment of Beijing and welcoming the
green Olympics.

In 2005, the Group organized the first “Everbright Environmental
Protection Cup National Art Calligraphy and Photography Exhibition”
and the “Everbright Environmental Protection Soiree: Environmental
Protection Stars in Concert” in collaboration with six government
departments including the Ministry of Environmental Protection of the
PRC.

In 2007, the Group sponsored the 2nd China (Jinan) International

Children’s Festival & the Children Industry Fair and held the closing
ceremony of the Everbright Environmental Protection Soiree.
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In 2008, the Group jointly hosted the “China (Zibo) Eco-protection
Industrial Development Forum 2008” and “Everbright Environmental
Protection Soiree — a soiree for a greener and brighter China” with the
Zibo Municipal Government.

In 2009, the Group sponsored the 11th National Games organized by
the Jinan Municipality.

The Group hopes to facilitate the growth of enterprises, develop social

charity undertakings as well as to foster social harmony and progress of
mankind in synchronicity through its incessant efforts.
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Upholds the management principle of “People-oriented, pragmatism, creativity and systematic management”
and strives to enhance the corporate governance of the Group.
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The Group has been untiring in raising its corporate governance
standard, which it believes, is the key to assuring healthy business
development and safeguarding shareholders’ interest. The Group
upholds the management principle of “People-oriented, pragmatism,
creativity and systematic management”, and through a set of rules
and regulations, continuously strengthens internal control and risk
management. Furthermore, by full and timely public disclosure of
information, the Group maintains transparency, accountability which align
with its corporate values. The Board meets regularly and has set up an
Executive Committee, an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee
and a Management Committee. For risk management, the Group has set
up a Risk Management Advisory Committee to monitor and assess risk
regularly, raise related management standards and evaluate investment
projects. Regarding technological risk management, the Group has in
place an Engineering Technical Management Committee responsible
for assessing the technologies used in different investment projects. For
financial control, the Group insists on stringent budget management, and
has set up a Budget Approval Management Committee that focuses on
monitoring construction budgets. In addition, the Group has also set up
an Internal Audit Department to perform internal audits on investment
projects so as to help the Group to raise its management standard.

The Code on Corporate Governance set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules was duly adopted by the Board as the code on corporate
governance practices of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the Company had complied

with the provisions of the Code and most of the recommended best
practices as set out in the Code.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and function

The Board currently comprises seven executive directors, one non-

executive director and three independent non-executive directors.

The directors during the financial year and up to the date of the report
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Name of Director Title EEns B

Executive Directors HITEF

Mr. Tang Shuangning Chairman FEELE FFE

Mr. Zang Qiutao Vice-chairman NS e eSS

Mr. Li Xueming Vice-chairman TERLAE BIE/E

Mr. Chen Xiaoping Chief Executive Officer PR/ A TR

Mr. Wang Tianyi General Manager TR&ELE plapRegtiil

Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung  Chief Financial Officer =IREE LA g

Ms. Zhang Weiyun Executive Director KRR T WITES

Non-executive Director FHITEE

Mr. Philip Fan Yan Hok Non-executive Director SRR AE JEHITES

Independent Non-executive Directors BIUHERAITEE

Sir David Akers-Jones Independent Non-executive B AT B IEHITES
Director

Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing Independent Non-executive FEENE B IEMITES
Director

Mr. Selwyn Mar Independent Non-executive BREEE BUIFBITES

Director
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition and function (continued)

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, subject
to the manner of retirement by rotation of directors as from time to time
prescribed under the Listing Rules and notwithstanding any contractual
or other terms on which any director may be appointed or engaged,
at each annual general meeting, one-third of the directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

The position of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are held
by separate individuals, with a view to maintain an effective segregation
of duties between the management of the Board and the day-to-day
management of the Group’s business and operation.

The Board meets regularly throughout the year. Under the lead of the
Chairman, the Board is responsible for approving and supervising the
overall strategy and policies of the Group, approving annual budget and
business plans, assessing the Group’s performance and supervising the
work of the management. All directors have access to board papers and
related materials, and are provided with adequate information on a timely
manner. The directors of the Company may, if necessary, seek legal or
other independent professional advice at the expense of the Company.

In respect of regular board meetings and audit committee meetings,
the agenda is sent out to the directors at least fourteen days before
the meeting and the accompanying papers are sent at least three days
before the meeting for information.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition and function (continued)

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has
established the following committees with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with the committee’s authority and duties:

1. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee comprises Mr. Tang Shuangning
(Chairman), the Chairman of the Board, and six executive
directors, namely Mr. Zang Qiutao, Mr. Li Xueming, Mr. Chen
Xiaoping, Mr. Wang Tianyi, Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung
and Ms. Zhang Weiyun. Its main duties include performing the
duties assigned by the Board as well as exercising the authority
and rights authorized by the Board. The general mandate in
relation to the Executive Committee in written form has been
established.

2. AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee, comprising all three independent
non- executive directors of the Company, namely Sir David
Akers-Jones (Chairman), Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and Mr.
Selwyn Mar, is primarily responsible for reviewing the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, as well as
discussing and reviewing the internal control and financial
reporting matters of the Group. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are disclosed on the website of the Company.

During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed with
the management and KPMG, the Company’s auditors, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed the Group’s internal control and financial reporting
matters, including review of the annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2008 and the interim results for the six
months ended 30 June 2009.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Composition and function (continued)

3.

64

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises Mr. Zang
Qiutao (Chairman), the Vice-chairman of the Board, and
three independent non-executive directors of the Company,
namely Sir David Akers-dones, Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and
Mr. Selwyn Mar. Its main duties include offering advice to the
Board on the matters pertaining to the remuneration policy and
remuneration structure of the directors and senior management
of the Company. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are disclosed on the website of the Company.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the
remuneration policy and structure of the executive directors and
senior management of the Company, and offered advice on the
same to the Board.

The remuneration of all the directors and their respective interest
in share options are set out in note 8 to the financial statements
and under the “Share option scheme” paragraph in the report of
the directors of this Annual Report.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Management Committee comprises Mr. Chen Xiaoping
(Chairman), the Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
Mr. Wang Tianyi (Vice-chairman), the General Manager of the
Company, Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung, the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, the General Manager of Everbright
Environmental Protection Engineering (Shenzhen) Limited,
the General Manager of Everbright Environmental Protection
Technology Development (Beijing) Limited, the person-in-
charge of Environmental Energy sector, the person-in-charge of
Environmental Water sector, the person-in-charge of Alternative
Energy sector and the person-in-charge of the Investment
Development Department. The Management Committee is the
decision-making body for day-to-day operation and its main
duties include performing the duties assigned by the Board
as well as exercising the authority and rights authorized by the
same. The general mandate in relation to the Management
Committee in written form has been established.

EEE(E)
HRRBE(E)

3.

HHZEEE
BERFHEEenESTSRITFRMK
B (BEERE) R =D IETT
EERBERAEL  FHEELER
SRR AER - X 2RE M
ARREENFREEABNDEH
MER M IRBRAEZSRLESRS
BTN EEenBREEEECHI
IUN/NEI:EEVE A

RAFEERA - @Hiﬁaagéﬁﬁﬂ
T%ﬂﬁi%& EIE A B B F A
R K284 Iﬁi%ékﬁﬁﬁ%t

E=3
AE ©

BEFNH MBS D BT
RARFRIA B REM T\ REFTEH
EIERERTE I —BA -

EHLZEE
EIEE B MK 8 BIETTHREER /)
FREEEER) BEBRTRESL
éﬂ%&%zﬁ)ﬁﬁwﬁf%V%
R ARBRRIEHEMOFIDERA
T@%ﬁ RARREHEEREER)
BRARMRLIE  IRREERIRBEE
A BRIBKERRBEA - FTEERIR
HRBEARREERTEEA - B
ZEeAREEIEREHL X
EHERIERITESIETHBA
MEEFMBRTHRENRES - BBE
BERAEEMM—MRIERE

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED & B3¢ REIFX B BR 22 F)



NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS AND COMMITTEE EEEhZEEETHRAABASEEMNH
MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE RATE OF DIRECTORS EXRE

The following shows the number of regular board meetings and N RBERAFEERNARTFEITHNEHES
committee meetings held during the year as well as the attendance rate &N ZEBE&# M H M EEERHHERE -
of each director.

Attendance rate R RE
Board of Remuneration Audit  Management
Name of Director Directors Committee Committee Committee
EEfta EEE FNESE BREEE EEEEE
Mr. Tang Shuangning SEEs 5/5 N/A N/A N/A
(Note 1) (Hizt1) TNEA TEA TNEA
Mr. Zang Qiutao BIERE 5/5 11 N/A N/A
(Note 2) (Hizt2) N TEA
Mr. Li Xueming ZERLA 5/5 N/A N/A N/A
A i T
Mr. Chen Xiaoping BRINEESE 5/5 N/A N/A 13/13
TER N
Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung & $pEa%k A4 5/5 N/A N/A 12/13
TEA i
Ms. Zhang Weiyun RE=ZT 5/5 N/A N/A N/A
TEA TEA TEA
Mr. Philip Fan Yan Hok BLBLE 5/5 N/A N/A 13/13
(Note 3) (H13t3) NEA TNER
Sir David Akers-Jones ERGET 5/5 11 3/3 N/A
TEA
Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing TEHELE 3/5 0/1 3/3 N/A
TEH
Mr. Selwyn Mar SHREREAE 4/5 1/1 3/3 N/A
TEH
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NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS AND COMMITTEE
MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE RATE OF DIRECTORS

(continued)
Notes:

1. Mr. Tang Shuangning resigned as a member and the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from 20 January 2009.

2. Mr. Zang Qiutao was appointed as the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company with effect from 20 January 2009.

3. Mr. Philip Fan Yan Hok was re-designated as the Non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 20 January 2010.

4. Mr. Wang Tianyi was appointed as the Executive Director and General Manager
of the Company and a member of the Executive Committee and Management
Committee of the Company with effect from 21 February 2010.

5. Executive Committee of the Company has been resumed on 20 January 2010.
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THE DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES BETWEEN THE
CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be
separate. The Chairman’s responsibility is to manage the Board and
the Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility is to manage the Company’s
business. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer is clearly established.

The main duties of the Chairman include providing leadership for and
overseeing the functioning of the Board; formulating overall strategies
and policies of the Company; ensuring that all directors of the Board
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and giving
each director an opportunity to express his/her view at board meetings;
ensuring that directors receive adequate information, which must be
complete and reliable, in a timely manner; ensuring that the Board
works effectively and discharges its responsibilities; ensuring that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner;
drawing up and approving the agenda for each board meeting taking
into account, where appropriate, any matters proposed by the other
directors for inclusion in the agenda; taking responsibility for ensuring that
good corporate governance practices and procedures are established;
encouraging all directors to make a full and active contribution to the
Board’s affairs and take the lead to ensure that the Board acts in the
best interests of the Company; ensuring that appropriate steps are taken
to provide effective communication with shareholders and that views of
shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole; and facilitating
the effective contribution of directors and ensuring constructive relations
between executive directors and non-executive directors.

The duties of the Chief Executive Officer include taking responsibility
for the Group’s operation and management; implementing decisions
and plans approved by the Board; making day-to-day operational and
managerial decision; and coordinating overall business operations.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, the Board is of the view that all independent non-executive
directors are independent and the Company has received an annual
confirmation of independence from each of the independent non-
executive directors of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Three independent non-executive directors hold office for a term ranging
from one year to two years until 31 December 2010 and 31 December
2011. They are subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with
the Company’s Articles of Association.

The non-executive director holds office for a term from 20 January 2010
to 31 December 2010.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTOR

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, the
directors will have the power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a director to fill a casual vacancy in the Board,
or as an addition to the existing Board. For nomination, consideration
will be made to the qualifications of the nominee. The Company has not
established a nomination committee.

There was no change in directorship during the year. With effect from
20 January 2010, Mr. Philip Fan Yan Hok was re-designated as the non-
executive director of the Company. With effect from 21 February 2010,
Mr. Wang Tianyi was appointed as the executive director and general
manager of the Company and a member of the Executive Committee
and Management Committee of the Company.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions.

Having made specific enquiry of the directors, all directors had complied
with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 31 December 2009.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

It is the Company’s responsibility to ensure shareholder’s interest. To
do so, the Company maintains on-going dialogue with shareholders
to communicate with them and encourage their participation through
annual general meetings or other general meetings.

Registered shareholders are notified by post for the shareholders’
meetings. Notice of meeting contains agenda, proposed resolutions and
postal voting form.

All registered shareholders are entitled to attend annual and extraordinary
general meetings, provided that their shares have been recorded in the
Register of Shareholders.

Shareholders who are unable to attend a general meeting may complete
and return to the Company’s Share Registrar the proxy form enclosed
with notice of meeting to give proxy to their representatives, another
shareholder or chairman of the meetings.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

It is the auditors’ responsibility to form an independent opinion, based
on their audit, on the Company’s financial statements and to report their
opinion solely to the Company, as a body, in accordance with section
141 of the Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. They do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of the independent auditor’s report.

Apart from the provision of annual audit services, KPMG, the Group’s
external auditors, also carried out interim review of the Group’s results
and provided other financial services in compliance with the requirements
under the Listing Rules and the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, KPMG, the external auditors
received the following remuneration from the Group in connection with
the provision of audit and non-audit services to the Group:
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has full responsibility for the Group’s internal control system,
which includes the establishment of a defined management structure
with specified limits of authority. The system is designed to help the
achievement of business objectives of the Group, safeguard assets
against unauthorized use or disposition, ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulation. The internal control system is
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide effective
internal controls are as follows:

- Organizational Structure
An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and
lines of authority.

- Authority and Control
The executive directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate
strategies and policies and the related matters formulated by the
Board.

- Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting
The Group implements budget management, and financial budget
is executed upon approval by the Board. Relevant procedures
have been established to assess, review and approve major capital
and recurrent expenditures, and regular review and comparison
between operating results and the budget are made.

The Group has established appropriate internal control procedures
to ensure the keeping of accurate and complete accounting and
management records on a timely basis. Examination and review
are carried out regularly to ensure that the financial statements
are properly prepared in conformity with the generally accepted
accounting principles, the Group’s accounting policies and the
applicable laws and regulations.
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INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)

- Internal Auditing
The Group has its Internal Audit Department and has regularly
conducted internal audit to review whether the internal control
procedures are implemented appropriately.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control system. This review covered all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions, and also considered the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting functions, and their
training programmes and budget. Any internal control weaknesses
detected by the Internal Audit Department of the Company will be
reported to the Audit Committee members and the management
of the Company. Accordingly, the management will take remedial
actions and the Internal Audit Department will subsequently follow
up and review whether the remedial actions are in place.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors confirm that they are responsible for the preparation of the
Group’s financial statements.

The finance management department of the Company is taken charge
by the Chief Financial Officer. With the assistance of the finance
management department, the directors ensure that the Group’s financial
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with relevant
regulations and applicable accounting principles.

A statement by KPMG, the auditors of the Company, about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is
included in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 104 to 105.
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INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP AND COMMUNICATION

The Company recognizes the importance of good communications with
shareholders and the investment community. Briefings and meetings
with institutional investors and analysts are conducted regularly to
provide them with up-to-date and comprehensive information about the
Group’s development. Annual and interim reports offer comprehensive
operational and financial performance information to shareholders
and the annual general meeting of the Company provides a forum for
shareholders to exchange views directly with the Board, which together
help enhance and facilitate communication with shareholders. The
Company also maintains a website (http://www.ebchinaintl.com) which
enables shareholders, investors and the general public to have access to
the information of the Company on a timely basis.

At the 2009 annual general meeting of the Company, a separate
resolution was proposed by the Chairman in respect of each separate
issue, including re-election of directors. All resolutions were duly passed
by shareholders of the Company by way of poll at the meeting. The
Chairman of the Board and all members of the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee attended the meeting to answer questions
of shareholders. The Company announced the results of the pall in the
manner prescribed under the Listing Rules.

On 14 December 2009, an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company was held to consider and pass certain ordinary resolutions to
approve the continuing connected transactions, details of which was set
out in a circular to shareholders of the Company dated 26 November
2009. All members of the independent board committee attended the
meeting to answer questions of shareholders. The ordinary resolutions
were duly passed by shareholders of the Company by way of poll at the
meeting. The Company announced the results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under the Listing Rules.
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PROJECT
HIGHLIGHTS

HERE

SUZHOU ##/H
JANGYIN ;If&
YIXING B8
CHANGZHOU &M
FUZHOU #&/H
JINAN ZER9
BINZHOU &M
ZIBO 318

9 QINGDAO F&
10 HUIDONG E=&R
11 HUAINING &%
12 DANGSHAN #5111

0O ~NO G B WNh =

ANNUAL HOUSEHOLD
WASTE PROCESSING

CAPAClTY
FREBEENRS

million
3 2 tonnes
B &N

ANNUAL WASTE WATER

TREATMENT CAPACITY
FREFSKE

million m3
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Environmental Energy Projects

Operating projects

Project

EH

Suzhou Waste-to-energy
Project Phase |
FM R ERE 4

Suzhou Waste-to-energy
Project Phase Il
FMARREREIRE —H

Yixing Waste-to-energy Project
HENRREREER

Jiangyin Waste-to-energy
Project Phase |
TRARREREIRE —H

Changzhou Waste-to-energy
Project
EMAR R EIRR

Type of investment
BERER
BOT for 25 years

BOT 254

BOT for 25 years
BOT 254

BOT for 25 years
BOT 254
BOT for 30 years

BOT 304

BOT for 25.5 years
BOT 25,54

Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project Phase | &I
ERINRRR R EEE — - —H
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Total
investment
(RMB) Date of commercial
iR operation
(AR%7T) HEEER
489,443,000 July 2006
“BBAEL]
450,000,000 June 2009
“EENEAA
238,300,000 June 2007
“EELEAA
388,740,000 May 2008
—FT/\F5A
412,560,000 November 2008
=2B/\F1- 1

Daily
processing
capacity
(tonne)
HERERR
(W)

1,050

1,000

500

800

800

Average annual
power generation
capacity

(kWh)
EFHUER
(FREF)

>100,000,000

>100,000,000

>44,000,000

>77,000,000

>77,000,000
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Environmental Energy Projects (continued)

Projects under construction or
in preparatory stage

Project Type of investment

I5H ”EER

Jiangyin Waste-to-energy BOT for 27 years
Project Phase Il BOT 274F

TR RERA — 4

Jinan Waste-to-energy Project ~ BOT for 25 years
BRI RIEEEER BOT 254

Zhenjiang Waste-to-energy BOT for 30 years
Project BOT 304
ATARREEEIRAR

Sugian Waste-to-energy Project  BOT for 30 years

BEBRREREER BOT 30
Huidong Waste-to-energy BOT for 29 years

Project BOT 29
BRURREREER

Jinan Waste-to-energy Project
BE BRI R EIRR

76

Total
investment

(RMB)
aga
(NR¥TT)

205,000,000

900,853,000

413,338,000

324,000,000

334,400,000

IRIRGERIER (©2)
HEREEEETIEE

Daily

processing

capacity
Date of commercial (tonne)
operation BEREAR
HEEZR (mg)

June 2011 (expected) 400
“Z——F]AEH)

January 2012 (expected) 2,000
—T-—F—-A(7EH)

September 2011 (expected) 1,000
—Z——FAAEH)

June 2012 (expected) 600

“Z—ERAES)

June 2012 (expected) 600
“T-ZHRAEE)

Average annual
power generation
capacity

(kWh)
EFHUER
(FREF)

>38,000,000

>200,000,000

>100,000,000

>60,000,000

>104,000,000

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED & B3¢ REIFX B BR 22 F)



Suzhou Everbright National Demonstrative &Mt XKBERSBIRELREE
Veinous Industrial Park

Total Designed storage Average annual power
investment capacity (m?3) generation capacity
(RMB) Date of commercial HEE (kWh)
Project Type of investment b operation SRETRR FEYBER
I5H REER (AR%TT) WEEER (IHX) (FREF)
Industrial Solid Waste BOT for 30 years 78,100,000 July 2007 200,000 N/A
Landfil Project Phase | BOT 30 “ZTHFEAR NER
TXEREMESR
JEE—H

Suzhou Everbright National Demonstrative Veinous Industrial Park

BN A AR REFIRER T8 E
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Highlights 18 B 5 2

Environmental Water Projects
Operating projects

Project Type of investment

HH R&REH

Qingdao Waste Water Treatment BOT/TOT for 25 years
Project (Haibohe & Maidao Plants)  BOT/TOT 254
BRAKEEER
(BRTRESR)

Zibo Waste Water Treatment Project ~ TOT for 25 years
(Southern and Northem Plants) TOT 254

B KEEIEE
(FRBRILE)

Zibo High-tech Zone Waste BOT for 25 years
Water Treatment Project BOT 254

LTSRNy !

Zibo Zhoucun Waste Water BOT for 25 years
Treatment Project BOT 254

BNk EEER

Zibo Waste Water Treatment Project

ISR R

78

IRIRKFSIER

EEmEE
Total
investment
(RMB) Date of commercial
aig operation
(ANR&T) HEEER
356,000,000 January 2005

—ZZR5-A

354,276,000 November 2005
(Including Investment —ZTTRE+—A
of RMB130,221,000 for
upgrading work)
(DFEFAGREETTE
% B% AR130,221,0007T)
150,000,000 September 2007
(Phase ) —ZZEENA
(=)
70,000,000 November 2009
(Phase ) “ETNEFT—A
(=5

Daily waste water
treatment capacity
(m?)
SHEYSKRER
(IHXK)

220,000

(Maidao Extension Project
completed in July 2007)
(BEERAER
“TTHELATR)

250,000

(Upgrading work
completed

in May 2008)
(FHRBUETRR
ZTT/\FRAREK)

100,000
(Phase )
(=8)

40,000
(Phase )
(—8)
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Environmental Water Projects (continued)
Operating projects (continued)

IRIRKIBIER (£)

BRER (4)

Total Daily waste water
investment treatment capacity
(RMB) Date of commercial (m3)
Project Type of investment o ] operation BHEYTKEEE
I5H ®RERER (AR%T) WEEZE (IHK)
Jinan Waste Water Treatment TOT for 30 years 420,000,000 November 2006 500,000
Project (Plant 1 and Plant 2) TOT 304 S (Increased from 420,000 tonnes
BESKEEEE t0500,000 tonnes upon completion of
(—BR=K) extension work in May 2009)
(ZZTNER AR ER
T#2f% + F420,0008F
1 J1Z500,0008)
Jinan Waste Water Treatment 287,000,000 Upgrading and extension work
Project (Upgrade and extension completed in May 2009
work for Plant 1 and Plant 2) “ZTNERRA
ERAKEREER TRARSERERTRE
(—BR-BARSER
EETR)
Jinan Licheng Waste Water BOT for 26 years 138,000,000 October 2009 100,000
Treatment Project (Plant 3) BOT 264 “ZTNETA
B KEEER
Binzhou Boxing Waste Water TOT/BOT for 25 years 85,000,000 Phase | - April 2008 60,000
Treatment Project TOT/BOT 254 (Including investment —# - —ZT\FIA (Increased from 30,000 mé to
EMEREKEEREE of RMB65,500,000 for 60,000 mé upon completion of Phase |l
upgrading work of Phase | Upgrading work — December 2008  in June 2009)
and construction of Phase I}~ FHékkiETH2 — (ZZZNERA
(DHE—EBARBER = “EEN\FTZAR “HERGRE TR
HRRTREEARY F330,00032 77 KE2 M Z 60,0003 75 K)
65,500,0007T) Phase Il - June 2009 (trial run)

—H - —ETNEAAGET)

Jinan Waste Water Treatment Project
BEESKEIEER
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Environmental Water Projects (continued)

Operating projects (continued)

Project Type of investment

HH REREH

IRIRKIBIER (F)

Daily waste water
treatment capacity
(m3)
SHFYEKEER
(IHXK)

Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment TOT for 30 years

Project TOT 304
IRSKERER

Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment
Project (Upgrade and acquisition of
sewage piping network)

IR5KERIRE
(FHRBuER IR
FEKER)

Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment Project
TIRE)5/KERIRTE B

80

EeEA(E)

Total
investment
(RMB) Date of commercial
ai%g operation
(AR®T) H¥EZH
624,000,000 January 2008

—ZEZ\§-A
468,000,000 June 2008
(including investment —TT)\§~A
of RMB201,000,000
for upgrading work and
RMB267,000,000 for
acquisition of sewage piping
network)
(BREARSETR
£F AR201,000,0007C
RAKEBBBRARK
267,000,0007T.)

190,000

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED & B3¢ REIFX B BR 22 F)



Environmental Water Projects (continued) IRIRKFBIEER (22)
Projects under construction or EEREEEESIER
in preparatory stage

Total Daily waste water
investment treatment capacity
(RMB) Date of commercial (m3)
Project Type of investment FoE ] operation BEFHEKRER
I5H REER (AR®T) HEEER (IHK)
Jinan Xike Waste Water BOT for 26 years 72,680,000 July 2010 (expected) 30,000
Treatment Project (Plant 4) BOT 264 “E-THELA(EH)
EERE S KEEER
()
Ling County Waste Water BOT for 30 years 58,000,000 July 2010 (expected) 30,000
Treatment Project BOT 304 “Z-ZELA(EH)
E&SKEEER
Xinyi BT Waste Water BT for 4 years 62,150,000 December 2010 (expected) 10,000
Treatment Project Phase | BT 44 “T-TF+A(EH)

HTBT K GEEE — 4

Zibo Reusable Water Project BOO for 20 years 55,000,000 December 2010 (expected) 400/hour
Rk EI AR BOO 205 “E-TET-A(EH) 400,75
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Highlights 18 B 5 2

Alternative Energy Projects

Operating projects

Project

HH

Suzhou Waste Landfil Methane-to-energy

Project Phase |

FNSCRRR AR R EEE —H

Suzhou Waste Landfill Methane-to-energy

Project Phase |l

NSRS REEEA — 4

Type of investment

-t

BOO (Build - Operate — Own)

for 25 years

BOO(RsE— 12 — A

25%F

Projects under construction or

in preparatory stage

Project

5H

Zibo Heat Pump Project
Phase |
MBAREE—H

Xinyi Straw Cogeneration Project

HTRRAER (IR R

Huaining Photovoltaic Energy

Project
BEXREIRR

Dangshan Biomass Power

Generation Project
BLANERETIER

82

Type of investment

REER
BOO for 20 years

BOO 204

BOO for 25 years
BOO 254

BOO for 26 years
BOO 26%F

BOO for 25 years
BOO 254

BOO for 23 years
BOO 23F

Total
investment
(RMB)

@iRa
(ARET)

57,887,000

338,223,000

50,470,000

331,000,000

FaeRIEE
EEmEE
Total
investment
(RMB) Date of commercial
agg operation
(ANR&T) HEEER
27,940,000 August 2006
“TERENA
12,750,000 September 2008
“TZ)\FNA
EEYEESEPIER

Date of commercial
operation

H*EZH

November 2010 (expected) 125,000

—T-TE - AES)

March 2012 (expected) N/A
—T-—F=-R(%EH) NEf

December 2011 (expected) N/A
5T A(ER) am

December 2011 (expected) N/A
—T——F+ZA(EH) NER

Average annual generation

capacity
(kWh)
FEYRER
(FREF)

>18,000,000

>0,000,000

Average annual
generation capacity
(kWh)

FRYHYER
(FREF)

N/A

TER

Power B

>138,000,000 kWh FFL

Heat £\ &
>390,000 tonnes i

>2,170,000

>230,000,000

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED & B3¢ REIFX B BR 22 F)




DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

ESENEREEAER

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

TANG SHUANGNING — CHAIRMAN

aged 55, is the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Tang is a member of the
11th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. He is also the Chairman of China Everbright Group Limited,
China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, China Everbright Bank
Company Limited and Everbright Securities Company Limited. Mr. Tang
is also the Director of Sun Life Everbright Life Insurance Company
Limited and the Chairman of China Everbright Limited. He also serves
as the Vice Chairman of China Society for Finance and Banking and the
Consultant of China Society for Investment. Prior to joining the China
Everbright Group, he was the Vice Chairman of the China Banking
Regulatory Commission, the Director-General of the Banking Supervision
Department |, the Director-General of the Currency, Gold and Silver
Bureau and the Director-General of the Credit Management Division of
the People’s Bank of China. He holds a Master’s Degree in Economics
from China Northeast University of Finance & Economics. Mr. Tang
has extensive knowledge and experience in banking and finance
management. Mr. Tang joined the Board in July 2007.
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Directors and Senior Management &= M e &I A B

DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Executive Directors (continued)

ZANG QIUTAO - VICE-CHAIRMAN

aged 57, is the Vice-chairman of the Company. He is also the Vice-
chairman of China Everbright Group Limited and China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited. Mr. Zang is the Chairman of China
Everbright Industry Group Limited and China Everbright Investment
Management Corporation. He is also the Deputy Chairman of China
Everbright Limited. Mr. Zang graduated from the Graduate School of the
Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. He was formerly the Division Chief
of the State Economic Commission and Deputy Division Director of the
State Planning Commission. He joined the Board in September 2004.

LI XUEMING — VICE-CHAIRMAN

aged 62, is the Vice-chairman of the Company. He is also an Executive
Director and Deputy General Manager of China Everbright Group Limited
and China Everbright Holdings Company Limited. He is the Chairman
of Shanghai Everbright Convention and Exhibition Center Co., Ltd. and
Vice-chairman of China Everbright Industry Group Limited and China
Everbright Investment Management Corporation. Mr. Li is also a Non-
executive Director and Deputy Chairman of HKC (Holdings) Limited.
Mr. Li holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial Automation from Tsinghua
University. Prior to joining the China Everbright Group in 1998, he was
the Vice-president of China Aerospace International Holdings Ltd. Mr. Li
joined the Board in June 2003.
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DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Executive Directors (continued)

CHEN XIAOPING — CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

aged 56, is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also a
director of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, a Standing
Director of China Environmental Culture Promotion Association, a
Director of World Eminence Chinese Business Association and a
Financial Expert of Shenzhen Expert Working Federation. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chen had been a department head in the Bureau
of Investigation & Supervision of The People’s Bank of China, the
Assistant Governor of China Everbright Bank Company Limited and
the President of the Bank’s Guangzhou Branch. He graduated from
the Department of Finance of the Southwest University in Finance and
Economics, the PRC, finished the MBA class of the Research Institute
of Business Management of Sichuan University, the PRC and holds a
Master’s Degree with a major in Money & Banking from the Department
of Finance and Trade of the China Research Institute of Social Science.
He holds the title of Senior Economist and Certified Public Accountant in
the PRC. He has comprehensive experience and knowledge in banking,
capital market and management. Mr. Chen joined the Board in August
2001.

WANG TIANY! — GENERAL MANAGER

aged 48, is the General Manager of the Company. Prior to joining the
Group, he was the President of Shandong Academy of Science. He was
formerly the Deputy Mayor of Jinan City of Shandong Province. He had
been the Vice President, Dean and Professor of Economic Management
Faculty of Yantai University of Shandong Province. He is currently also a
part-time professor and doctoral tutor of Shandong University. He holds
a Doctorate’s degree in Economics, a Master’s degree in Management
and a Bachelor’s degree in Electronics from Tsinghua University. He
had pursued advanced studies at Harvard University and University of
California in the United States. Mr. Wang joined the Board in February
2010.
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DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Executive Directors (continued)

WONG KAM CHUNG, RAYMOND - CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

aged 46, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He holds a
Master of Business Administration Degree, a Master of Management
Degree in Information Technology Management from Macquarie
University, Australia, and a Bachelor of Arts with Honours Degree in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales, a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
of United Kingdom and a Certified General Accountant in Canada. He
has extensive experience in accounting, finance and auditing areas.
Mr. Wong joined the Board in December 2002.

ZHANG WEIYUN

aged 53, is the Executive Director of the Company. She is also the
General Manager of Finance Management Department of China
Everbright Holdings Company Limited. Ms. Zhang holds a Bachelor’'s
Degree in Economics from the Shanxi Financial University. She joined
the China Everbright Group in 1991 and was formerly Deputy Division
Chief of Capital Division and Division Chief of the General Affairs Division
of Finance Management Department of China Everbright Group Limited.
Ms. Zhang joined the Board in December 2002.

Non-executive Director

FAN YAN HOK, PHILIP

aged 60, is the Non-executive Director of the Company. He is also an
independent non-executive director of HKC (Holdings) Limited and Hysan
Development Company Limited. Mr. Fan holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Industrial Engineering, a Master’s Degree in Operations Research from
Stanford University and a Master’s Degree in Management Science
from Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Fan had been an executive director of CITIC Pacific Limited in charge
of industrial projects in China. He joined the Board in November 1997
and was re-designated as the Non-executive Director of the Company in
January 2010.
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DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Independent Non-executive Directors

THE HON SIR DAVID AKERS-JONES, GBM

aged 82, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company.
Sir David is the Chairman of GAM Hong Kong Limited. He is the
Deputy Chairman and Independent Non-executive Director of CNT
Group Limited, the Independent Non-executive Chairman of Hysan
Development Company Limited and the Independent Non-executive
Director of K. Wah International Holdings Limited. He is also a chairman
and member of various voluntary organizations. He received his Master
of Arts Degree at Oxford University. He was formerly the Chief Secretary
of Hong Kong. He joined the Board in March 1995.

LI KWOK SING, AUBREY

aged 60, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Li is the Chairman of MCL Partners Limited, a Hong Kong based
financial advisory and investment firm, and has over 30 years’ experience
in merchant banking and commercial banking. He is also a non-
executive director of The Bank of East Asia, Limited, Café de Coral
Holdings Limited, CNPC (Hong Kong) Limited, Kowloon Development
Company Limited and Pokfulam Development Company Limited. Mr. Li
has a Master of Business Administration from Columbia University and a
Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering from Brown University. He joined
the Board in November 1998.

MAR SELWYN

aged 74, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Mar graduated from the London School of Economics, University of
London. He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is a partner of Nexia Charles Mar Fan & Co. He is an
independent non-executive director and chairman of the board audit
committee of Standard Bank Asia Limited. He is also an independent
non-executive director and chairman of the audit committee of
Minmetals Land Limited and Man Yue International Holdings Limited.
He was formerly an independent non-executive director and Deputy
Chairman of Mitsumaru East Kit (Holdings) Limited until 7 July 2008. He
was the President of Hong Kong Society of Accountants (now known as
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in 1991. Mr. Mar is
an Honorary Fellow of the Lingnan University and appointed member of
the Court of Lingnan University by the Chief Executive of the HKSAR. He
joined the Board in September 2004.
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Directors and Senior Management &&= M 2R EEAE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT SREEAS
POON YUEN LING ELIE

aged 42, is the Company Secretary of the Company. She is an associate IR F425% * BARBZ ARWE - WAE
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and BT WE LS N BESFWERITHRAR
The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. She joined A&7 &+ o BN — N ANEN A NAKE
the Group in April 1994, with over 10 years of experience in company & @~ B@T+FE QA TIME RITHEEEE
secretarial and administration areas.
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Report of the Directors

EEQHS

The directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2009.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

China Everbright International Limited (“the Company”) is a company
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and has its registered office
and principal place of business at Room 2703, 27th Floor, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to
the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) during the
financial year are set out in note 12 to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers of the
Group respectively during the financial year is as follows:

The largest customer BRARF

Five largest customers in aggregate AAREFER
The largest supplier BAHER

Five largest suppliers in aggregate AARHEREE

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.
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Report of the Directors EE & RE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

@)

920

In June 2004, Qingdao EB-VW Waste Water Treatment Co.,
Ltd. (“Qingdao EB-VW”, a subsidiary of the Company) entered
into an operation and maintenance agreement with Qingdao
Veolia Water Operating Company Limited (“Qingdao Veolia”, an
associate of the Group). Pursuant to the agreement, Qingdao
EB-VW will subcontract to Qingdao Veolia the provision of the
operation and maintenance services in respect of the waste-water
treatment plants (“the Plants”) in Qingdao, the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”). During the year ended 31 December 2009,
service fee for the operation and maintenance of the Plants paid/
payable to Qingdao Veolia amounted to HK$41,907,000 (2008:
HK$39,237,000).

In June 2004, Qingdao EB-VW entered into a waste-water
treatment agreement with Qingdao Municipal Drainage Company
(“Qingdao Drainage”, a minority shareholder of Qingdao
EB-VW). Pursuant to the agreement, Qingdao EB-VW will provide
waste-water treatment services and other related services to
Qingdao Drainage on an exclusive basis. During the year ended
31 December 2009, waste-water treatment revenue received/
receivable from Qingdao Drainage amounted to HK$87,617,000
(2008: HK$75,388,000).

In June 2004, Qingdao EB-VW entered into a technical assistance
agreement with Veolia Water Asia Limited (“Veolia Asia”, a
subsidiary of a minority shareholder of the Group). Pursuant to the
agreement, Veolia Asia will provide technical assistance to Qingdao
EB-VW in respect of the operation and maintenance of the Plants
in Qingdao, the PRC. During the year ended 31 December 2009,
technical assistance fee paid/payable to Veolia Asia amounted to
HK$2,209,000 (2008: HK$2,209,000).

In November 2007, Everbright Water (Jiangyin) Limited (a subsidiary
of the Company) and Jiangyin City Xin Guo Lian Investment and
Development Co., Ltd. entered into a waste water treatment
service agreement with Jiangyin Construction Bureau and Jiangyin
Finance Bureau to provide waste-water treatment services and
other related services. During the year ended 31 December
2009, waste-water treatment revenue received/receivable from
Jiangyin Finance Bureau amounted to HK$122,117,000 (2008:
HK$65,830,000).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed
these connected transactions and confirmed that such transactions

were:

entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they are
on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the
Group than terms available to or from independent third parties;
and

in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The directors have requested the auditors of the Company to perform
certain agreed upon procedures on the continuing connected
transactions and have received a letter from the auditors as required
under Rule 14A.38 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”).

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTIONS

@)

On 10 January 2009, the Company entered into a co-operative
agreement with the Bureau of City Appearance, Environment and
Sanitation of Jinan City (“Jinan Environmental Bureau”) in relation to
the construction, operation and management of a waste-to-energy
power plant in Jinan City, the PRC.

On 29 July 2009, the Company and Everbright Environmental
Energy (Jinan) Co., Ltd. (“EB Energy (Jinan)”, a subsidiary of the
Company) entered into a concession right agreement with Jinan
Environmental Bureau, pursuant to which, Jinan Environmental
Bureau granted a right to EB Energy (Jinan) to invest in, and to
design, construct, operate and maintain a waste-to-energy power
plant in Jinan, the PRC for a period of 25 years.

On the same date, EB Energy (Jinan) entered into a waste
treatment service agreement with Jinan Environmental Bureau,
pursuant to which, EB Energy (Jinan) will provide waste treatment
services to Jinan Environmental Bureau on an exclusive basis for a
period of 25 years.

The transactions constituted discloseable transactions as
defined by the Listing Rules and were announced by way of
announcements by the Company on 11 January 2009 and 29 July
2009 respectively.
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Report of the Directors EE & RE

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)  On 19 October 2009, Everbright Environmental Energy (Zhenjiang)
Co., Ltd. (“EB Energy (Zhenjiang)”, a subsidiary of the Company)
entered into a concession right agreement with Zhenjiang City
Urban Management Bureau (“Zhenjiang Management Bureau”),
pursuant to which, Zhenjiang Management Bureau granted a right
to EB Energy (Zhenijiang) to invest in, and to design, construct,
operate and maintain a waste-to-energy power plant in Zhenjiang,
the PRC for a period of 30 years.

On the same date, EB Energy (Zhenjiang) entered into a waste
treatment service agreement with Zhenjiang Management Bureau,
pursuant to which, EB Energy (Zhenjiang) will provide waste
treatment services to Zhenjiang Management Bureau on an
exclusive basis for a period of 30 years.

The transactions constituted discloseable transactions as
defined by the Listing Rules and were announced by way of an
announcement by the Company on 19 October 2009.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 106 to 221.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES

Profits attributable to shareholders, before dividends, of HK$408,477,000
(2008: HK$365,391,000) have been transferred to reserves. Other
movements in reserves are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

An interim dividend of HK1.0 cent per share (2008: HKO.6 cent per
share) was paid on 21 October 2009. The directors now recommend
the payment of a final dividend of HK1.2 cents per share (2008:
HK1.0 cent per share) in respect of the year ended 31 December 2009.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$1,277,000 (2008: HK$1,273,000).

FIXED ASSETS
Details of the movements in fixed assets during the year are set out in
note 13 to the financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 30(c) to the financial statements. Shares were
issued during the year on placing of new shares by the Company to
broaden the capital base and exercise of share options.

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the Company’s listed
securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

DIRECTORS
The directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive directors
Tang Shuangning, Chairman
Zang Qiutao, Vice-chairman
Li Xueming, Vice-chairman
Chen Xiaoping, Chief Executive Officer
Wang Tianyi, General Manager
(appointed on 21 February 2010)
Wong Kam Chung, Raymond,
Chief Financial Officer
Zhang Weiyun

Non-executive director
Fan Yan Hok, Philip (re-designated on 20 January 2010)

Independent non-executive directors
Sir David Akers-Jones

Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey

Mar Selwyn

In accordance with articles 73, 77, 78 and 79 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr Wang Tianyi, Mr Fan Yan Hok, Philip, Sir David Akers-
Jones, Mr Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey and Mr Mar Selwyn will retire from the
board at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

The non-executive directors of the Company including the independent
non-executive directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election. Sir David Akers-Jones, the independent non-executive
director was appointed for a term of one year until 31 December
2010. Whereas Mr Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey and Mr Mar Selwyn, the
independent non-executive directors were appointed for a term of two
years until 31 December 2011. Mr Fan Yan Hok, Philip who had been
re-designated as non-executive director of the Company on 20 January
2010 was appointed for a term until 31 December 2010. They are all
subject to retirement in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association as indicated above.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The directors and chief executive of the Company who held office at
31 December 2009 had the following interests in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company, its holding companies,
subsidiaries and other associated corporations (within the meaning of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) at that date as recorded in the
register of directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO:

() Long position in shares of equity derivatives of the
Company

Nature of
interest

Rty

Name of director

Wong Kam Chung, Raymond ~ &$758 Personal 1[E A
Fan Yan Hok, Philip SBiCEe Personal 1[E A
Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey T2 Personal 1[E A

BEEE)

RARPBERTES (BIEBNIFERITES)E
ZAEETFH  UEARFAREEZRT - &2
BB+ (B IRTESR) 2R TFH AR —
F O HEE_F-ZF+_A=+—HIE - =F
BELAERSRELAE(VIABIIENTE
BIZEAFHABRFT EE-_T—F
+—A=+—H8lit - BLCBEER-_ZT—F
F—A-THFATALARARERITES -
HEEFHPEE T ZTF+_A=+—H
1F - REAN EXFTliRBE A A E) 2 A R4
BI&IR o

EEZREEL

AR m e E AR AT Y B 3 A B A B A BT
ZBRBFAEG LIRBEEZERFI LA
R—FRRMNEE(—REEREERIN) T
Rz RIERRIEEH

ESRIRTHRASFHAZRG - 1HE
I REFEERRE

BRARBIRERE 75 M B E 55 3521547 €
ATHFECEERTIZTHRAERGE AR
BrfprEaEEs  R_FTEAFT A
=t BEEZARREENERITHAR
RZAEARRE - HERAR - HBARK
HitB B AR (ER A EF KRR 2 I
0 R MBS TS S

() REQXTRBBRATEIAZHER

Number of
shares Percentage
38 E Bk
(ordinary shares)
(B#ER)
1,000,000 0.03%
7,500,000 0.21%
1,000,000 0.03%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS EERIFETBAEEGZERG - HHE

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING R RESESIRE(E)

SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

(i) Long position in underlying shares of equity derivatives of (i) RARATHEBERORATEIAEZHAE
the Company

Number of
equity
derivatives Number of
Nature of held underlying
interest BERE shares Percentage
Name of director e TETAME HERkHEE Bk
(share options) (ordinary shares)
(BBIRIE (B#BRR)
Zang Qiutao RS Personal & A 4,000,000 4,000,000 0.11%
Li Xueming Z=E38H Personal & A 22,000,000 22,000,000 0.60%
Chen Xiaoping PR/ NS Personal & A 21,000,000 21,000,000 0.58%
Wong Kam Chung, =158 Personal {& A 3,000,000 3,000,000 0.08%
Raymond
Zhang Weiyun RE= Personal & A 5,000,000 5,000,000 0.14%
Fan Yan Hok, Philip B Personal {iE A 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.05%
Sir David Akers-Jones ErpiEL Personal fAA 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.03%
All the above shares and underlying shares of equity derivatives it B AR (D PR A STE TR (FE
(being unlisted and physically settled) were beneficially owned by MR EWEE ) RMAEBESENEA o
the directors concerned. The percentages shown were calculated FRFABRZEBDHUARTN -ZEE
based on the number of issued shares of the Company as at NE+-_A=+—HE %7 HE Bt
31 December 2009. o

Further details relating to the options granted to the directors and chief BREAATIMEZEER FETHAE R HER
executive of the Company are set out in the section “Share option  iEHHE—FSEFIEEHF T30 BEIRESTE| | —&0 o
scheme” below.

Apart from the foregoing, none of the directors and chief executive  fg F PRt E ) - AR ATIEEBZARHE
of the Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen (&5 35238 B T2 B 2 B0 FrE sk
years of age has interests or short positions in the shares, underlying Z&/R @ AAFRIREERTETHAERKS
shares or debentures of the Company, or any of its holding companies, 7 {F{aJEC sk + )\ s IA ™ 2 F B E AR A
subsidiaries or other associated corporations, as recorded in the register 7] « E{EA[IZRE AT B A Bk &
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified AT Z J&15 - AR D Sk (EH P B #EZE 5k
to the Company pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions XA skiRIE T AT EEHTE AL H 212
by Directors of Listed Companies. ESFHIBHE NN T ZHEZSTORA ©
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on
26 May 2003 whereby the directors of the Company are authorised, at
their discretion, to invite employees of the Group, including directors of
any company in the Group, to take up options to subscribe for shares of
the Company. The purpose of the scheme is to provide an opportunity
for employees of the Group to acquire an equity participation in the
Company and to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value
of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. The share option scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years ending on 25 May 2013, after which no
further options will be granted.

The exercise price of options is the highest of the nominal value of the
shares, the closing price of the shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”) on the date of grant and the
average closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant. The options are
exercisable six months (or a later date as determined by the directors
of the Company) after the date on which the options are granted for a
period up to ten years or 25 May 2013, whichever is earlier.

The total number of securities available for issue under the share option
scheme as at 31 December 2009 was 254,831,170 shares (including
options for 64,387,000 shares that have been granted but not yet
lapsed or exercised) which represented approximately 7% of the issued
share capital of the Company at 31 December 2009. In respect of
the maximum entitiement of each participant under the share option
scheme, the number of securities issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant in any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue.

Offer of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted when the
letter comprising acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee
together with a remittance of HK$1 is received within 28 days from the
date of offer. The share option scheme will expire on 25 May 2013.

At 31 December 2009, the directors and employees of the Company
had the following interests in options to subscribe for shares of the
Company (market value per share at 31 December 2009 was HK$4.0)
granted at nominal consideration under the share option scheme of
the Company. The options are unlisted. Each option gives the holder
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of HK$0.1 each of the
Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

No. of
options
outstanding
atthe
beginning
of the year
2
HRITEZ
RhREyE

Directors ]

Zang Qiutao HiNE 2,000,000

2,000,000

Li Xueming 2

9,000,000

9,000,000

2,000,000

2,000,000
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No. of

shares

acquired on

exercise

of options

during

the year
EMT

RRIRAERE\

ZRHBHE

RERztERTE(2)

No. of
options Period
outstanding during
atthe which
year end options are
FR Date exercisable
WA granted ke
RiRiEHE RHBH ZiTER
2,000,000 3 August 2006 3 August 2007 to
ZEENE 25May 2013
NB=H “TRR
NA=HRZE
—F--F
RA-tEA
2,000,000 3 August2006 3 August 2008 to
“EENE 25 May 2013
AV =! —EEN\E
NA=RZE
—E=F
RA-tEA
9,000,000 29 September 29 March 2004 to
2003 25 May 2013
3 —EEmE
AB=thB ZA-thABZ
=%
RA=-t+EA
9,000,000 29 September 29 September
2003 2004 to
e 25May 2013
AA=tNR —TIME
hAZTHAZE
=%
RA-tEA
2,000,000 3 August2006 3 August 2007 to
“IERE 25 May 2013
NA=AR ZTTLE
NB=BZE
—E-=F
RR=t+EA
2,000,000 3 August 2006 3 August 2008 to
ZEENE 25May 2013
AV ==t —EENE
NA=RZE
—Z-=F
TA-thH

Exercise
price per
share

BRTHER

HK$0.85
0857

HK$0.85
%0857

HK$0.296
02967

HK$0.296
10,2067

HK$0.85
BH50.857T

HK$0.85
0857

* Market
value per
share at
date of
grant of
options

* AR
RtiA%Z
BiRmiE

HK$0.85
%0857

HK$0.85
%0857

HK$0.296
02067

HK$0.296
70,2067

HK$0.85
0,857

HK$0.85
%0857

* Market
value per
share on
exercise of
options

* B
{7
BRHE
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) REixtEsT &)

No. of
No. of shares * Market
options  acquired on No. of value per * Market
outstanding exercise options Period share at value per
atthe  of options outstanding during date of share on

beginning during atthe which grantof  exercise of

of the year the year year end options are Exercise options options

)| FERfTE FiR Date exercisable priceper  * REEIRIE * RRlhE

HATEZ  BREBA  ERTEZ granted Rl share  RHAMZ  fTEERZ

Directors BhRESE ZRHBE BREXE ! i BRATEE BREE 2 SkHE

ChenXiaoping  B/NE 9,000,000 (20000000 7,000,000 29 September 29 March 2004 to HK$0.296 HK$0.296 HK$2.41
2003 H5May2013  BHo206m 0.0 BE24T

“EE5=F “EENE
NAZthBE =A=thRBZE
—E-=F
TA=-t+HA
9,000,000 - 0000000 29September  29September  HK$0296  HK$0.296 =
2003 2004t0  AM0296T  EH02967

ZEE=F  25May2013
AAZ+NA “EENE

NRE=THhRZE
—T—=F
TA=t+HA
2,500,000 - 2,500,000 3 August2006 3 August 2007 to HK$0.85 HK30.85 -
“EESF 25May 2013  BH08T  AH085T
N\R=H g
NA=RZ
—T—=F
il by =
2,500,000 - 2,500,000 3 August2006 3 August 2008 to HK$0.85 HK$0.85 -
“ETNE BMay2013  E®08T  BR08ST
NR=H “EENF
VEGE
£E:+£E
Wong Kam Chung, =552 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 3 August 2006 3 August 2007 to HK$0.85 HK$0.85 -
Raymond —EEF 25May2013  AH085T %085
N\B=H g
NA=B%
:2—:$
TA-t+HRA
1,500,000 - 1,600,000 3 August 2006 3 August 2008 to HK30.85 HK$0.85 -
“EERE 25May 2013 A8 AK08ST
NB=H “ZTN\E
NA=R%
—E2-=F
TA=-tHA
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Directors

Zhang Weiyun

Fan Yan Hok,
Philip

No. of
options
outstanding
atthe
beginning
of the year
2
ERITREZ
EiREyE

£

REZ 2,000,000

2,000,000

500,000

500,000

BB 2,000,000
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No. of

shares

acquired on

exercise

of options

during

the year
EMfT

REIRAERR

ZBRHHE

No. of
options
outstanding
atthe

year end
R
BFRTELZ
RiRE"E

2,000,000

2,000,000

500,000

500,000

2,000,000

Date
granted

29 September
2003

29 September
2008
3
AAZtAR

3 August 2006
T

—TTR

NA=H

3 August 2006
2B

NA=H

3 August 2006
EERE
NR=R

RERztERT I (2)

Period
during
which
options are
exercisable
Rl
Z1TER

29 March 2004 to
25 May 2013
“TENE

29 September
2004 1o

25May 2013
“EENE
MNAZTNAZE
—F—=F
TA-thH

3 August 2007 to
25 May 2013
IS 3
NA=HZ
“E—=F
RA-tEA

3 August 2008 to
25May 2013
—ZT\F
NA=RZE
—T-=F
RA-tEA

3 August 2008 to
25 May 2013
“FRNE
NA=RZ
—F-=F
RA=thA

Exercise
price per
share

BRITRE

HK$0.296
7402967

HK$0.296
710,297

HK$0.85
70,857

HK$0.85
0857

HK$0.85
BES0.85TC

* Market
value per
share at
date of
grant of
options

* AR
bl z) v
BiRTH{E

* Market
value per
share on
exercise of
options

* g
fTiessz
BEHE

HK$0.296 =
7402967

HK$0.296 =
71502967

HK$0.85 =
AH0.857

HK$0.85 -
70,857

HK$0.85 -
0857
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

No. of
No. of shares

options  acquired on No. of

outstanding exercise options

atthe  ofoptions outstanding

beginning during at the

of the year the year year end
) ERTR £ Date
HATEZ  BREBA  ERTEZ granted

Directors BRENE ZRH¥E ERENE
Sir David SR 500,000 - 500,000 29 September
Akers-Jongs 5t 2003
—E5-F
AAZTIA
500,000 = 500,000 29 September
2003
—EE=E
AA=ThA
Employees EE 6,694,000 (4,994,000 1,700,000 3 August2006
—TTRX \E

NR=

13240000 (85530000 4,687,000 3 August 2006
“EERE
NA=R

*

Being the weighted average closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares
immediately before the dates on which the options were granted or exercised, as
applicable.

The options granted to the directors are registered under the names
of the directors who are also the beneficial owners. Information on the
accounting policy for share options granted and the weighted average
value per option is provided in note 1(r)(i) and note 29 to the financial
statements respectively.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the Company,
or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate.
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RERRHESTEI(Z)
* Market
value per * Market
Period share at value per
during date of share on
which grantof  exercise of
options are Exercise options options
exercisable  priceper  *JABERRHE * FlE
BRE e BHANZ  fEE2
el SBRTEE SRHE 2 SkiE
29 March 2004 to HK$0.296 HK$0.296 -
25May 2013 B%0.206  AH0.2067T
—EENE
= I =ES
2=
RA=tEA
29 September HK$0.296 HK$0.296 -
00410 ABB0206T  AMK0.296T
25 May 2013
ZEImE
hA=ThAZ
RA-1TA
3 August 2007 to HK$0.85 HK$0.85 HK$3.05
BMay2013  B¥08T  EH08T 06T
e a2
NA=R%
—Z—=F
RA-TEA
3 August 2008 to HK$O.85 HK$O.85 HK$3.09
BMey2013  BB085T  BB08s T AT
“FEN\F
VE:
AA-15A

* B R E B AE B R FE AR s AT R IR AT
EEA) B AT Z IR (E o

EEBBRENAES Z2HERERL -
ENaBmBEAA - ARAERHBERIE
AR MG EIE 2 NI EE
&K 70 ) B B 5 R B o — () (i) B B =

B XXt &S Z—E$¢F§*WETEJH%F§ » A
RA - EAEFERAT - HEQRKFEREMN
B TIE/AEHKH HEARRA]2E
EAHEBEARRREAEMEAER 2K
EEFMEGFeS -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

The Company has been notified of the following interests in the
Company’s issued shares at 31 December 2009 amounting to 5% or
more of the ordinary shares in issue:

B KRB ARAR]
(eR&EE D) (H72)

China Everbright Holdings Company
Limited (“CEH”") (Note)

Note: Out of the 1,758,595,910 shares, 1,758,215,910 shares are held by Guildford
Limited (“Guildford”). Guildford is owned as to 55% by Datten Investments
Limited (“Datten”) and the remaining 45% by CEH. Datten is wholly-owned
by CEH. The remaining 380,000 shares are held by Everbright Investment &
Management Limited (“EIM”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CEH. Accordingly,
CEH is deemed to be interested in the 1,758,215,910 shares held by Guildford
and the 380,000 shares held by EIM.

Apart from the foregoing, no other interests required to be recorded in
the register kept under section 336 of the SFO have been notified to the
Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the date of
this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance to which the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZFF#

FERIRRREH A L7 IR 5 R AR B 5
PHAZERRXE

AR EER - TEZAF+_A=1+—HB#%
BARRNRE BTG 2 EREDBEITERR
5%k A 2 BRI ¢

Long position Percentage
in ordinary of total
shares held issued shares
PRz {GZEBEFT
3e 30 =] 174
1,758,595,910 approximately
48.32%

#148.32%

KBizt - £ 1,758,695,910 B& A% 15 H &
1,758,215,910 f& J3 B Guildford Limited
(T Guildford |) # & ° Guildford J B Datten
Investments Limited ([ Datten | ) & 55% A% # -
HER45% IR N REBIFA © DattenBR A%
Bz 2EMEBAR o H#380,0000% %1% A
HAREEZ2EWBRRINAREETEFRA
AI([HRIREERDIFHE Ut - AREER
R /%6 Guildford P A 2 1,758,215,9108% A%
5 BRI EEIRFTHE A 2 380,0000% A7

B EXFT S - AARR EEEAH
ARCERNRIRRE 75 R B R 5E 3361 TFE 2
Brof R s

RAPATVHIRE
REBEARRRFHIEZER - ARARE]
EEMA - RAFHRTIZHBY - NQRMR
ETRRAIFTRE 2 ARFFRE -

EEREHzER
REFLBSARFEREARRE - ARF - H
EAER AR - BB A RSk FE R B D FE
BV EMARREESRBEANGZCER
BH -
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COMPETING INTEREST

As at the date of this annual report, as far as the directors are aware,
Mr Li Xueming is a non-executive director and Mr Fan Yan Hok, Philip
is an independent non-executive director of HKC (Holdings) Limited, a
company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange and its business activities include
property development and investments, alternative energy investment,
infrastructure, and in particular, waste-to-energy, are considered to
compete or likely to compete with the business of the Group. Although,
Mr Li Xueming and Mr Fan Yan Hok, Philip are non-executive director
and independent non-executive director of HKC (Holdings) Limited
respectively, they do not engage in the daily operation of HKC (Holdings)
Limited and thus the Group is capable of carrying on its business
independently from HKC (Holdings) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report and as far as
the directors are aware, none of the directors or their respective associates
had any interests in a business which competes or may compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group or any other conflicts
of interests with the Group.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and the
Group as at 31 December 2009 are set out in notes 24, 26 and 27 to
the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 222 and 223 of the annual
report.

PROPERTIES
Particulars of the major properties of the Group are shown on page 224
of the annual report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Company provides retirement benefits to all local eligible employees
in Hong Kong under an approved defined contribution provident fund (“the
ORSO Scheme”). The ORSO Scheme is administered by trustees, the
majority of which are independent, with its assets held separately from
those of the Company. The ORSO Scheme is funded by contributions
from employees and employers at 5% each based on the monthly
salaries of employees. Forfeited contribution may be used to reduce the
existing level of contribution by the Company.
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RAFEHRTERL - RESMHM - FTEHAK
ERBEBEEDHRBEARZR(EB) AR
NEIZIFRITEENIBIUIFNITES - ZA
AR BRETMRL 2 BRAR - HRH
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B EXFTREESN  RMAFHRTERE - 51
EEMA SESANRESAIHBEALH
BN R R BRI T ] BB
F(TRERIER) 2FK - TEEANEE
BEAEMFRER -

RITEF R HMES

KRB EAERR -_ZEZNF+_A=1+—
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RAFEEEHE
AEBBERBEAMRFEZEENEESRE
EMEHNERFE222H K FE223H o

E/E 3
AEE 2 FRYEFBHNFHRF224H -

BiREHE
ARPERFBEBEEAMEERERRE
RAlEBER AR ([BER KT ERDIFT
g11) - BRI EIRBIEH Bl M EFEA CKED
MARBMEFEN)ERE  REEEARRIZE
ENFRFE - B8 RMET BB RN
SERPIFHEIHR - DRI REE AFN5% ° 08
WA BIE AR A TR B AR 2 5 -
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES (continued)

As from 1 December 2000, the Group also operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and
not previously covered by the ORSO Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement scheme administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$20,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the
retirement schemes operated by the local authorities. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to these
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to these schemes is the required contributions under the
schemes.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to income
statement during the year ended 31 December 2009 amounted to
HK$9,412,000.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

AUDITORS

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A
resolution for the reappointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company is
to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the board

Tang Shuangning
Chairman

Hong Kong, 10 March 2010
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

VR R YGRS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA EVERBRIGHT
INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Everbright International Limited (“the Company”) set out on pages 106
to 221, which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets
as at 31 December 2009, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
staterment of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstaterment.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31 December 2009 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

10 March 2010
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Conso

AR Bmac

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &%

iIdated Income Statement

—FPAF A= BLEEONBRIE)

Turnover HEE 3&12 1,765,996 1,862,509
Direct costs and operating expenses  EEK AN &L E A (991,074) (1,208,838)
774,922 653,671

Other revenue H b las 4 62,093 28,819
Other (loss)/income Hb (EE) WA 4 (31) 52,378
Administrative expenses T E R (164,661) (127,128)
Valuation gains on investment KREMEGERR

properties 13 4,888 -
Profit from operations BEER 677,211 607,740
Finance costs B8R 5(a) (170,262) (147,188)

506,949 460,552

Share of profit of associate PGB & A R & A 6 588 —
Profit before taxation BB E Z T 5 507,537 460,552
Income tax FriSi 7(a) (99,060) (95,161)
Profit for the year FEEREF 408,477 365,391
Attributable to: FE{EER D -
Equity shareholders of the Company AN &A% R 10 371,898 339,018
Minority interests VeI R S 36,579 26,373
Profit for the year RKEERF 408,477 365,391
Earnings per share BiEA N
Basic HR 11.39 centsflll 10.80 cents{ll
Diluted #E 11.19 centsflll 10.59 cents{ll

The notes on pages 116 to 221 form part of these financial statements.
Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company

attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 30(b).
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Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

I\‘/T\ = i\ﬁzl:é/\/\

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &% —

TRNE A= +—BILEROERE)

Profit for the year REERH 408,477 365,391
Other comprehensive income for the year: AEEHB2TKA :
Exchange differences on translation of BmEN B AR IERE

financial statements of subsidiaries EECERER 815 155,926
Reserves realised on disposal of subsidiaries HER B A BT IR 2 = (30,718)
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale securities &5 A 7 [EE E) (1,604) (37,484)

(789) 87,724

Total comprehensive income for the year XEE2ERANERSE 407,688 453,115
Attributable to: FEAGER 1) :
Equity shareholders of the Company Vi /N1 371,030 408,659
Minority interests DB R i e 36,658 44,456
Total comprehensive income for the year KREEZHENLEZE 407,688 453,115

The notes on pages 116 to 221 form part of these financial statements. FHRE116 B 2 F221 B 2 Mzt A S8 53R
RZ—EbD ©
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
e EEBRE

At 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A =2 T A&+ = A=+—H(LABK1E)

Non-current assets

Fixed assets

- Investment properties

— Other property, plant and
equipment

Intangible asset
Goodwill
Interest in associate
Other financial assets
Other receivables

and deposits
Gross amounts due from

customers for contract work

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Debtors, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

Gross amounts due from

customers for contract work

Pledged bank deposits
Deposits with bank
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Bank loans

- Secured
— Unsecured

Creditors, other payables and
accrued expenses
Current taxation

Net current assets

Total assets less current
liabilities carried forward
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13(a)

14
15
17
18
19

20
28(b)

21

19

20
22

23

24

25
28(a)

24,467

143,544

168,011

553,828

46,133

588

21,385

1,736,218

3,174,793

22522

5,723,478
13,150
603,772
302,596
29,425
51,062
1,043,785
2,943,790
380,395
315,927
696,322
481,481
10,017
1,187,820

1,755,970

7,479,448

19,574

144,999

164,573

577,754

46,133

22,336

1,386,280

2,686,012

26,538

4,909,626
11,501
421,444
259,052
109,349
27574
562,132
1,391,052
370,377
175,664
546,041
471,031
9,165
1,026,237

364,815

5,074,441
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
meEBEERER

At 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 7 —

TENF A=+ RUNBEE)

Total assets less current
liabilities brought forward

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans

- Secured
— Unsecured

Other loans

Loans from ultimate holding
company

Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital
Reserves

Total equity attributable to
equity shareholders of
the Company

Minority interests

TOTAL EQUITY

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

10 March 2010.

Chen Xiaoping
BRI
Director

EF

The notes on pages 116 to 221 form part of these financial statements.
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24

26

o7
28(b)

30(c)

7,479,448
1,326,383
926,179
2,252,562
39,715
112,707
144,698

2,549,682

4,929,766

363,932

4,208,900

4,572,832

356,934

4,929,766

BEEER_F—
17

Wang Tianyi
EFS -

Director

EF

RZ—EBD ©

1,178,690
604,862

1,783,662
68,064

212,958
78,826

5,274,441

2,143,400

3,131,041

314,378
2,505,237

2,819,615

311,426

3,131,041

TE= A+ ARE R

HNE116BE R FE221 B 2 st ALtS

BT R
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Balance Sheet

BERERX

At 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A =2 T A&+ = A=+—H(LABK1E)

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

Interest in subsidiaries
Other financial assets

Current assets
Other receivables, deposits

and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Bank loans

— Secured
— Unsecured

Other payables and accrued
expenses

Net current assets

Total assets less current
liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans

Loans from ultimate holding
company

NET ASSETS
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13(b)

16
18

23

24

24

27

2009
“BThEF

$000
Fr

$000
Fr

2,852

2,214,767

4,649

2,222,268
21,349
1,296,275
1,317,624
30,000
80,000
110,000
20,941
130,941

1,186,683

3,408,951
77,500

77,500

3,331,451

2008
—EENF
$000
Tt

$000
FT

3,971

2,109,235

6,573

2,119,779
15,456
190,110
205,566
30,000
100,000
130,000
38,933
168,933

36,633

2,156,412
107,500
100,420

207,920

1,948,492
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Balance Sheet
BERX

At 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A= 2T A&+ = A=+—H (LAEE1E)

2009
—EBEBAE
$°000 $°000

Tt T
CAPITAL AND RESERVES  IRA& R s 30(@)
Share capital [N 363,932 314,378
Reserves s 2,967,519 1,634,114
TOTAL EQUITY s 3,331,451 1,948,492

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on #EEE@R-T—TF= A+ A& NRFa] &%

10 March 2010. 17 °

Chen Xiaoping Wang Tianyi
BRINE EP S
Director Director
3 3

The notes on pages 116 to 221 form part of these financial statements. &1 165 F221 B 2 sk Rt SR 8w
&2 D
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FaEn PR

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &&=~ 22 hE+ = A=+—R I FE (B E)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
FABREENG

Capital
Share Special redemption Capital
premium reserve reserve reserve
R fyiia(E WG EXEDRE ARGk
$'000 $°000 $'000 $'000

T T Fx Fx

Balance at 1 January 2008 WR=FENE—H—H
24t

313,472 737,989 = 70 11,628
Changes in equity for 2008: =TT /\F2HELsEE) :
Dividend approved in respect of A4 E 2 #h/EZ IRE
the previous year 30(o)(ii) - - - - -
Shares issued under share ﬂ%f fBRER &
option scheme 112 Betn 30(c) i 906 9,429 - - (2.,645)
Goodwill transferred on disposal H& ’% Bﬁ BRaRER
of subsidiaries kS = - - - -
Equity-settled share-based ARG 2 BRAR 5
transactions - - - - 2,385
Capital contributions received ~ FJE2EMB A Tmé D
by non-wholly owned A& EEUER TS
subsidiary from minority &R
shareholder - - - - -
Total comprehensive income  AFEEEEUALEEE
for the year - - - -
Transfer to reserve fund BEERHES - - - -
Dividend paid to minority EXHTLEREZ
shareholder [hs - - - - -
Dividend declared in respect of  AEEE TR RS
the current year 30(b)() - - - - -
Balance at 31 December NEFBNE
2008 +=-H=+—H2%& 314,378 747,418 - 70 11,368
Balance at 1 January 2009 R-ZFFh&E—HA—H
pd it 314,378 747,418 - 70 11,368
Changes in equity for 2009: Z—FThEFEZELSES) :
Dividend approved in respect of A4 EE i /EZ IRE
the previous year 30(o)(i) = - - - -
Shares issued under share BRI ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ'gﬂ
option scheme BT 7R 30(c)ii) 1,554 15,092 - - (4,540)
Issue of ordinary shares BITER 30(c)(ii) 48,000 1,385,035 - - -
Capital contributions received by FE%2 ﬁMT BRI DE
non-wholly owned subsidiary BB UE TS 2.
from minority shareholder HE&RE - - - = -
Total comprehensive income  AFEREMWALEE
for the year
Transfer to reserve fund BREEHES
Dividend paid to E?zﬁiw R
minority shareholder I8 = - - = -
Dividend declared in respect of $ET EEIRZKE
the current year 30(o)() - - = - -
Balance at 31 December R-BThE
2009 +=BA=+—H2%8% 363,932 2,147,545 = 70 6,828

The notes on pages 116 to 221 form part of these financial statements. HNE116EEE 221 B v Wit B Ik S ER
T —Eb
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Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FAEIRFEREG
Goodwill
arising on
consolidation Exchange Fair value Retained Minority
¥ reserve reserve profits interests Total equity
B it ARERE RERF DERRER

$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000

Fr Fi Fi Fr T

(12,614) 180,990 37,591 20,007 1,161,958 2,451,091 152,335 2,603,426
- - - - (31,367) (31,367) - (31,367)

- - - - - 7,690 - 7,690

10,808 - - - (10,808) - - -

- - - - - 2,385 - 2,385

- - - - - - 116,320 116,320

- 107,125 (37,484) - 339,018 408,659 44,456 453,115

- - - 10,530 (10,530) - - -
_ B _ - - = (1,685) (1,685)
- - - - (18,843) (18,843) - (18,843)

(1,806) 288,115 107 30,537 1,429,428 2,819,615 311,426 3,131,041
(1,806) 288,115 107 30,537 1,429,428 2,819,615 311,426 3,131,041
- - - - (31,447) (31,447) - (31,447)

- - 12,106 - 12,106

= - 1,433,035 - 1,433,035

- - - - - - 10,552 10,552

736 (1,604) - 371,898 371,030 36,658 407,688

= = 31,312 (31,312) - = -
- = = - - - (1,702) (1,702)
- - - - (31,507) (31,507) - (31,507)

(1,806) 288,851 (1,497) 61,849 1,707,060 4,572,832 356,934 4,929,766
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
I\‘/—_I—\/\EE 7 ;/ZEE?%

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &%

BTN AST— ARG

Operating activities EEEE
Profit before taxation Br AR A& A 507,537 460,552
Adjustments for: R
— Valuation gains on investment properties —REMEHERH 13 (4,888) =
— Depreciation —E 5(c) 14,619 12,922
— Amortisation of intangible asset — B A ERH 5(c) 24,079 23,843
— Finance costs — BB 5(a) 170,262 147,188
— Dividend income from listed securities — FEHREWA 4 (2,577) (1,186)
- Bank interest income —IRITA A 4 (8,809) (7,515)
— Share of profit of associate — GBS A R &R 6 (588) -
— Profit on disposal of subsidiaries —HERB AR ZEF 4 - (51,778)
— Net loss/(gain) on sale of other property, —HEEMWYE - BE
plant and equipment R BEER/
(Yezs )5 eE 4 31 (600)
— Equity-settled share-based payment — AR A 2 e
expenses XX 5(b) - 2,385
— Effect of foreign exchange rates changes —EREE TR 128 12,457
Operating profit before changes in BESSEERZ
working capital EERF 699,794 598,268
Increase in inventories FEEN (1,646) (5,235)
Increase in debtors, other receivables, FEMSARSR - EL b FEURIE
deposits and prepayments e MFE LM (531,792) (832,953)
Increase in gross amounts due from EWEPA#IIEFA
customers for contract work HAZEIE (531,546) (960,830)
Increase in creditors, other payables and EEHEE%( - Hibpesoa
accrued expenses NETEREM 10,336 127,357
Cash used in operations HEHAZRE (354,854) (1,073,393)
Interest received BUF S 8,809 7,515
People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) income Bt A R AE
tax paid (TR E ) PrisTt (28,336) (20,889)
Net cash used in operating activities TEEHMEBAZIREFE (374,381) (1,086,767)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
I\‘/T\ E/% N7 ;ﬁ%%

For the year ended 31 December 2009 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z= — 22 M F+ = A=+—H IFEE (AEKTE)

Investing activities REE
Payment for the purchase of other property, ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%% TR Kk

plant and equipment o (13,184) (54,208)
Proceeds from sale of other property, Hj%, J‘M@J% BB R 7%

plant and equipment P50 13 1,627
Decrease/(increase) in pledged Eﬁﬁfﬂfﬂ_ N

bank deposits (32hn0) 79,953 §45,3263
Increase in deposits with bank SRI T g 0 (23,481) 10,559
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, HENB AR TS TIE

net of cash disposed (BEHBLERT) = 187,088
Dividend received from listed securities B EmESTRE - 878
Retum of investment from unlisted securities  JF - #& s 2 1% & B 1,924 65
Decrease in loan receivable BRI = 79,755
Net cash generated from BEEBMELZES

investing activities FE 45,225 189,320
Financing activities MEES
Proceeds from new bank loans HaRT Emﬁ)ﬂ%?ﬂ 1,338,276 1,158,742
Repayment of bank loans 1%“5%521 &5 (719,545) (340,372)
Proceeds from new loans from BAER A RFEER

ultimate holding company PT{5708 = 200,000
Repayment of loans from ultimate EERERERARER

holding company (100,420) (100,000
Proceeds from other loans H i ERETS IR - 67,416
Repayment of other loans EEEMER (28,367) -
Contributions received by non-wholly owned ~ FE2 A B A I L &R E

subsidiary from minority shareholder WERFTS 2 &5 10,552 116,320
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares BITEmR TS < R 1,433,035 =
Proceeds from shares issued under G e

share option scheme W {n P15 < 508 12,106 7,690
Interest paid EHLE (170,262) (146,768)
Dividend paid to equity shareholders of ERNARRRERRE

the Company (62,954) (50,210
Dividend paid to minority shareholder BERLHIER S (1,702) (1,685)
Net cash generated from financing RETHMEEZIRLFE

activities 1,710,719 911,133
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HERBSEEMEM

cash equivalents GRY )iBEa 1,381,563 (16,314)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January WR—B—BZHLRHAL

Z(EY 562,132 554,863

Effect of foreign exchange rates changes [EZR#igh 2 24 90 23,583
Cash and cash equivalents at Rt+ZH=+—HZHE&R

31 December HEXEEY 23 1,943,785 562,132

The notes on pages 116 to 221 form part of these financial statements. HNFE116E 2 F221 B 2= Bt B &R
RZ—EbD ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

116

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”). A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 2
provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2009 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
and the Group’s interest in associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below:

— investment property (see note 1(g)); and

— financial instruments classified as available-for-sale
securities (see note 1(f)).

—. EEBHBR

(a)

(b)

ETEH
ISR BRI ERREEGAE
B2 FrAEREE MRS ER
([BEMBREEN]) - ZAEEE
Fﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%%}%ﬁﬁ%iﬁiﬁ
A (BEEGFHEINTEES

A ]) Rk E/%Qu%gfﬂ?ﬁﬂ&%i
ﬁ§<< ARG Z IRE M AREL © LI -
HERBERRTEDERBTEBH AR
FARARES MR LR
DR EANKERE - NEBEPTR

Rz T2EFBERIE2EHEIIT
BRI AGRM T E T MG

(BRI 2 BB GRS ER - BRAER
BAREEMAATNASETHIERLA
AR IR ATERA o RARHARE MoB
EEsH R - ARICER Lt s
SEARZ ] RERI BB H
SEAMEHEARRES < FED
RERPNATEERR T - HEREN IS
HRMFEZA ©

BB RAAUEE
BE_TTNF+-_A=t—HL*F
B 2 A MR BN R E R EMH
B AR RASE 2 Bta AR o

R SRR ITIRA 2 R EERE

LRAE  ETINEERBEGUA
AEIRGFR T XS ERRAEE)
RSN -

— REWMERME—Q) &

— SEABEBAYSRIA(R
fitEE—(9) «
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BTSRRI 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
note 38.

Subsidiaries and minority interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZFF#

—. EEEBERE)

(b)

(c)

PR REREREE)

REETEBEYHRE LN 28
BHRAFTREEEIEL HE - A5
KARR - MaxEHIE - At RRRE
FEBRZ ML R BEENA
& WARAXEEER - ZFER
BRBRRIREAEERLEERER
ERZEBERATHEAE 2 SRAM
RESEEMEL - FASEREBKRE
B E Rt B BIARREIEE M AR S H A
BENAGEZREEMEL G ZE
% - BERBF UG ARHIRGEART ©

A B SE FTE R AR R
s - EHEE 2 EBmET S
5 AERIR I R BN B
R - PRSI R DY B EBR
AR - BVA R S EER
BERLMERIRIRER -

EEEERAEEVHRE LR
ERY B BEBRRAERTE 2 H
b ARGEEETHEEE 2 TER
1 SRR HE=1T\ -

B DR R D B RS

B AR AAKEES 2B - KA
SEEREEZER I MBREER
R ABHEFRBEEEMN = - B E
2| o IRRHAIE IR - HaT KR
AT B R -

KRB AR ZRESBIEHIFRG A
EEHARGEMBHRRA - EEE
HERBEBRIL - KRERRRREZE
BERZGMEBARBE X ZME
o2 ERIARE R BN RET A M
TRRAEFBBULIH o WL IRFEIRY
R REARRBZRZMEL 2K
SR ERANRIRARE R Was 2 BRI
A
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

1.

118

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and minority interests (continued)

Minority interests represent the portion of the net assets of
subsidiaries attributable to interests that are not owned by the
Company, whether directly or indirectly through subsidiaries,
and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any
additional terms with the holders of those interests which would
result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. Minority interests are presented in the consolidated
balance sheet within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company. Minority interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
minority interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the minority’s
interest in the equity of a subsidiary, the excess, and any further
losses applicable to the minority, are charged against the
Group’s interest except to the extent that the minority has a
binding obligation to, and is able to, make additional investment
to cover the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports
profits, the Group’s interest is allocated all such profits until the
minority’s share of losses previously absorbed by the Group has
been recovered.

Loans from holders of minority interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet in accordance with
notes 1(0) or (p) depending on the nature of the liability.

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary is
stated at cost less any impairment losses (see note 1(k)), unless
the investment is classified as held for sale.

—. EEERTERE)
(c) MBRARARIBRRER(E)

DR ERIEW IR AR AR EZ K
B EBMBRRIES 2 ESMA
MBARcBEFE  MAKERE
?ﬁlﬁtéﬁ%&%ﬁ?&%ﬁ ANZRKEARTH Ot

B AREEEE WS EESE
if—? MBRBEEROIEEER > D
BRREREEGAEERER E
@mBAT - EARFPR B
D2 - MAPBBERAMEERERSE
Z*&”’\E'JAE#%éTami%&ﬁ ]
BRRPINERARB D BARER
’Aﬂﬂi%ZF‘sﬁ%iW%@ﬁﬁ%@%ﬁ&%E
WAREERDEC °

i D BBCR B 2 B 1R AR B E FE (AP
BRI et - TERRAR D R
Hih D EBER G B R E SRR
BFTib iR DB E AR
NZEBRBRENELRRIME T
ERABRSN - B AR FIBHERE
MPENEETAKE - EEWENE
RAREARE 2 D BBIREHERS
=

PERRESREAZERREME
BZERAAZGHNEL  NERE
ERERRENZE—(0)Z(p) (RFE
BEMEME ) AMBERE -

EARRRIZEERERA  RHBA
B2 B AEREEAIFEEEE
(RLHIE—(k)FIBR : HENBREIRED
WINERFEARERIRRID
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BTSRRI 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recorded at cost and adjusted
thereafter for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share
of the associate’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see note 1(k)). The Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the associate and any impairment
losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated income
statement, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the associate’s other comprehensive income
is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition
of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the associate, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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—. FEEBER(E)
(d) BEELQH

Ba AR RIEANEBE AR E A LA
HEEEREBEEAFENNRA &
BB EMPE S EBER ORTE - B
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REHE N B 2 RERIBREECALR
BUHHRERA - A BERED KT
ERFERERIRIN - RIEEDE - A
BRI E BRI AEAR - HRIEA
SEMEEE AREEFERKBEER
Z BB R T AR ENEEE
BIFH AR (RME— (k) » AEEPRT
REEE N BINAFE R 2 WBETIRE
i AR EREIES N R S R R E
R MANEE T2 AR 2 WiEE
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RUER
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

1.

120

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination or an investment in an associate over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination
and is tested annually for impairment (see note 1(k)). In respect
of associates, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in
the carrying amount of the interest in the associate and the
investment as a whole is tested for impairment whenever there is
objective evidence of impairment (see note 1(k)).

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of a business combination or an investment in an
associate is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

On disposal of a cash-generating unit or an associate during the
year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included
in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Also in accordance with the transitional arrangements under
HKFRS 3, goodwill which had previously been taken directly to
reserves (i.e. goodwil which arose before 1 January 2001) will
not be recognised in profit or loss on disposal or impairment of
the acquired business, or under any other circumstances.

—. EEEEHR(EZ)
(e) BE

BENEEEHIIEBE QR 2K
AIBBA R E RGBSR 7 # 5l
BE BEMIBREZAAFEZ
2 o

BB AMER R R E RS

EBAHMBIBESRIEES
EReEEENKSHEREEEEN
(FRHIeEL A BRNE) - XAE
FERBRAFH(EME—(K) - e
RAME @ BB REESF AR
A“T%ﬁZ%ﬁ@W (DESE=S-F)
BERRHRMEER  EeHARNEE
Eﬂ%fj%%haﬁﬂat(ﬁiMTuf K) °

EREAHIREBMERRR - 41
SERERBEB 2 IHNEE

BERSEREBZARFHESRAA
18 BHZ SR EIRERER -

FEW& —HREeLEEMIKHE
RAE EEEEW%ﬁﬁéﬁAm
FHENER S BERFTAES

BEAN - ARIBE S B 2RI B 35R
ZBEG BFIBBERBR L EX
HIRFERES - SRAEEFEMBERT -
BEERARBBEZBZEIN_F
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) —. FESHBERE)
() Other investments in equity securities (N EHtRAFRHRKRE

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments in
equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associate, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at fair value,
which is their transaction price unless fair value can be more
reliably estimated using valuation techniques whose variables
include only data from observable markets. Cost includes
attributable transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified as current
assets. Any attributable transaction costs are recognised in
profit or loss as incurred. At each balance sheet date the fair
value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss does not include any dividends or interest earned
on these investments as these are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out in notes 1(u)(v) and (viii).

Investment in equity securities that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured are recognised in the balance sheet at cost less
impairment losses (see note 1(k)).

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of the above
categories are classified as available-for-sale securities. At
each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with
any resultant gain or loss being recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in
the fair value reserve, except foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from changes in the amortised cost of monetary items
which are recognised in profit or loss. Dividend income from
these investments is recognised in profit or loss in accordance
with the policy set out in note 1(u)(viii). When these investments
are derecognised or impaired (see note 1(k)), the cumulative
gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the
Group commits to purchase/sell the investments.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZFF#
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

122

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1())) to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are stated in the balance sheet at fair
value. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or
from the retirement or disposal of an investment property is
recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is accounted for as described in note 1(u)(vi).

Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment are stated in the balance
sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 1(K)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over
the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 50 years after the date of

completion.
— Leasehold 10 years or over the remaining
improvements term of the lease, if shorter

—  Fumniture and fixtures

—  Motor vehicles,
electronic equipment
and other fixed assets

5to 10 years
3to 12 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BTSRRI 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

@i

@)

Intangible asset (other than goodwill)

Intangible asset represents toll bridge operating right. The
intangible asset is stated in the balance sheet at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see note 1(k)).

Amortisation of intangible asset is charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 30 years. Both
the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset
or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment
or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based
on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a
lease.

() Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as being held under finance
leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified
as operating leases, except that land held for own use
under an operating lease, the fair value of which cannot
be measured separately from the fair value of a building
situated thereon at the inception of the lease, is accounted
for as being held under a finance lease, unless the building
is also clearly held under an operating lease. For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that the
lease was first entered into by the Group, or taken over
from the previous lessee.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

1.

124

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the
leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum
lease payments, of such assets are included in fixed assets
and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are
recorded as obligations under finance leases. Depreciation
is provided at rates which write off the cost of the assets
over the term of the relevant lease or, where it is likely that
the Group will obtain ownership of the assets, the life of
the asset, as set out in note 1(h). Impairment losses are
accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy as
set out in note 1(k). Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments are charged to profit or loss over the period of
the leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged
to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property is classified as an
investment property (see note 1(g)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BTSRRI 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Impairment of assets

)

Impairment of investments in equity securities and other
receivables

Investments in equity securities (other than investments in
subsidiaries: see note 1(k)(ii)) and other current and non-
current receivables that are stated at cost or amortised cost
or are classified as available-for-sale securities are reviewed
at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable data that comes to the
attention of the Group about one or more of the following
loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; and

a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment in an equity instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exist, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

— For investment in associate recognised using the
equity method (see note 1(d)), the impairment loss is
measured by comparing the recoverable amount of
the investment as a whole with its carrying amount in
accordance with note 1(k)(i). The impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount in
accordance with note 1(k)(ii).
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BN SR M ot

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk %78 £85I

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

() Impairment of investments in equity securities and other
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receivables (continued)

For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the carrying amount of the financial asset and the
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset where
the effect of discounting is material. Impairment losses
for equity securities carried at cost are not reversed.

For trade and other current receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of these
assets), where the effect of discounting is material.
This assessment is made collectively where financial
assets carried at amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status, and
have not been individually assessed as impaired. Future
cash flows for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical loss
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics
similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment
loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount
exceeding that which would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BN RS HaR M t

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 57A B3I

A BABHEE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of investments in equity securities and other

receivables (continued)

— For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss
that has been recognised in the fair value reserve
is reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of the
cumulative loss that is recognised in profit or loss is
the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any
principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect
of available-for-sale equity securities are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in
the fair value of such assets is recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding
assets directly, except for impairment losses recognised
in respect of debtors included within debtors, other
receivables, deposits and prepayments, whose recovery
is considered doubtful but not remote. In this case, the
impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using
an allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that
recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is
written off against debtors directly and any amounts held
in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to
the allowance account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

1.

128

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at each balance sheet date to identify indications that the
following assets may be impaired or, except in the case
of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may have decreased:

— property, plant and equipment (other than properties
carried at revalued amounts);

— intangible asset;

— investments in subsidiaries (except for those classified
as being held for sale); and

—  goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1.

BN RS HaR M t

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of other assets (continued)

(i)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce
the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

1.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

(0

(i) - Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see
notes 1(k)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect
of goodwill and available-for-sale equity securities carried
at cost are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the
case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the
end of the financial year to which the interim period relates.
Consequently, if the fair value of an available-for-sale equity
security increases in the remainder of the annual period, or
in any other period subsequently, the increase is recognised
in other comprehensive income and not profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories, mainly comprise spare parts and consumables
used in the repairs and maintenance of the waste-water
treatment plants, waste-to-energy power plants and solid waste
landfill, are carried at cost less provision for obsolescence.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula.
When inventories are consumed, the carrying value of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in profit or loss.
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BTSRRI 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 57A B3I

1.

A BABHEE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Construction contracts

(n)

Construction contracts are contracts specifically negotiated
with a customer for the construction of an asset or a group
of assets, where the customer is able to specify the major
structural elements of the design. The accounting policy for
contract revenue is set out in note 1(u)(i). When the outcome
of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract
costs are recognised as an expense by reference to the stage
of completion of the contract at the balance sheet date. When
it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately. When the outcome of a construction contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Construction contracts in progress at the balance sheet date
are recorded in the balance sheet at the net amount of costs
incurred plus recognised profit less recognised losses and
progress bilings, and are presented in the balance sheet as the
“Gross amounts due from customers for contract work” (as an
asset) or the “Gross amounts due to customers for contract
work” (as a liability), as applicable. Progress billings not yet
paid by the customer are included in the balance sheet under
“Debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments”.

Debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments

Debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments
are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts
(see note 1(k)), except where the receivables are interest-free
loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment terms
or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases,
the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment
of doubtful debts.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZFF#

—. EEEBERE)
(m) BEEH

(n)

BEAKNEARNERFHEE—EE
EX—HEEMABRER AL

BEBRFEERRTZEEEE
15 o BHWAZ SETBER ST
—(u)(i) ° fHBESAR] SEH AT RIER LY
2R AR ASL2BREERAZ
BHTRIRERRAT L - A 448

XARB R BEBIB S MBI A - B2 R
R TERSEER A o W TeER
ST TRRALYOZKER - AIBLIK
ARELBEERAT L -

REEBRREETRZTIERK &
BEELEZERAMEE#RZ B
AR EC R < BiE MREE R 2
REAREERER  IREER
BERTE2IBIEEETFAHITER
REEIEREE) S ENEFEH
TRFARAREI(ERRE) (RAEE

) - BPHAXN 2 EERBHEE
ERERP[ R - EMEUEK
A e RANTER ALK -

FEWERR - HMEWRE - BER
BANRE

FEUPRTR ~ EfbRIFIR ~ e MR
3 IE%)]*% DA ERER - HRAR
B AR AR IE R R EIIR(R
BiFE—(k) » HENE BB MGRIE B4
TEBMAGCZREERR  MABER

I B E B R S BRI B H I A
BRON o HUIER T - BRERKEIRIR
PXAMEIR AR IE BRAE IR DR o

131



Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

1.

132

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

(P)

(a)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised
cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees
payable, using the effective interest method.

Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses
Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses are initially
recognised at fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities
measured in accordance with note 1(t)(i), creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses are subsequently stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated cash flow statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Employee benefits

)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value
is measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes
Option Pricing Model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the options
will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that
is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the capital reserve. On the vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate
to the market price of the Company’s shares. The equity
amount is recognised in the capital reserve until either
the option is exercised (when it is transferred to the share
premium account) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZFF#

— EE=E

st BUR (&)

) EEER

()

(i)

FTHIE B 15 7| R FE BB B KAt
I

e FEIA FEEFR
2l - ERRHFURIRET BN 3E
& AR 2 AN IE B SR AR5
ZEEERER o (e R FORAE &
RERD R - BREZEANIZIRE
5II8E o

KRIMER

B BEFRBERE . DA ESHR
RBETRA - MEEZAZER
AR ZIE I - 2AETD
KL BB A R —EF#
H I MgEEEEN  UKEER
Bt 2 R R E - B
1B B7A1T & UGN 73 AT S (6 {F
FERERREN - EERBK
RAEMHRARIL - BRRE S
AAARERBRELEMBRNEED
AR ©

KRR - fEETA AR B
B SEHRE o BRIERRMN
BTXHNAEERAZENR -
BRAEMNEEEEFERRAZR
ARREZHBRAERNFALZ
BaERPEAEE - YHEEAR
FEEIEREREE - EEREH -
BRIEFERBERT & ARG 5 B
MERKARERAR R BI D 2 THE
B SRR R EZ2RR
EWERECEREE FAE
(WEBANHEEIFEEAR) - 1
SEREEAFETER  BEE
BREETE(BRERDEE
i) B EER(EREAR
BAEM) BIE -

133



Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

1.

134

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Employee benefits (continued)

(i) - Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

(s) Income Tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred
tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax
credits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Income Tax (continued)

—. EEERERE)
(s) Fri&®i(4E)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss
or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwiill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the
case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BTSRRI 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk ZAERRIN - FiA & REABETE)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Income Tax (continued)

136

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

— inthe case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

— inthe case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESEBIABETHE)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities
(i)  Financial guarantees issued ]

—. EEEBERE)
() SBHMBER BRERIBEAEE

EZ IR

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse
the beneficiary of the guarantee (“the holder”) for a loss
the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

PG HEIR T 2 R BT A (BNHELR
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m

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair WA SR E B SRR - IR
value of the guarantee (being the transaction price, unless ZAREAIRZE - BRIEZ

the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially
recognised as deferred income within creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no
such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition
of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred
income is amortised in profit or loss over the term of the
guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued.
In addition, provisions are recognised in accordance with
note 1(t)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes probable that the
holder of the guarantee will call upon the Group under the
guarantee, and (i) the amount of that claim on the Group
is expected to exceed the amount currently carried in
creditors, other payables and accrued expenses in respect
of that guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B SR M ot

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk ZAERRIN - FiA & REABETE)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent

liabilities (continued)

(i)  Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

(u) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if
applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in
profit or loss as follows:

() Construction contracts
When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, contract revenue and expenses are
recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of
completion of the contract.

The stage of completion is assessed by reference to
surveyors of work performed. When the outcome of a
construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract
revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs
incurred that are likely to be recoverable. An expected loss
on a contract is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESEBIABETHE)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

(i)

()

v)

(vi)

Service concession arrangement

Revenue relating to construction services under a service
concession arrangement is recognised based on the stage
of completion of the work performed, consistent with the
Group’s accounting policy on recognising revenue on
construction contracts (see (i) above). Operation or service
revenue is recognised in the period in which services are
provided by the Group. When the Group provides more
than one service in a service concession arrangement the
consideration received is allocated by reference to the
relative fair values of the services delivered.

Toll bridge revenue
Toll bridge revenue, net of business tax, is recognised upon
usage of the bridge.

Revenue from waste-water treatment plants, waste-to-
energy and methane-to-energy power plants and solid
waste landfill operation

Revenue from waste-water treatment plants, waste-to-
energy and methane-to-energy power plants and solid
waste landfill operation services are recognised when the
related services are rendered.

Finance income
Finance income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the use of leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

1.

140

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Property management fee income
Property management fee income is recognised when the
related services are rendered.

(viij) Dividends
Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

(ix) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the balance sheet
initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group
for the cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset
by way of reduced depreciation expense.

(v) Translation of foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”). The financial statements is presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is both the Company’s presentation currency and
functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance
sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

—. EEEHBRE)
(v) SNEBRE(E)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance
sheet items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
foreign exchange rates at the balance sheet date. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in exchange
reserve. Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign operation
acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign
exchange rate that applied at the date of acquisition of the
foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss
on disposal is recognised.

(w) Borrowing costs

Borrowings costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
are being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.
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1.

142

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(x) Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the Group if:

)

(i)

(i)

()

the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial and
operating policy decisions, or has joint control over the
Group;

the Group and the party are subject to common control;

the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in
which the Group is a venturer;

the party is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent, or a close family member
of such an individual, or is an entity under the control, joint
control or significant influence of such individuals;

the party is a close family member of a party referred to in
(i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals; or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the
benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity that is a
related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
individual in their dealings with the entity.

—. EEEEHR(EZ)
(x) EBEEALL

UL FERHHRERME - RALRRE

RENEE AR - 0

) RALBRENEEKFEREB—
Bz Z @R ALE %HK‘EI 2
AT AR H B 76 B AR R SR S K

KETEEATEN i%ﬁ$
SE KRS

(i) ZEE R AR RS

(i) RALANEEZEBE QR

SERAENZREDRE

V) ZAEBARERAREG AT

ZEEEEAR - ARBRAAL
ZIEBFRERE - HEZEF RS
NS - REAREHHEARY

.
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V) %Z}\&Z%(i)ﬁﬁ?ﬁZ%&%ﬁ%Eﬁiéi
% F BRI A LIRS
EHHREATEZER EJZ

(vi) BIREREENTAKERESKESE
ERAN c B 2 R ERERIR AN
BEK

1IE|J}\&2L%E%J?EXETET?4@E
ERAFEZERRS I REKE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESEBIABETHE)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(y) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA has issued one new HKFRS, a number of amendments
to HKFRSs and new Interpretations that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group and the Company:

HKFRS 8, Operating segments

HKAS 1 (revised 2007), Presentation of financial statements

Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —
improving disclosures about financial instruments

Improvements to HKFRSs (2008)

Amendments to HKAS 27, Consolidated and separate financial
statements — cost of an investment in a subsidiary, jointly
controlled entity or associate
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B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

HKAS 23 (revised 2007), Borrowing costs

Amendments to HKFRS 2, Share-based payment — vesting
condlitions and cancellations

HK(FRIC) 15, Agreements for the construction of real estate

HK(FRIC) 16, Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

The improvements to HKFRSs (2008), amendments to HKAS 27,
HKAS 23 and HKFRS 2 and Interpretations HK(IFRIC) 15 and
HK(IFRIC) 16 have had no material impact on the Group’s financial
statements as the improvements, amendments and interpretations
were consistent with policies already adopted by the Group or were
not relevant to the Group’s and the Company’s operation. The
impact of the remainder of these developments is as follows:

144

HKFRS 8 requires segment disclosure to be based on the
way that the Group’s chief operating decision maker regards
and manages the Group, with the amounts reported for each
reportable segment being the measures reported to the Group’s
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of assessing
segment performance and making decisions about operating
matters. This contrasts with the presentation of segment
information in prior years which was based on a disaggregation
of the Group’s financial statements into segments based on
related products and services. The adoption of HKFRS 8 has
resulted in the presentation of segment information in a manner
that is more consistent with internal reporting provided to the
Group’s most senior executive management. Corresponding
amounts have also been provided on a basis consistent with
the revised segment information.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

— As aresult of the adoption of HKAS 1 (revised 2007), details of
changes in equity during the period arising from transactions
with equity shareholders in their capacity as such have been
presented separately from all other income and expenses
in a revised consolidated statement of changes in equity. All
other items of income and expenses are presented in the
consolidated income statement, if they are recognised as part
of profit or loss for the period, or otherwise in a new primary
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Corresponding amounts have been adjusted to
conform to the new presentation. This change in presentation
has no effect on reported profit or loss, total income and
expense or net assets for any period presented.

— As a result of the adoption of the amendments to HKFRS 7,
the financial statements include expanded disclosures in note
31(f) about the fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
instruments, categorising these fair value measurements into
a three-level fair value hierarchy according to the extent to
which they are based on observable market data. The Group
has taken advantage of the transitional provisions set out
in the amendments to HKFRS 7, under which comparative
information for the newly required disclosures about the fair
value measurements of financial instruments has not been
provided.

3. TURNOVER
The principal activities of the Group are construction, environmental
protection project operation (waste-water treatment plants,
waste-to-energy power plants, methane-to-energy power plants
and industrial solid waste landfill), environmental technology
and construction management, toll bridge operation, property
investments and management and investment holding.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ SA3TEESN - FIESEIABEEE)

3. TURNOVER (continued)

. EEW(E)

146

Turnover represents the revenue from construction contracts,
revenue from waste-water treatment plants, waste-to-energy power
plants, methane-to-energy power plants and industrial solid waste
landfill operation services, finance income, toll bridge revenue, rental
income and property management fee income. The amount of each
significant category of revenue recognised in turnover during the
year is as follows:

EXRBEEREESOMNE - RBFKE
B NIRRERER  BREERM
TR ERREYIRES 2 &8 & R
MBWA -~ WERRKE - HSWAKR
MEEEBRA - FADHEEREPHE
RH)FIAE B SR RINBERIA T

Revenue from environmental water project

RORKHEIA B iR e

construction services 530,516 505,460

Revenue from environmental energy and IRIREEIR K FTREIRIA B 1215
alternative energy project construction services ARis Mz 268,078 595,006

Revenue from environmental water project IRIR/KIESTE B B2 RIS
operation services 325,890 241,642

Revenue from environmental energy and IRIREER R FRERIA B E &
alternative energy project operation services PRSI 206,501 138,362
Finance income BAFSUL A 319,986 254,206
Toll bridge revenue WBRBRY 113,737 107,589
Gross rentals from investment properties KEYHEAS B 1,288 15,825
Property management fee income VEEBRERA - 4,419
1,765,996 1,862,509

The Group has transactions with the PRC local government
authorities which in aggregate exceeded 10% of the Group’s
revenues. In 2009, revenues from environmental water project
construction and operation services, revenues from environmental
energy and alternative energy project construction and operation
services and finance income derived from local government
authorities in the PRC amounted to $1,650,971,000 (2008:
$1,734,676,000). The revenues are included in “Environmental
energy and alternative energy project construction and operation”
and “Environmental water project construction and operation”
segments as disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements. Details
of concentrations of credit risk arising from these customers are set
out in note 31(a).

Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed
in note 12 to the financial statements.

AEBEEAPFEE MM EEETRS

FRARGEMAEEREL10% o R
NG - REPBIE HBAT#EE IR
ROKTEIE B @2 REE R E -« RIR
REIR M ETAEIRIE B BiE MEE RS
NMEF U A A1,650,971,0007C(ZEEN
F : 1,734,676,0007T) ° A AT AR
REER L FRERIA R 2 MESE 1D H &
[IRIRKEIEB BRERESE | D EPEER
BHEMTET ) c BEAZEREPTRZ
SHEERRFBEHAMGE=T—(@) -

BERAKBEIEXRB2E—THIBFER
MR RMET = -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

4. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER (LOSS)/INCOME PO, Efhrs & HAth (8538), WA

Other revenue Hitblris
Bank interest income ERITFI B UA 8,809 7,515
Dividend income from listed securities ETEHFZBRBMA 2,577 1,186
Government grant* BT E* 6,412 -
Value-added tax refund™ (B R E - 27,699 13,307
Others Hh 16,596 6,811
62,093 28,819
Other (loss)/income Hith(#518) WA
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR Z&EF
(note 32() (ME=+=0)) = 51,778
Net (loss)/gain on sale of other property, LEEMYZE - HE K&
plant and equipment ZF(E18), M (31) 600
(31) 52,378
* Government grant of $6,412,000 (2008: $Nil) was granted during the year * RBEZZENGFTA=+—AHLFE -

ended 31 December 2009 to subsidise one of the Group’s environmental
water project in the PRC, of which the entitement was unconditional and
under the discretion of the relevant authority.

**  Value-added tax refund of $27,699,000 (2008: $13,307,000) was i
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2009 in relation to
environmental energy project operations in the PRC. The entitement of the
value-added tax refund was unconditional and under the discretion of the
relevant authorities.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

5. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

A. BRBRIRF
BRI ERME M GTA)

(@  Finance costs: @ HBEM:
Interest on bank advances wholly repayable ERRAFRNEHEER
within five years ZIRITERZFIE 42,314 28,502
Interest on other bank advances and other EMIRTERREMER
loans ZAE 126,642 116,192
Interest on loans from ultimate holding SRR AR B ZF B
company 1,306 2,494
170,262 147,188
(b) Staff costs: b)) BIMA:
Contributions to defined contribution TERBHFGRIRGTEIH IR
retirement plan 9,412 6,446
Equity-settled share-based payment VARRAD A+ 2 AR AN 32 5
expenses (note 29) A (fiEFE=+) = 2,385
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENEMET] 101,344 95,339
110,756 104,170
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

A BRBIRIRA(E)
BREAI MR GIA) : (8)

5. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
(continued)

(©) Other items: © HEMEAE :

Amortisation of intangible asset BB 24,079 23,843
Depreciation e 14,619 12,922
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) b 518, (Wes ) F e 4,012 (20,853)
Auditors’ remuneration ZEENE &
— audit services —EZRTE 2,500 3,348
— other services — HAbfR7% 6 325
Operating lease charges: KEREER :

minimum lease payments RVHEEBH
— hire of premises —MEMEE 2,396 1,579
Research and development e M e E 2,984 1,188
Rentals receivable from properties EWERSRERZE Y H

less direct outgoings of $313,000 313,0007L( =T NEF -

(2008: $1,087,000) 1,087,0007T) (975) (14,738)

6. SHARE OF PROFIT OF ASSOCIATE

7. FisEtE AT RF

Share of profit of associate before taxation Frb B & A Bl R 27 588 -
Share of associate’s taxation Sl NG = -
588 =
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7.

150

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT

Income tax in the consolidated income statement represents:

@)

Current tax - PRC income tax

FHBIE - PEFREH

+. GERERZFEH

Provision for the year INE B R 36,492 23,460
(Over)/under-provision in respect of BAEFERECER) TR
prior years (7,304) 194
29,188 23,654
Deferred tax IBERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary TREREARED
differences 69,872 71,507
99,060 95,161

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
financial statements as the Group’s operations in Hong Kong
sustained a loss for Hong Kong Profits Tax purpose during
the year. Taxation for the PRC operations is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the PRC. During
the year, certain PRC subsidiaries are subject to tax at 50% of
the standard tax rates or fully exempt from income tax under
the relevant tax rules and regulations.

Included in over-provision in respect of prior years of the Group
are tax credits of $4,615,000 (2008: $Nil) recognised by a
PRC subsidiary in respect of the purchase of domestically
manufactured equipment pursuant to CaiShuiZi [2000] No. 49
Notice on Relevant Issues Concerning the Offset or Exemption
of Enterprise Income Tax for Foreign Investment Enterprises for
Investment in the Purchase of Domestically Made Equipment.

RRNFERAAEE 2 BB EBRIHIA
B1R - MU NS B B A R
EBNEHIELEE - FEEH
BB P BERITEERR KRGS - F
A RIBEABRISERELER - BT
o B Y B X RHRAT TR R 50% AT
TR EEHE BTSN -

EAEEAATFERERT Z 25
B eRE—RERNBARREEE
BlE#E MR E(RRINEIRE b
MINBACEBEERELHERERSE
RSB BB E ) (B
F(2000)49%5%) FriER 2 B &
4,615,0007C( —ZT)\4F : &) o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME +t. GEERRZHABH(E)
STATEMENT (continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at ) REAMETE 2B HEEHA
applicable tax rates: F 2 £k -

Profit before taxation BRI AT 507,537 460,552
Notional tax on profit before taxation, RRTHET S REER

calculated at the rates applicable to 2 RSB R B BR B AT

profits in the tax jurisdictions concermned BHFE AETIE 134,902 110,412
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR HH 2 Bl TE R 2 7,141 5,033
Tax effect of non-taxable income SERBUA 2 BB & (4,441) (16,819)
Tax effect of profits entitled to tax AZEHERIEREEE 2 &

exemption in the PRC ZHIES 2 (54,306) (26,316)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not FRERMBRMER 2 AT KI0EE

recognised ZBEEE 5,028 2,421
Tax effect of withholding tax on TERFTS I BB A )

undistributed profits of PRC subsidiaries ADIRER Z TiTg & 18,040 20,236
(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior BEFEEECETR), TR

years (7,304) 194
Actual tax expense ERBIEL H 99,060 95,161
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION N, EE2
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the RIBEB(RTHEBNDE161ESIHRcES
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: D3 UNNE

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits Retirement
Directors’ inkind Discretionary scheme Share-hased

fees g A bonuses contributions ~ Sub-total  payments
EEfie  REVAG  BRTRD BKHEER Nt RBER
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
r r r r r r

Executive directors BiTES
Tang Shuangning BEE - 30 - - 30 - 30
Zang Qutao k= - 1,699 - - 1,699 - 1,699
Li Xueming TER - 1,694 - - 1,694 - 1,694
Chen Xiaoping BNE - 2,170 3,000 - 5170 - 5170
Fan Yan Hok, Philip* BE - 1,813 1,300 154 3,267 - 3,267
Wong Kam Chung, iRk
Raymond - 1,325 1,000 115 2440 - 2440
Zhang Weiyun K= - 878 - - 878 - 878
Independent BUETES
non-executive
directors
Sir David Akers-Jones ERGHT 130 45 - - 175 - 175
Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey ZE2 120 45 - - 165 - 165
Mar Sefwyn SR 120 45 - - 165 - 165
310 9,744 5,300 269 15,683 - 15,683
* MrFan Yan Hok, Philip resigned as General Manager and executive director * RZE-TEE-F-+H - BEEART
and was re-designated as non-executive director on 20 January 2010. I8 I TE BETS  WHATAIENITE

EFo
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) N EER&(E)
Salaries, Share-based
alowances and Retirement payments
benefitsinkind  Discretionary scheme (Note)
Directors' fees %% » 28 bonuses  contrloutions Sub-total BB
EEZ 0k £ REEA RGBSR NG (Firz)
$000 ' $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T 7 7
Executive directors HiTES
Tang Shuangning BEE - 25 - - 25 - 25
Zang Qutao #ikE = 1,694 = = 1,694 170 1,864
Li Xueming TEm - 1,689 - - 1,689 170 1,859
Chen Xiaoping =8 = 2,165 2,850 - 5015 213 5,228
Fan Yan Hok, Philip BB - 1,808 1,150 147 3,105 170 3275
Wong Kam Chung, Eiit
Raymond - 1470 950 120 2,540 128 2,668
Zhang Weiyun KE= - 873 - - 873 43 916
Independent BUEHTES
non-executive
directors
Sir David Akers-Jones BRRET 130 40 - - 170 - 170
Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey TEE 120 40 - - 160 - 160
Mar Selwyn SR 120 40 - - 160 - 160
370 9,844 4,950 267 15,431 804 16,325
Note: These represent the estimated value of share options granted to the MRE - E%*ﬁﬁ?’&ﬁjﬂ%%ﬁéﬂ%ﬂ%%i$2ﬂ%
directors under the Company’s share option scheme. The value of these i 2 (BEHEE - LSRR 2 BB R
share options is measured according to the Group’s accounting policies ASEBERIE AR 2 AR 5.2 Bt
for share-based payment transactions as set out in note 1 (1. BOR(FEEMFE—M)FHE
The details of the share options are disclosed under the paragraph “Share ARBRIEA B RN E SRR R B E
option scheme” in the report of the directors and note 29. sHE | —f M= -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

9. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS . == EREMERIA T
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, all are directors hEamaTMENALTHAES  BHE
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. BB FHIBERMIEEN ©

10. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY +. RATIRREERF
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of AARBRRELGEERBFBEEBSE
the Company includes a loss of $30,364,000 (2008: profit of 30,364,000 T (ZZEZE)N\NF : BF|
$93,532,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements 93,532,0007T) B A AR EZ Bt ik
of the Company. A o
Reconciliation of the above amount to the Company’s profit for the il BEFRNARARRBFEROT
year:

Amount of consolidated (loss)/profit BIIARR RIS hk 2 B

attributable to equity shareholders dealt FE(E4RA (E518), B R

with in the Company’s financial statements (30,364) 93,532
Final dividends from subsidiaries attributable B — B8 B (R B A )

to the profits of the previous financial year, E R F LI 1

approved and paid during the year ZAREARR B 31,136 39,240
Company’s profit for the year (note 30(a)) FRARQFBM(HE=1@E) 772 132,772
Details of dividends paid and payable to equity shareholders of the B REMKATIRR 2R EFFIBEEHRN
Company are set out in note 30(b). MsE=+()
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE - SREF
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BERERER

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of
$371,898,000 (2008: $339,018,000) and the weighted average
number of 3,264,504,000 ordinary shares (2008: 3,138,338,000
ordinary shares) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

TR EARBF| THIR R AN 7] mAR I
B pE(E & F371,898,0007C (ZEE )\
F : 339,018,0007T) R FAE 1T
1 IR & hN#E - 5 £4.3,264,504,000 A%
TEA% (—ZTZ )\ : 3,138,338,000
AREBAR)FTE - EFTE AT ¢

BB I8

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R—A—HEETEER 3,143,778 3,134,721
Effect of ordinary shares issued BEETERRFE

(note 30(c)(ii)) (M=) 115,726 -
Effect of share options exercised BB E

(note 30(c)(ii) (FH3E= (o)) 5,000 3,617
Weighted average number of ordinary R+ A=1+—Hz2EER

shares at 31 December 58 3,264,504 3,138,338
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11.

156

EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company of $371,898,000 (2008: $339,018,000) and the
weighted average number of 3,322,968,000 ordinary shares
(2008: 3,202,232,000 ordinary shares), calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

+- BiREN(Z)
(b) EREEFRF
SIRESE AR TR AR R B
B E(E & F371,898,000 T (ZEE
J\SF : 339,018,0007T ) M & 3@ A% hnteE
T 15813,322,968,00008 @Ak (==
T\ : 3,202,232,0000% L@ ML) 5
o Het8AAmT -

BRI P8 ()

Weighted average number of ordinary

RT—A=1t—Hz&EaK

shares at 31 December M58 3,264,504 3,138,338
Effect of deemed issue of shares under AR AR E AR A BB 2

the Company’s share option scheme EEETRO 2T E

for nil consideration (note 29) (fsE=+/) 58,464 63,894
Weighted average number of ordinary RtTZA=+—B2ZLERKk

shares (diluted) at 31 December IRESES 2 () 3,322,968 3,202,232
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12. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its business by divisions, which are organised
by business lines. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the following
five reportable segments. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

— Environmental energy and alternative energy project
construction and operation: this segment engages in the
construction and operation of waste-to-energy power plants,
methane-to-energy power plants and industrial solid waste
landfill to generate revenue from construction services, revenue
from operation services as well as finance income.

— Environmental water project construction and operation: this
segment engages in the construction, upgrade and operation
of waste-water treatment plants to generate revenue from
construction and upgrading services, revenue from operation
services as well as finance income.

—  Environmental technology and construction management: this
segment engages in the conduct of environmental protection
technology research projects and the provision of construction
management services to generate management and
consultancy fee income.

— Infrastructure construction and operation: this segment engages
in the construction and operation of a toll bridge to generate
revenue from construction service and toll fee revenue.

— Property investment and management: this segment engages
in the leasing and management of office premises and shopping
arcades to generate rental and management fee income and to
gain from the appreciation in the properties’ values in the long
term.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZFF#
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12. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities

tZ. SRS (E)
(a) D#EE - BEREE

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and
current assets with the exception of interest in associate,
investments in other financial assets, goodwill, intercompany
receivables and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include current taxation, deferred tax liabilities, creditors, other
payable and accrued expenses attributable to the activities of
the individual segments and borrowings managed directly by
the segments, with the exception of intercompany payables.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation of
assets attributable to those segments. However, other than
reporting inter-segment provision of construction management
services, assistance provided by one segment to another,
including technical know-how, is not measured.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “EBITDA” i.e.
“earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”.
To arrive at EBITDA, the Group’s eamings are further adjusted
for share of profit of associate and items not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as directors’ and
auditors’ remuneration and other head office or corporate
administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
EBITDA, management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment revenue from
construction management services), interest expense from
borrowings managed directly by the segments, depreciation
and amortisation and additions to non-current segment assets
used by the segments in their operations.

JE“*BE'%EEHE&”*BWZ%“/J? o BC

C RNEEZ & *E@F&TW
ﬁ%%kﬂm?ﬁ%ﬁ%Z%ﬁ
ENAE

DEHBEEBRMBENEE  BVE
F MBEE - T EREEE AR’
CREMBPHEEZRE @' -
%@W Bl 2 EYGRIR M E b (b 5
BE - nHREEESEERN DB
FIERBPTES 2 BIETIR - RER
HAE - BAERK - EAENZER
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁmxﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ B2
T BRREREERRR]EZ ERR

W

ﬁo

Wz R 92 E AT IS D BT
Bz W MELZ X BEOE
ZEEMEL ZEIHEEMOEKE
BRADED - A - BR¥RE D ARER
ZEREREIN - K—nEfRs—
7 EBRR A 1B (B HE H R AR
WAAEER e

BRBEDHRAZERTARNE
[EBITDA] - BRIBRAE -~ #5418 « &
KESERIAF)] - BTSHEBITDA -
RNEE 2 BAHE AL E R R AF
Ko A BRRE SR PME (] 5 2B 2 18 B (1)
m: EBEEME - ZEETI S R EH AR
PRI EITHRAA) B —FH% -

BREREBABEBITDAZ D A K
%’ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%kTﬁWTﬂﬂﬁz
DEER: RS (BERERES
BR7 2 5 BB W e )-%ﬁﬂﬁ&a
B EEFBRS RS IPEERFAT
FRZIERBDEAEEZINE - #iH
NIEE o

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 5 B3¢ REIFR AR 22 F)



Notes to the Financial Statements
BTSRRI 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

12. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as
provided to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008 is
set out below.

1 ERERE (2)

() PPEE BERBEE)
BHE_ZZNFR_EZENF+ A
=+—HLFE  AEERERDE
RoHRBATEMArEE RS ERE
EBiRttz o HERET :

Environmental energy

and alternative energy Environmental
project constructionand  Environmental water technology and Infrastructure Property
operation project construction and construction construction and investment and
RRERRHERER operation management operation management Total
BEREE RAKEEERIEREE RANERIREE EERiERER PERERER a5
2009 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2009 2008 2009
“EE “FINE “FIE ¥ 3 “FINE
$000 $000 $000 $000
S T T i T
Revenus from extemal RENEF Rz
customers 615,254 844616 1,035,717 890,060 - - 113,737 107,589 1,288 20244 1,765,996 1,862,509
Inter-segment revenue: HHEkE - - - - 3254 105773 - - - - 254 105773
Reportable segment BPREZ S M
revenue 615,254 844616 1,035,717 890,060 32,544 105,773 113,737 107,589 1,288 20244 1,798,540 1,968,282
Reportable segment profit  ERHEZHRH
(EBITDA) (EBITDA) 302,031 292,148 345,661 229,644 17,505 47,755 107,427 98,928 5730 12,637 778,354 681,112
Interest income from bark ~ S4TERFIERA
depostts 2,395 1,949 2,187 1,326 1,133 426 1,966 1,600 1 8 7,692 5,387
Interest expense FlEXH 71,345 67,175 85,396 60,414 - - 15,163 16,116 - - AT904 143705
Depreciation and amortisation A6 EE47EE e i
for the year 3,059 1,969 5,134 4084 3,048 3,206 24,198 24026 4 159 35443 33,443
Additions to non-current EREEERD
seqment assets during PHEE
the year 415332 708,549 928501 1,263,841 1,163 2997 280 17 - 172 1,345276 2,005,676
Reportable segment BTREZMEE
assets 2,782,766 2365715 3562195 2,762,962 176,511 87,266 616,404 709,398 37,403 3619 7,175,219 5958960
Reportable segment BYBEZHBER
liabilities 1,397,226 1256827 1,736,652 1,063,934 25,510 32,488 327,908 417,089 3,230 2092 3490586 2,772,430
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12. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

160

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit, (b) BEFHRED W

B8R

assets and liabilities

tZ. SERiRE ()

& BAN - BERE

Revenue Wezs
Reportable segment revenue BT HE D B 1,798,540 1,068,282
Elimination of inter-segment revenue D B R (32,544) (105,773)
Consolidated turnover IRE R 1,765,996 1,862,509
Profit &
Reportable segment profit BT REDZLEF 778,354 681,112
Elimination of inter-segment profits HEH S SBE A (31,351) (58,308)
Reportable segment profit derived xR E REBIINAKFE BT

from the Group’s external customers S0 B EF 747,003 622,804
Share of profit of associate ﬁﬁT E NS Pp 588 -
Depreciation and amortisation IrEE K di (38,698) (36,765)
Finance costs iy 3= (170,262) (147,188)
Unallocated head office and corporate AOEMARN ) MIERA

income 7,907 51,702
Unallocated head office and corporate AOBB R MEERY

expenses (39,001) (30,001)
Consolidated profit before taxation SZEBATRR] 507,537 460,552
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets ETREDEEE 7,175,279 5,958,960
Interest in associate Al 588 =
Non-current other financial assets R HMMIEEE 21,385 22,336
Goodwill [EES 46,133 46,133
Unallocated head office and corporate AOBENR NDEEE

assets 1,423,883 273,249
Consolidated total assets IRAEBERE 8,667,268 6,300,678
Liabilities BE
Reportable segment liabilities ETREDEEE 3,490,586 2,772,430
Unallocated head office and corporate AN i NI NG =L

liabilities 246,916 397,207
Consolidated total liabilities SEBERER 3,737,502 3,169,637
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12. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 2 EpERE (E)

(c) Geographic information

(c) EEH

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers
and (i) the Group’s fixed assets, non-current portion of other
receivables and deposits, intangible asset, non-current portion
of gross amounts due from customers for contract work
(“specified non-current assets”). The geographical location
of customers is based on the location at which the services
were provided. The geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on the physical location of the asset, in
the case of property, plant and equipment, and the location of
the operation to which they are allocated, in the case of other
receivables and deposits, intangible asset and gross amounts
due from customers for contract work.

TREFIGENAEEREIAEP
W R (iNANEE 2 BIEEE - Hith
FEUGRIA M % & 2 FEENERERED - BT
BE  RBUEFPANTIEFRRRL
FERNERER D ([ e EIEREVE EE ) PIFE
w2 B o BRI BIZIREEE
HFE D - FEEIFREEEFEM
BREEBERMAEMLIH(AME - B
EREENE) RS R 2% 2
s 3 (A B A0 FEUGRIB R IR &
B EENMEWREPAKTIZFIRR
Bmims)&ln o

Revenues from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REMRER2WE ETERBEE

2009 2008 2009 2008
ZBTAE T\ ZBFTAE —TT)/\F
$°000 $000 $'000 $000
Fr T Fr T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) A EEBE) 306 345 63,374 66,152
Other parts of the PRC PR B A 3 [ 1,765,690 1,862,164 5,569,476 4,748,467
1,765,996 1,862,509 5,632,850 4,814,619
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13. FIXED ASSETS 1= BEEE
(@) The Group (a) &=&£E

Motor

vehicles,

Leasehold electronic
improvements, equipment

furniture and other Total
Landand  andfixtures fixed assets Investment  fixed assets
buidings BEWERE . KE EFEE Sub-total  properties BEedE
ThEEF  GRRRE REBETEE RamE o
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T i T T r
Cost or valuation: PR A -
At1 January 2009 RZZENE
—A-H 163,248 11,825 46,358 221,431 19,574 241,005
Exchange adjustments B AR 13 2 12 2 5 32
Addttions g 939 2,697 9,548 13,184 - 13,184
Disposals e - (48) (428) (4n) - (4n)
Fair value adjustment DMEAE - - - - 4,888 4,888
At 31 December 2009 RZZENE
+ZA=1+-H 164,200 14,476 55,495 234,17 24,467 258,638
Representing: fi%:
Cost AR 164,200 14,476 55,495 234,11 - 234,111
Valuation - 2009 HE-—ZENE - - - - 24,467 24,467
164,200 14,476 55,495 234,11 24,467 258,638
Accumulated depreciation: BitrE
At1 January 2009 RZZENE
—A—H 58,053 2,965 15,414 76,432 - 76,432
Exchange adjustments B AR 1 - 2 3 - 3
Charge for the year KEERE 4312 2,632 1,675 14,619 - 14,619
Written back on disposal HERED - @ (423) (427) - (421)
At 31 December 2009 RZZENE
+-A=1t-R 62,366 5,593 22,668 90,627 - 90,627
Net book value: PRI -
At 31 December 2009 RIZENE
+-A=+-H 101,834 8,883 32,821 143,544 24,467 168,011
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13. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 1= BEEEE)
(a) The Group (continued) (@) &&EE(Z)
Motor
vehicles,
Leasehold glectronic
improvements, equipment
fumiture and other Total
landand  andfixtures fixed assets Investment fixed assets
buldngs BENFEE - TE  EFRA Sub-total properties ETEE
T RiEF iyse: AbREEE Gt RENZ B8
§000 §000 §000 $000
T : i T T
Cost or valuation: FRA{ES M :
At 1 January 2008 RZEEN\E
—A-H 131,912 6,547 29,527 167,986 200,922 368,908
Exchange adjustments 5 AR 880 271 2,120 3271 11,500 14,771
Addtions e 31,815 5515 16,878 54,208 - 54,208
Disposals e
- through disposal of —FRNE
subsiciries WEAT (1,359) - 731) PON) (192848 (194939
- others ~£ - (508) (1,436) (1,944) - (1,944)
At 31 December 2008 RZEEN\E
+-A=t-H 163,248 11,825 46,358 221,431 19,574 241,005
Representing: R%:
Cost RAE 163,248 11,825 46,358 221,431 - 221,431
Valuation - 2008 E-—2EN\EF = = = - 19,574 19,574
163,248 11,825 46,358 221,431 19,574 241,005
Accumulated depreciation: BHE
At 1 January 2008 RZEEN\F
—-A-H 53,856 1,048 9478 64,382 - 064,382
Exchangs adjustments B AR 120 4 733 897 - 897
Charge for the year TEERE 4,500 1937 6,485 12,922 - 12,922
Written back on disposal HERED
- through disposal of -BRLE
subsiciries HEAT (23 - (429) 852) - 2
- others —Hth - 64 (853) 917) - (917)
At 31 December 2008 RZEEN\E
+-A=t-H 58,063 2,965 15414 76,432 - 76,432
Net book value: PR :
At 31 December 2008 RZZE\E
+ZA=1+-H 105,19 8,860 30,944 144,999 19,574 164,573
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13. FIXED ASSETS (continued) t=. BEEEE)
(b) The Company (b) AT
Office Leasehold Furniture Motor Total
equipment  improvements and fixtures vehicles fixed assets
WOERE  HEMERE HRRRE RE ETdESH
$000 $000 $'000 $000 $000
T T T T T
Cost: B :
At 1 January 2009 R=ZENE-A—-H 987 2,409 381 3,331 7,108
Additions BE 13 - 62 - 75
At 31 December 2009 R=EZNE
+-A=1+-H 1,000 2,409 443 3,331 7,183
Accumulated depreciation: BHRE:
At 1 January 2009 R=ZENE-A—H 580 1,043 82 1,432 3,137
Charge for the year TEEHE 146 602 42 404 1,194
At 31 December 2009 R-ZENE
+-A=t-H 726 1,645 124 1,836 4,331
Net book value: FREFE :
At 31 December 2009 ity i
+-A=t-H 214 764 319 1,495 2,852
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13. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 1= BEEEE)
(b) The Company (continued) (b) &RQTF (&)
Office Leasehold Furniture Motor Total
equipment  improvements and fixtures vehicles fixed assets
BRERE HEWMERE  BAREE g ETEAEER
$000 $000 $:000 $000 $000
T T Tr T
Cost: BAE
At 1 January 2008 RZZZN\F-H—-H 949 2,278 381 2,320 5,928
Additions #E 38 131 - 1,011 1,180
At 31 December 2008 RZZZNE
—“R=+-H 987 2,409 381 3,331 7,108

Accumulated depreciation: BiHipE

At 1 January 2008 R-ZZ\F—F—H 427 450 45 984 1,906
Charge for the year TEENE 153 593 37 448 1,281
At 31 December 2008 R-EEN\F

+-A=1+-H 580 1,043 82 1,432 3,137
Net book value: FREFE :
At 31 December 2008 R-EEN\F

+-A=+-H 407 1,366 299 1,899 3,971
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13. FIXED ASSETS (continued)
(c) Revaluation of investment properties

Investment properties of the Group were revalued as at
31 December 2009 on an open market value basis calculated
by reference to net rental income allowing for reversionary
income potential. The valuations were carried out by an BE o ERBISMITEETE
independent firm of surveyors, Asset Appraisal Limited, who BRARHET - ERE T ABBHE
have among their staff members of Hong Kong Institute of MmEee s K¥ FllEhY R
Surveyors with recent experience in the location and category of AERRI AT HAfEEL S -

property being revalued.

tz BEEEE)

(o) REMEEM
AREBZREVEER _TTNF
T-A=t—ARBFAEEEA R
HFEHEE WA EZ AR TEETT

(d) MEREFEZSHWT :

(d) The analysis of net book value of properties is as
follows:

The Group
FEE
2009 2008
—BTNE —ETNF
$000 $000
Tt T
In the PRC =
Hong Kong: B
— medium-term leases —HEE 57,786 59,823
Other parts of the PRC: =al = s o T
— medium-term leases —HEAFRE 68,105 64,505
—long leases —REHEE 410 441
126,301 124,769
Representing: RE
Land and buildings T BT 101,834 105,195
Investment properties LAY 24,467 19,574
126,301 124,769
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13. FIXED ASSETS (continued)
(e) Fixed assets leased out under operating leases
The Group leases out properties under operating leases. The
leases typically run for an initial period of one to two years, with
an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all
terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals.

All properties held under operating leases that would otherwise
meet the definition of investment property are disclosed as
investment property.

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

tz BEEEE)

() RELLEHEHHZEEEE
AEERBLEHEELEYE - Lt
HEZFREXREVH SH—EM
F - WABEREL - BRAA GRS
SENER o DABESTBESA

He -
FEREBELHERELENERE
METEBE I MEOPR/IEDE -

AEBRBE A FROLEHEERER
R RENFAERIT

The Group
AEE
2009 2008
—EBENE —ETN\F
$°000 $°000
T Tt
Within 1 year —FR 751 882
After 1 year but within 5 years —FEERFA 786 -
1,537 882
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSET 0 B\ EE
The Group
AKE
$°000
Cost: RAE :
At 1 January 2009 R-_ZEZNF—H—H 722,192
Exchange adjustments Rk 191
At 31 December 2009 RZZEZNF+-_A=1+—H 722,383
Accumulated amortisation: Satisey -
At 1 January 2009 R NF—HA—H 144,438
Exchange adjustments FE H 55 38
Charge for the year ANFE 24,079
At 31 December 2009 —EENF+ZA=1T—H 168,555
Net book value: ARER(E :
At 31 December 2009 —EThF+=ZA=1+—H 553,828
Cost: RAE :
At 1 January 2008 R N\F—H—H 682,658
Exchange adjustments TE H TR 39,534
At 31 December 2008 RZZEZENF+_A=1+—H 722,192
Accumulated amortisation: Satisey -
At 1 January 2008 R N\F—H—H 113,776
Exchange adjustments PE H Fa%E 6,819
Charge for the year N 23,843
At 31 December 2008 RZZEZENF+=—A=+—H 144,438
Net book value: ARERE :
At 31 December 2008 RZZEZENF+=—A=+—H” 577,754
The amortisation charge for the year is included in “Direct costs and REFEIHA AGEBRR 2 BEXAR

operating expenses” in the consolidated income statement. RIgEBERIA ©
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15. GOODWILL t1 8
The Group
xEE
$°000
T
Cost: RAME :
At 1 January 2008, 31 December 2008 RZZEZENF—H—H ZZTZTNF
and 31 December 2009 +-A=F+-BR-_ZTEZThFE+-_A=+—H 46,133
Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing BERECRSEEEN ZFEERR
goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (‘CGU?) ASEIRXGE D HBDEEE T A
identified according to business segment as follows: MEEEBLLAT
The Group
AEE
2009
—EBEAE
$°000
T
Environmental energy and alternative IRIRBEIR M ETELRIE B
energy project construction and R E A
operation (waste-to-energy power 7 A = mEIE
plant project) (R RERERAR) 11,255 11,255
Environmental water project construction IRIRKIGTEE B g
and operation 9,538 9,538
Infrastructure construction and operation Hppmis s
(toll bridge project) (W BBRER) 25,340 25,340
46,133 46,133
The recoverable amount of the respective CGU is determined based B A 2 A OB SRR R (0 A
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow Bt E - EJF%F%%?HE:@A@ET%E;Z
projections based on financial budgets approved by management EEE]} f%ﬁﬁziﬁiﬁiﬁ At e ﬁﬁﬁ/\‘\ﬁj
covering a five year period. Discount rates of 10%-12% have been HEMRE TE%E\E HERBA 0%ZE12% e B
used for the value-in-use calculations. Management determined the ES'E *E%Ei%%%ﬁ@zﬁﬂ?j %,/ %
budgets based on independent professional traffic studies and/or ERRMEG RSB - BEEAMA
service agreements governing the relevant operations. The discount = - FTiE 2 Bh 3R 5’57% fﬁrjﬁ RIARIR = -
rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the ReR LA B9 BB 2 e B ©
relevant segments.
No impairment is considered necessary at 31 December 2009 and RZFEFAFR-_TZTNF+_A
2008. =t+—R - BFEEREARE -
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B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

16. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES i B ASER

The Company
EAT
2009 2008

—EBBLE —ET)N\F
$°000 $’000
Fix T

Unlisted shares/capital contributions, at cost JELETRRD S HEEE

RKAE 328,080 328,080

Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU T B A B3I 3,443,110 3,257,016

3,771,190 3,585,096

Less: impairment losses B FEEEE (1,440,357) (1,440,357)

2,330,833 2,144,739

Amounts due to subsidiaries PR B A B FkIE (116,066) (35,504)

2,214,767 2,109,235
Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, not expected to R_ZZNF+—_A=+—8 " B~
be recovered within one year and interest free, except for an amount (BRI BARRIEAEKE - HHT
due from a subsidiary of $23,831,000 (2008: $Nil) which bear ER—FANEERES - HREMHEL
interest at 2% per annum as at 31 December 2009. A)3XI823,831,00070( Z ST N\F : £)R

SN BRATRIRFB2%At R °

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which NTEVEHAREXE  BEESABE
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The BREEZEMNBARER - BEE
class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. FERRSN - PTREIR (D19 R E AR o
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BN ISR M ot

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

16. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of
establishment/
incorporation
and operation

Name of company RRAL/ B AL

AT & REEMNE

Everbright PRC
Environmental i
Energy (Changzhou)

Co., Ltd.* (note (d))

HRIRIREER(EM)
AR AR ()

Everbright PRC
Environmental ==}
Energy (Jiangyin)

Co., Ltd.* (note (d))

KARRAEROIR)
BRARF ()

Everbright PRC
Environmental H
Energy (Suzhou)

Co., Ltd. (‘EB Energy
(Suzhou)")* (note (d))

HARRIREEIR (BN
BRAR( AR (B
M) D#(PHEE())

Everbright PRC
Environmental H

Energy (Suzhou) Methane-
to-Energy Co., Ltd.*
(note(d))

HARBRRAER (BRM)
BREEERAAN
(MHd))

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZFF#

Particulars of
issued and paid
up capital
B8R
HREFER

RMB137,520,000
ARE
137,520,0007T

USD19,300,000
19,300,000 7T

RMB318,000,000

AR%
318,000,000t

USD2,100,000
2,100,0005 7T

t. BB AEHER ()

Proportion of ownership interest

RS

held

by the
Company
BHEAT
o]

Group’s

effective
interest
AR
B ER

held by a
subsidiary
HFBAE

R

Principal activity
TREH

100% - 100% Design, construction,
operation and
management of
waste-to-energy
power plant

Hit g @M
REBAIRIE

100% = 100% Design, construction,
operation and
management of
waste-to-energy
power plants

St B @
R EIER IR

EH

Note (a) -
Pitzt(e)

Note (a)
Fitita)

Design, construction,
operation and
management of
waste-to-energy
power plants

Bt B
REBSIRIE

100% - 100% Design, construction,
operation and
management of
methane-to-energy
power plants

Bt B
RERBREER
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BN SR M ot

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& 2B EHASN » FIE & RELBIEETE)

16. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

7. B AEEE(E)

Proportion of ownership interest

BRHERERLLD

Group’s held

effective bythe heldbya

interest Company subsidiary

F&E2z HEAAF @HKEAS  Principal activity
B R o) e ETEXE

Place of

establishment/ Particulars of

incorporation  issued and paid

and operation up capital

Name of company RRAL/ T AL BBTR

AT &R REEHE, B REA A

Everbright PRC USD11,520,000

Environmental R 11,520,000 T
Energy (Yixing)

Co., Ltd.*(note (d))
HRRREER(EHE)
ARAE(FE(d)

Everbright PRC USD10,000,000
Environmental Protection H 10,000,000 7T
Engineering (Shenzhen)

Co., Ltd¥

HARBAR TI2 R

(R BRAF

Everbright PRC $4,000,000
Environmental Protection I 4,000,0007T
Technology Development
(Beijing) Limited*

HARRRBRER
(ER)BRAT

Everbright PRC USD4,865,000

Environmental (Suzhou) h 4,865,000% 7T
Solid Waste Treatment

Co., Ltd.* (note (d))

FRBRR(FM)EFE
BEYREAR AT
(HE))

172

100% = 100% Design, construction,
operation and
management of
waste-to-energy
power plant

Rt B EE
REERRRE
BH

100% 100% - Provision of
construction
management
services

RETREEERE

100% 100% - Conduct of
environmental
protection
technology
research projects

ETRREHR
L]

100% - 100% Design, construction,
operation and
management of
industrial solid
waste landfil

st @ EER
BETXEEEY
BI85
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Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

16. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of company

ATER

Everbright Water
(Boxing) Limited*
(note (e))

F ARG (B8R
ARRF(PzEE)

Everbright Water
(Jiangyin) Limited*
(note (e))

FAKBEOLR)
ARDA(FIzEE)

Everbright Water
(Ji'nan) Limited*
(note (e))

FARKH (EE)
BRAF(Fzte)

Everbright Water
(Jinan Licheng) Limited*
(note (e))

F AR CErBER)
ARRF(PHzEE)

Everbright Water
(Zibo) Limited*
(note (e))

FARKBOkTE)
ARDA(FiFEE)

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZFF#

Place of

establishment/

incorporation

and operation
B3I/ s AL
RESHE,

PRC
FE

PRC
5

PRC
3

PRC
FE

PRC
B

Particulars of
issued and paid
up capital
B#TR

AR RRA AL

$55,000,000
55,000,0007C

RMB391,000,000

ARE
391,000,0007T

USD35,430,000
35,430,000% 7T

RMB55,000,000

ARE
55,000,0007T

USD27,058,000
27,058,0003%7T

tr. BB AEHER ()

Proportion of ownership interest

RS

held

by the
Company
BHEAAT
o)

Group’s
effective
interest
F5EZ
BRER

held by a
subsidiary
HEAT

)

100% = 100%

70% = 70%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%

Principal activity

TEERE

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance
of waste-water
treatment plant

BB BER

HHERE KRR

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance
of waste-water
treatment plants

Rt B EER

BIERE TR

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance
of waste-water
treatment plants

Rt s BER

HASIRE SRR

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance
of waste-water
treatment plant

B i BER

HHERE SRR

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance
of waste-water
treatment plants

Rt B EER

BIERE TR
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B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& 2B EHASN » FIE & RELBIEETE)

16. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) th MBAS#IE(F)

Place of
establishment/
incorporation
and operation
B3/ AL
REEHE,

Name of company

ATERE

Particulars of
issued and paid
up capital
E#TR

B REA A

Proportion of ownership interest

BRHERERLLD

held

by the
Company
HEAF
R

Group’s
effective
interest
FEEZ
B R

held by a
subsidiary
HFEAT

)

Principal activity

TEEG

Everbright Water PRC $35,000,000 100% = 100% Design, construction,
(Zibo Zhoucun) HE 35,000,0007T operation and
Water Purification maintenance
Co., Ltd.* (note (g)) of waste-water

H AR CEEER) treatment plant
FKBRAR FEr e BER
GEE) HERE)TKEER

Qingdao EB-VW PRC USD15,257,000 Note (b) = Note (b) Construction,

Waste Water Treatment EP 15,257,000 7T Btz (o) BfzF()  operation and
Co., Ltd. (“Qingdac EB- maintenance of
VW) (note (€)) waste-water

BERETKER treatment plants
BRAR(ESHE) BiE - BE R
(M) RETRKEIER

Fuzhou Guang Min Road PRC  RMB224,730,000 Note (c) - Note (c) Development,
and Bridge Construction H ARE () K5  construction,

& Development Company 224,730,000t operation and
Limited (“FZGM”)# maintenance of

BN EEEER atoll bridge
REERAA FE B BER
([ EEEE ) RERBWERR

On Land Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of 100% = 100% Property investment

BRERAR] B $1 each MERE

R GREE
17ThRR
*  Registered under the laws of the PRC as foreign investment enterprise. * RBRBIAEEM R ERERE -
#  Registered under the laws of the PRC as sino-foreign co-operative joint #  RBREEAEIM ARG IEEERE o

venture.
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BN ISR M ot

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

16. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(@) Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou) Holdings Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and the foreign joint venture partner
of EB Energy (Suzhou), is committed to contribute the full amount of EB
Energy (Suzhou)’s registered capital. Net profit, after payment of an agreed
sum of RMB880,000 annually to the PRC joint venture partner of EB Energy
(Suzhou), is fully attributable to Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou)
Holdings Limited.

(o) EB-VW HK Holding Company Limited (“EB-VW”), an 60% owned subsidiary
of the Company and the foreign joint venture partner of Qingdao EB-VW, is
committed to contribute 60% of Qingdao EB-VW'’s registered capital. The
remaining 40% registered capital is contributed by the PRC joint venture
partner. EB-VW is fully entitled to the net profit of Qingdao EB-VW for the
first 14 years of the joint venture period. From the 15th year of the joint
venture period onwards, the net profit of Qingdao EB-VW is to be shared by
EB-VW and the PRC joint venture partner on a 98:2 basis.

(©) Greenway Venture Limited (“Greenway”), an 80% owned subsidiary of the
Company and the foreign joint venture partner of FZGM, is committed to
contribute the full amount of FZGM’s registered capital. The remaining 20%
in Greenway is owned by China Everbright Holdings Company Limited,
the Company’s ultimate holding company. Net profit (after payment of an
agreed sum ranging from RMB600,000 to RMB2,500,000 annually to the
PRC joint venture partner of FZGM) of FZGM should first be applied for the
repayment of capital and advances made by Greenway. After the capital
and advances made by Greenway have been fully repaid, the net profit of
FZGM (after payment of an agreed sum to the PRC joint venture partner
mentioned above) is to be shared by Greenway and the PRC joint venture
partner on a 90:10 basis.

Pursuant to the joint venture agreement of FZGM, FZGM was granted a
right to construct, operate and maintain a toll bridge in Fuzhou city, the
PRC. After the completion of the toll bridge construction, FZGM has an
operating period of the toll bridge for a period of 30 years commencing from
January 2003. Upon expiry of the operating period, FZGM will transfer all
the fixed assets and the operating right to the PRC joint venture partner.
The toll fee is based on the type of vehicles and is subject to the approval
from the relevant local government authorities. During the operating period,
FZGM has the obligation to maintain the toll bridge in good condition.

The service concession agreement does not contain a renewal option. Both
the grantor and FZGM have the rights to terminate the agreement in the
event of a material breach of the terms of the agreement.

Operating right of the toll bridge is recognised as an intangible asset.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZFF#

tr B AEIEE(E)

BifaE
@

ARz BB R RFRICABLR(ERM) I
5 & EBHARRRERENMNZERERA
Al AGREAR KRR (BRMN) 2 BEEME
A o SERBER(BRM) 2 F BN (ESF Y
BBERIAARKEB80,0007L T 77 & BB H
&) B 2EARREREERGFMNERBERA
AR °

T%ﬁm%% SZHBARFESHE
%H BEAEX KB HRIEEBIERER
AR HRELIE ) FAFEAET B EB0%
HEMER - BT40%EEFPHELBHEE
& KRB ERNG S TNFa28F
BEESREZFAT - MBAE+HAFEEH
R BENEZFAFE R ARE LR T
BEBHIRI82 2 LD o

ﬂ?ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁzmg ANSIE et
Z?l\ﬁ LM Greenway Venture Limited
([Greenway |) #GEE A B EEHE 2 EGE
B K o Greenway#k T20% =B AR T
ZEREIERARF RN KEBBRARE
B AEEBFRF(EFFZANTA
R # 600,000t = A K # 2,500,000 7T 2 1
ERETHRHEEBHRB)EEEANER
GreenwayBE X 2 EARREK - E2HE
EGreenwayB Xt 2 BEARREAFRIE + A
NG 2B B (R0 - ATt AR S SR E 3
BT 75/\**%1—JF1§)HﬁE|Greenway&¢7ﬁ
BEBHIE0102 L HIE D

&#ﬁﬁ%ﬁZA“%é TR
FEFp BRI TS B MAEHERE—IRR
BiRR - EW%?%E&%W& RIS
BFEWBERR2E2E=TF A_TT=
F—HEE o FFREHERER t@%ﬁh
EREREEERKEEERP & LR H
WE°W§%@ZW§&$%Z§%WE'
W BFrA R E IR R/ )T Al {FE
RIEREIN - BB A R ERIRERR
FEREFAR, ©

o

PRI P B A A AR 1B < 1B T A
RARBEELE RN BRI EEARR Y
R TR LB B -

WEBRZ RERERRBEEE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk 278 3E8R -

B BABEETE)

16. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

176

(@

The subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession arrangements
with the local government authorities in the PRC (“the grantors”). Pursuant to
the service concession arrangements, the Group has to design, construct,
operate and manage waste-to-energy power plants, methane-to-energy
power plants and industrial solid waste landfill in the PRC for a period of 25
to 30 years. The Group has the obligation to maintain the waste-to-energy
power plants, methane-to-energy power plants and industrial solid waste
landfill in good condition. The grantors guarantee the Group will receive
minimum annual payments in connection with the arrangements. Upon
expiry of the concession periods, the waste-to-energy power plants and
related facilities will be transferred to the local government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal options. The
standard rights of the grantors to terminate the agreements include failure
of the Group to construct or operate the waste-to-energy power plants,
methane-to-energy power plants and industrial solid waste landfill and in
the event of a material breach of the terms of the agreements. The standard
rights of the Group to terminate the agreements include failure to receive
payments for solid waste treatment service from the grantors and in the
event of a material breach of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in constructing
the waste-to-energy power plants, methane-to-energy power plants and
industrial solid waste landfill is recognised as “Gross amounts due from
customers for contract work” in the financial statements.

The subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession arrangements
with the grantors. Pursuant to the service concession arrangements, the
Group has to design, construct and/or upgrade, operate and manage
waste-water treatment plants in the PRC for a period of 25 to 30 years.
The Group has the obligation to maintain the waste-water treatment plants
in good condition. The grantors guarantee the Group will receive minimum
annual payments in connection with the arrangements. Upon expiry of
the concession periods, the waste-water treatment plants and the related
facilities will be transferred to the local government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal options. The
standard rights of the grantors to terminate the agreements include failure
of the Group to construct, upgrade or operate the waste-water treatment
plants and in the event of a material breach of the terms of the agreements.
The standard rights of the Group to terminate the agreements include failure
to receive payments for waste-water treatment service from the grantors
and in the event of a material breach of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in constructing
or upgrading the waste-water treatment plants is recognised as “Gross
amounts due from customers for contract work” in the financial statements.

ik B A SR ()
GERNE))

@

BB AR S R E BT T
ANRISZRRFS s e B 2Bk » IRIBIRFS 45
ST AEBEARTERE - 2
& BRREENENERER  BARE
BRI TXEREYRIES R —+H
E=45F - REBAREEIFARIEES
B ORREEMN TEEEERESTER
WD © BT AR - LBRAREMS - &
S E A FFRIRRIEREFIR - R
SHIEMER - SR B ER ARG
EREMKTHENE

BB HE BRI L ERIRIE - BT A
TSR R R A%
BRGEEE R R E B AR
BRRLEEREEDS - LR GHER
EEARR - AREATERERFIEI
B2EROE AAETANEEREY
EERHE - URGHHEIEEARR -

EEEAIR G R - BREERS T
(&1 38 BE SRR 5 T e RIS AR S TS 2 A0
WaHERBRETHAREEEFAHT
TEFRIRMER ] -

N SEIEIEYNCIEES SUNCIRVE o7 s S
B o REBERESIHE SR - A&E
ARPEIRE  BER/RWE  BERE
BEKEER - B tRAE=1% - &%
BB B EM KRR BRAER AR - KT
AR BERZHME - ARERAESF
WERSEARFEFIA © FRRFRHSEHE MR
57K B IR IR N AR B AR A A 8 B IR T A
F& e

RIS RS SR MARLNERE - BT A
TR ER RN L 2 R ek &
SERBLRYE - BUATIES)T/RKERIZM » A
L@ GEEENER - ARE R TERE
MR L BB REEEER T AR
BKERREE - ARIGHEGREERNE
= o

BRI ok A 5 7K B IR TR T HR (S AR 7S P
B2 RS EM MR T REARERE
PatTIzsIReeE] -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

17. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATE tt. B E A GRS
The Group
A%E
2009 2008
—BBAE —TT)\F
$’000 $°000
T Tt
Share of net assets FHh B EF45 588 _
Details of the associate are as follows: BN TE RO T
Proportion of ownership interest
BERtEELL
Group’s held
Form of Place of effective bythe heldbya
business establishment interest Company subsidiary
Name of associate structure and operation #FEEz HAEAT HMEAS Principal activity
HEAT AR ETGREME  RURESRE EREG A HE IEEH
Qingdao Veolia Water Established PRC 21% - 21% Operation of
Operating Company &V e waste-water
Limited (“Qingdao treatment plants
Veolia”) BRI
BRI IKES
BIRAE]
(EBRIHE])
Summary financial information on associate: WG 2 b S A

()  Operating results

The Group
AEE

2009

ZEBEAF
$000
Fr

2008

—ETNF
$'000

Tt

Turnover L 38,440 39,379
Profit before taxation R T4 Al B 3,393 2,382
Profit after taxation KT 12 B 3,393 2,382
Group’s share of profit after taxation AEEMEEBEATZ

for the year attributable to the associate REZRTIEEN] 588 -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& 2B EHASN » FIE & RELBIEETE)

17. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATE (continued) +t. BEATRER(E)
Summary financial information on associate: (continued) AN TR E « (&)
The Group
XEE
2009
—EFLE
$°000
T
(i)  Balance sheet iy EBEBAFBER
Non-current assets ERBEE 957 676
Current assets REEE 12,251 12,379
Current liabilities mENEIE (10,410) (13,650)
Net assets/(liabilties) BE/(aff)FHE 2,798 (695)
Group’s share of net assets attributable AREB TR Z AT
to the associate BETFH 588 -
18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS T\ HEAFEEE
The Group The Company
FEE FAT
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EBBAE —ZTTN\G& ZBBRAE —TTN\HF
$°000 $000 $°000 $'000
Tr T Fr T
Available-for-sale equity FERA
securities: K
~ Listed in Hong Kong —EB LT 16,736 15,763 - -
— Unlisted outside Hong Kong —BBAIMEEIE T 4,649 6,573 4,649 6,573
21,385 22,336 4,649 6,573
Market value of listed securities @S TE 16,736 15,763 - -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

19. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND th FEM AR SR « HibFEWRRIE « &R

PREPAYMENTS A REVLE]
The Group
XEE
2009 2008
—EEAE —ZTEENF
$°000 $’000
Fx T
Debtors JE W AR K 197,877 98,091
Other receivables, deposits and B EIE - ek
prepayments TERFRIE 2,142,113 1,709,633
2,339,990 1,807,724
Less: Non-current portion B FEBNEAERD
— other receivables and deposits —HMEWRIE MRS (1,736,218) (1,386,280)
Current portion BNHAER {7 603,772 421,444
Included in “Debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments” [FEMERSK - EAbEUGRIE « e RTEN
are debtors with the following ageing analysis as of the balance IR R EERKARR - HRNEER 2R
sheet date: BROMTUOT -
The Group
XEE
2009
—EEhE
$°000
Fx
Current BN HA 106,644 73,248
Less than 1 month past due wE DR —1{E B 8,985 7,670
1 to 3 months past due mEl—=={E A8 15,509 3,732
More than 3 months but less than mERHBE=E A
12 months past due BOR+ @A 66,739 13,441
Amounts past due BHS R 91,233 24,843
197,877 98,091
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

19. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND th EUARER « HMBKRIE « EHe Rk

180

PREPAYMENTS (continued)
Debtors past due of $73,207,000 have been subsequently settled
after 31 December 2009.

Debtors are due within 30 days from the date of billing. Further
details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 31(a).

Included in “Debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments”
of the Group are debtors of $197,877,000 (2008: $98,091,000)
of which $7,169,000 (2008: $6,994,000) and $63,749,000 (2008:
$23,923,000) are due from a minority shareholder and a related
company respectively. Debtors represent toll bridge revenue and
revenue from waste-water treatment plants, waste-to-energy power
plants, methane-to-energy power plants and industrial solid waste
landfill operation services. There was no recent history of default in
respect of the Group’s debtors. Since most of the debtors are local
government authorities in the PRC and based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in
respect of the past due balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances. No impairment loss was recognised by the Group at
31 December 2009 (2008: $Nil).

“Debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments” include
balances totalling $1,919,206,000 (2008: $1,544,037,000) which
bear interest at rates ranging from 5.94% to 7.83% (2008: 6.12%
to 7.83%) per annum and represent the considerations paid for the
acquisition of waste-water treatment plants under TOT (Transfer-
Operate-Transfer) arrangements, among which $141,001,000 (2008:
$123,097,000) and $698,296,000 (2008: $497,852,000) are due
from a minority shareholder and a related company respectively.
The amounts are not yet due for payment and will be settled by
revenue to be generated during the operating periods of the TOT
arrangements. No impairment loss was recognised by the Group at
31 December 2009 (2008: $Nil).

All of the current portion of the above balances are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

FERRIAE(Z)
2 #H 2 FEUBRFN73,207,0007LER =&
ZHNE+=—A=+—R1%UYME -

EWEZ BB ERHEF =1+ RE
H o REBEERRZE—FERERN
HsE=+—(@)°

ANEEZ[EKER - EMEUKIA
e RFEMFKE ] EP B IE R IR 3K
197,877,0007t (ZZZ )\ : 98,091,000
JT) /E;‘:F'71690007E(—gi§)\$
6,994,0007C ) % 63,749,0007C ( ZZEZ N
£ 23923 ooom D Bl B e D BIRR R SR
T8 % e BRI N RIFUE © FEUKBR KA E
Bk &X@mﬁr@ﬁﬁ RPN B
B BRI, X EREYIRIES
2B RB W - $El2f W ARk &
WHEE L8 - BN AEBHEFA AT
BlE R ATHERE - BIRAELSR - BEE
RADAFEBHA R EERIET FEEEE -
lﬁﬁ%%f%ﬂﬂﬁfﬁik My - AR
IR AR 28Uk (E - $%@jﬁﬂ£&¢
;ziﬁéﬁ%hﬁ{ﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬂuu RZTTNF
+—A=1+—H8 ' AEBEERRTAE
BEEB(CZETNF ) -

[FEURBRSR « b EURGRIE ~ e RTERT
A | BFEA H1,919,206,000 T (ZEE
J\EE : 1,544,037,0007C) Z &8 - HiZfF
BR504%ZE7.83%(ZFZENF : 6.12%
£7.83%)FTEFE - EATOT(#EY —&
R T TS S KEER 2 BT
RE - Hh141,001,0007T(ZET)\4F -
123,097,0007T ) % 698,296,0007C( — T E
J\EE : 497,852,0007T ) 7 Bl A RE U BRI
HFTE N E U AR A RIF0E - BREFUEN
REVERBF - WHSATOTLHE T 2 82 HA
WSt - RZZTEZNF+ZA= +—
B AEBENEERTAFEEBE(CZ
TN\F : £E) -

Ltz A BIEARR M FAHA Al X —5F
MU SRR BRI o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

20. GROSS AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR t Bl ER S TIEFIEEEE
CONTRACT WORK
The Group
XEE
2009 2008
—EBBRE —TENF
$°000 $°000
T Tt
Contract cost incurred plus recognised EEAALIKA I LE#ER
profits less anticipated losses &7 - R IEHEsE 4,014,699 3,215,255
Less: Progress billings B EE IR (537,310) (270,191)
Net contract work BHTIEFEE 3,477,389 2,945,064
Representing: R¥%E:
Gross amounts due from customers for BWEFEE 4 TIRTE
contract work 4A%E
— Non-current —3JEBNER 3,174,793 2,686,012
— Current —BNER 302,596 259,052
3,477,389 2,945,064

Included in “Gross amounts due from customers for contract
work” are amounts of $270,221,000 (2008: $290,055,000) and
$181,671,000 (2008: $161,290,000) which are due from a minority
shareholder and a related company respectively.

“Gross amounts due from customers for contract work” represent
revenue from construction under BOT (Build-Operate-Transfer)
arrangements or upgrade services under TOT arrangements and
bear interest at rates ranging from 5.94% to 7.83% (2008: 6.12%
to 7.83%) per annum. The amounts are not yet due for payment
and will be settled by revenue to be generated during the operating
periods of the BOT and TOT arrangements.
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[EWEEANTIRFIARTE R - S5
BIFERE U DB BR 0 I8270,221,0007T (=
T \4F : 290,055,0007T ) K JE Uiz g Bt
NEIFRIE181,671,000C(ZEE)\4F -
161,290,0007T) °

fﬁﬂ&@ﬁ/\éﬁﬂialﬁ B8 | THHABOT
(BiE— —BEBR)RHT 2 2ERE
jZETOT;zT?FTZEﬁU_I&HﬁZm HizF
BE594%%E7.83%(—ZFZFNF : 6.12%
Z£7.83%) 5T EFE - BEFIEE KD H
B WHBABOTRTOTLHE T 2 &% Hf
WESZ AT o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& 2B EHASN » FIE & RELBIEETE)

21. INVENTORIES
Inventories in the balance sheet comprise:

-BE

BEABRMAMFERR

The Group
]
2009

—EThE
$°000

BEME N ExRm
H At Rk

Plant materials and operating supplies
Other raw materials

Fi

10,982
2,168

10,379
1,122

13,150 11,501

22. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
The amounts are pledged to secure certain bank loans of the Group.

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

It EHRIPERIT AR

ZERRCIEEN - (ERARKEE TR
TTER B

RS REEEEY

The Group The Company
F5E FAT

2009 2009 2008
—BE0E —EEAE —TT)\F
$000 $000 000
Fr Fr T
Deposits with banks RITHER 1,259,835 153,989 1,259,512 137,181
Cash at bank and in hand RITHEB NSRS 683,950 408,143 36,763 52,929
1,943,785 562,132 1,296,275 190,110

Included in “Cash and cash equivalents” at the balance sheet date
are the following amounts denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

REERRENRSFEY BN
PR HLABER 2 EEEREIAINZ
BB

The Group The Company
F5E FAT

2009 2008 2009 2008
—REAFE —TT\F -BBAE —TI)\F
’000 ‘000 ’000 ‘000
F T * T
United States Dollars e USD10,758 USD4,363 USD326 USD1,001
10,758%L  4,363%TT 326€T  1,001ETT
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) LIRS RIEEEM(E)
Included in “Cash and cash equivalents” are the following deposits [ReRBEFEY BB TITFHRARE
placed with a related party bank: B AEIRIT 235K
The Group The Company
FKE FAT
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EBBAE —ZTN\G& ZBBAE —TT)N\F
$°000 $000 $°000 $'000
T T Fr T
Deposits with related party T B ATiRTT 2
bank e 31,717 3,562 767 798
24. BANK LOANS ZHh ERITERR
At 31 December 2009, the bank loans were repayable as follows: RZEBEZNF+_A=+—"8 R7E

R BT

The Group The Company
FEE AAT

2009 2008 2009

—ERAE —TT)\F CZEBAE

$°000 $'000 $°000

T

Within 1 year or on demand —FRHIRENK 696,322 546,041 110,000 130,000
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREARFRA 484,913 330,525 30,000 30,000
After 2 years but within 5 years MERERFA 1,295,233 948,559 47,500 77,500
After 5 years hF& 472,416 504,468 - =
2,252,562 1,783,552 77,500 107,500

2,948,884 2,329,503 187,500 237,500
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

24. BANK LOANS (continued) HERITER(2)

At 31 December 2009, the bank loans were secured as follows:

R-ZZBTHFE+-A=+—H8 " HfTE
R ERERET

The Group The Company
FE£E FAT

2008 2009
—EEN\F CZBTAE
$'000 $000

2009
“EThE
$°000
Fx

Bank loans RITER
— secured —BHEMA 1,706,778
— unsecured — AR AR 1,242,106

T Fi

1,549,067 107,500 137,500
780,526 80,000 100,000

2,948,884

2,329,593 187,500 237,500

Certain banking facilities of the Group are secured by certain
revenue and receivables in connection with the Group’s service
concession arrangement, bank deposits, mortgages on fixed assets
and shares of a subsidiary of the Company. Such secured banking
facilities, amounting to $2,885,595,000 (2008: $1,793,850,000),
were utilised to the extent of $1,706,778,000 (2008: $1,549,067,000)
at 31 December 2009. Among the secured banking facilities,
$1,302,572,000 (2008: $Nil) are guaranteed by the Company
and were utilised to the extent of $414,052,000 (2008: $Nil) at
31 December 2009.

At 31 December 2009, the unsecured banking facilities, amounting
to $1,452,955,000 (2008: $1,743,131,000), were utilised to the
extent of $1,242,106,000 (2008: $780,256,000). Among the
unsecured banking facilities of the Group, $561,992,000 (2008:
$1,066,511,000) are guaranteed by the Company and were
utilised to the extent of $541,992,000 (2008: $530,786,000) at
31 December 2009. All of the non-current interest-bearing
borrowings are carried at amortised costs. None of the non-current
interest-bearing borrowings is expected to be settled within one
year.

REBE F%E"r‘ﬂﬁuzsﬁgﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ
KERTHET 2 & TWaE R EBGK
|ITHR lEﬁF‘&%&ZK TﬁﬁT
MBARZBRMGIEER -R_ZZTZNF
+=A=+—8 - 28855950007
—Z=ZT )\ : 1,793,850,0007T) 2 B &
FERITREE B 8)/1,706,778,0007T( =&
T\ : 1,549,067,0007T) o it B IR
R1TRLE - HH1,302,572,0007T( —EF
NFE E)BARREER  RZZETH
F+ - A=+—HEHH414,052,0007C
(ZZZENF &) -

RZZEZNF+_A=+—80 &K
HIRTTREZEEA, 4529550007z
—ZE T N\ : 1,743,131,000 7T ) °
@%1,242,106,000%(:§§J\¢ :
780,256,0007T ) ° | ait A & B 4 3K 17 5
TRLE » HA561,99200T(=ZTF
JUEE : 1,066,511,0007C ) B AN A Al VEHE
R _2$h¢+—ﬂ—+ SRE
2 8 F 541,992,000 7C ( — T T )\ £ -
530,786,0007T) ° FTBIEENEIGT BB E
LR A ARR - TEHAFT A JEANERET B
BEHTER—FAEE -

184 CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 5 B3¢ REIFR AR 22 F)



Notes to the Financial Statements
BTSRRI 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

24. BANK LOANS (continued) It SRITERR(E)
Banking facilities of $775,050,000 (2008: $Nil) are subject to the R1TRLE 775,050,000 T ( ZFEZE N\ F ©
fulfilment of covenants relating to certain of the Group’s financial |IARAEATEBASBEY KL R
ratios, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial Rt ABATHTE RN R G EIBEE
institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants, the drawn RN EERY - WASEEREBHE
down facilities would become payable on demand. At 31 December # o RERICMEREEREE - »
2009, the Group did not utilise this facility. ZEENF+ZA=+—H  AEEYW
RENAULIERE -

Included in “Bank loans” are the following amounts denominated in [RITERIBIETIFIE - EUABE
a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which BMEEEE LN B BB

they relate:

The Group
FEE
2009 2008

—EEAE —TI\F
’000 ‘000
* T

United States Dollars ETT USD16,200 USD30,000
16,2005t  30,000%7C

The Company

FAF

2009
—FFn
000

2008
“FEN\F
000

Included in “Bank loans” are the following loans from a related party [SR{TER B T 5@ AT IRITER

=

bank:

The Group
X£HE
2009

= L
$000
i

Loans from related party bank A AMLIRTTE R 143,540 -

The Company

A4

2009

=
$000
i

2008
—TTNF
$000

T
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25. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
EXPENSES

Creditors, other payables and
accrued expenses

FEFTE M

ItL RETRRER « HIbREARIAREHEH

The Group
AEE
2009

2008
—ET)N\EF
$'000

T

=t 2 X
$°000
F5

FEARRAR « MBI IR K

481,481 471,031

Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses” are
creditors with the following ageing analysis as of the balance sheet
date:

[FERBRR - HttE N RIBEREFTEA ]
FEREEMERER  ERNGEEHZ2RED
T

The Group
XEE

2009 2008
—BFAE —TTNF
$°000 $'000
Fx Ft
Due within 1 month or on demand —{E A AR HIREK 58,861 55,682
Due after 1 month but within 3 months —E=={@ A RNEIH 45,129 22,629
Due after 3 months but within 6 months ==NEAREH 52,368 7,246
Due after 6 months 7~ E A& 2 HA 228,244 272,356
384,602 357,913

Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses” of
the Group is an amount of $3,719,000 (2008: $6,982,000) which is
payable to an associate. The balance is due within one month and
represents service fee for operation of waste-water treatment plants.
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FFEAIR BE—EREN T XS
NE)ZRIE3,719,000c (ZET )N\ F ¢
6,982,0007T) ° ZAEFRN—E A A EIE] -
HABES/KEERZRGE -
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25. CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED

EXPENSES (continued)

Apart from the above, balances totalling $374,518,000 (2008:
$343,329,000) represent construction payables for the Group’s
BOT arrangements, among which $4,594,000 (2008: $6,295,000)
and $11,754,000 (2008: $28,684,000) are due to related companies
and minority shareholder respectively. The construction payables are
current and not yet due for payment. The amounts due to related
companies and minority shareholder are unsecured, interest free
and expected to be settled within one year.

Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses” are
the following amounts denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

" Ei‘)fﬁﬁ%’t + HibFETFRIE R FESTE
B EXCFrat &SN - A A $£374,518,000
TT(ZZT T )\ 4 : 343,329,000 ) 2 4
% HAEAEBEBOTLZH T 2EET
TR FRIE - HrP4,504,0007T( —FE N
% 1 6,295,0007T) & 11,754,000 (=&
T )\ : 28,684,0007T) % Bl A& T8
Bt AR MIEN T AOEIRE 2 8 - 2
I*ﬂ’:fgﬁLW\Iﬁ%EﬂHﬁ&ﬂi |Jiq5<‘i/ﬁ\ o fE
TR AR REN T LSRR 2B
AEER &8 WHEBAR—FRE
5\% o

(AR - HENRIENRESER ]
BRETIFE  EARBEER LS
BIASN EHE BB

The Group The Company
FEE AT
2009 2009
“EBNE “EENE
’000 ’000
T T
Euros EnZE EUR151 EUR311 EUR151 EUR311
151ER % 1B 151ER % 31BN
United States Dollars E - USD2,629 - USD2,542
- 2,629 7T - 2,5423 T
26. OTHER LOANS i HER
The loans are unsecured, interest-bearing at rates announced by BAEREEEM - B ARETA
the People’s Bank of China and repayable in 2023. M2 BERFR  WER_E-_=F8% -
27. LOANS FROM ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY It BRI A TIER
The loans from ultimate holding company are unsecured, interest BB ARIEST BEEHE - 2R NTH

free, and not repayable within one year.

The balance as at 31 December 2008 included loans of
$100,000,000 which bear interest at rates based on HIBOR + 0.6%
per annum. Such loans were repaid in full during the year ended
31 December 2009.
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RIBETENF+T_A=+T—HBZEHE
5100,000,0007T 2 E5% * HBLEER
TRIZEHBF R IN0.6%:TR - BHEER
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28.INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET

(a) Current taxation in the balance sheet represents:

St EEBERFRIIFEH
(a) EEEBERATHAEMBES

The Group
XEE
2009

=
$°000
F5

Provision for PRC income tax for

AEEHBEPTS TR

the year 36,492 23,460

Provisional tax paid ERTE R (26,475) (14,295)
10,017 9,165
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) Eﬁﬁ%;ﬁﬁﬁxﬁﬁ@&ﬁ{; :

The Group 77&
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in ,VT\/\ EEBBERERZELETR
the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during the IE( BE),/ BEIDMDRAEEESEEHN
year are as follows: T

Temporary
differences
on assets
recognised
under
HK(FRIC 12)
*E?F« %5
Undistributed
profits of
£ 125f ﬁ&u/b Revaluation  subsidiaries
ZEE  of properties KEBAE
ZETRER MESER  RDOREF
$000 $000 $000
FIT FIT FIT
At 1 January 2008 RZEEN\F—H—H (17,961) 22,006 - 4,045
Exchange adjustments TE 5 A% (3,109 1,274 194 (1,641)
Charged to profit or loss feEam R P kR 51,271 - 20,236 71,507
Disposal through sale of BRHENBAR
subsidiaries HE = (21,623) - (21,623)
At 31 December 2008 R-ZTENEF
+=-A=+—H 30,201 1,657 20,430 52,288
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28. INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET (continued) S\ BEBBRARIIFEH(E)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (continued) (b) ERADELEHBEEREE : (&)
The Group (continued) REEE)

Temporary
differences

on assets
recognised
under
HK(IFRIC 12)
R EE

(BIPRREATS
BERE Undistributed
Z5E )28 profits of
251255120 Revaluation subsidiaries
2BE of properties HEBAT
ZEHIRER YEER  KHREF

$'000 $000 $000
Fr Fr Fr
At 1 January 2009 RZZZNF—A—H 30,201 1,657 20,430 52,288
Exchange adjustments B 5, 5% 9 - 7 16
Charged to profit or loss TERmEPHR 50,610 1,222 18,040 69,872
At 31 December 2009 R_ZTNF
+=—R=1+—H 80,820 2,879 38,477 122,176

The Group
*5%H
2009 2008

—EThE —EEN\F
$°000 $'000
FTt 7T

Net deferred tax assets recognised on R BEABRERZ

the consolidated balance sheet RIER & =T 58 (22,522) (26,538)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised RiFeEERBERERZ
on the consolidated balance sheet EERIB R EFRE 144,698 78,826
122,176 52,288
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised () RERELERIEEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(s), BIEMF—(s)FTE 2 85HEER - A&
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of &3 gk Rt AT R E R R IR TR
cumulative tax losses of $29,269,000 (2008: $24,241,000) as it is TB & E 29,269,000 (ZEZT )\ £ -
not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses 24,241,00070) * R AES @RS
can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction BERER N B KR REEVS FERT
and entity. The tax losses do not expire under the current tax BANmMESHZBEESLUER - IRIER
legislation. ggﬁiéﬂ%fﬁﬂ © BRI BT RR IR
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29. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS It IR ZHZ2RERX 5

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on RAFIHRAE —(AERESE F HR=2F
26 May 2003 whereby the directors of the Company are authorised, E=ZFRA-TNEER - FBi - AR
at their discretion, to invite employees of the Group, including AESERENERBEAEEES (R
directors of any company in the Group, to take up options at BAEEEMKERRIZES) BEMNAIZ
nominal consideration to subscribe for shares of the Company. The KBAREREARLQAIRGN 2 B
options are exercisable six months (or a later date as determined by BRREE R BEENEAR (AR TE
the directors of the Company) after the date on which the options EREZLREBE) RERREITFEHE
are granted for a period up to ten years or 25 May 2013, whichever ERRFREZETFRE_S—=FH
is earlier. Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one AZ+HABIE(AREERE) - BRE
ordinary share in the Company. RERTEEEARBE-RAQRI LA
A& HER) ©
(a) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed (@) TXREINFAMKITEZEBREZR
during the years are as follows, whereby all options are HRR AR - B - FrE R
settled by physical delivery of shares: BRAOBYRB A REERIN

Number of Contractual

instruments Vesting conditions life of options

XA SRt BREZESHFEH

Options granted to directors:

RTEEBERE
—  on 29 September 2003 20,500,000 Six months from the 9.7 years
—ET=FHhA=1+hA date of grant 9.7%
H% B HE RS E A
- on 29 September 2003 20,500,000 One year from the 9.7 years
—EE=FHhA=TNH date of grant 9.7
X B AR Rt —F
- on 3 August 2006 8,500,000 One year from the 6.8 years
—EERFNA=H date of grant 6.84F
B B BT —F
- on 3 August 2006 10,500,000 Two years from the 6.8 years
—ZETRFENA=AH date of grant 6.8
X B B RS
Options granted to employees:
KT REE ZIERE
- on 3 August 2006 11,491,000 One year from the 6.8 years
—EERFNA=H date of grant 6.84F
% B EAfRET—4F
- on 3 August 2006 17,500,000 Two years from the 6.8 years
ZEERFNHA=H date of grant 6.8F
X B BRRET R

Total share options
BB B 88,991,000
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29. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS -t KA 2+ 2e&3c 5 (4E)

(continued)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of (b) BREZHERMEFITHEEN
share options are as follows: T :

2009 2008
—SErE “TTN\F
Weighted Weighted
average average

exercise exercise

price  Number of price Number of
L options 15 options
TEE FEREHRE 7B EREHE

Outstanding at the beginning FHMARITE

of the year $0.5667c 79,934,000 $0.595;C 88,991,000
Exercised during the year FAREITE $0.779C  (15,547,000) $0.8507T  (9,057,000)
Outstanding at the end of the year FEREARITE $0.5145t 64,387,000 $0.5667T 79,934,000
Exercisable at the end of the year FRA[FITE $0.5145t 64,387,000 $0.5667T 79,934,000
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise FERNDITEERRENITE B E) 2 hnE
for share options exercised during the year was $3.0 EHREASOT(ZEENE : 22
(2008: $2.2). IT) °
The options outstanding at 31 December 2009 had an exercise R-_FEFAE+—_A=+—HHEE
price of $0.296 or $0.85 (2008: $0.296 or $0.85) and a T 7 BN > 17E (B 50.296 TT 5k,
weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.4 years (2008: 0.857c(—EZ )\ : 0.2967T3£0.85
4.4 years). 7T) - MAETFHER T a A FERIR

BAF(ZZTZ/)\F : 44%F) -
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29. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions
The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on Black-Scholes Option
Pricing Model. The contractual life of the share option is used as
an input into this model.

Fair value of share options and RBIREZ AR ERRR
assumptions

Fair value at measurement date RErER Bz ARE

Share price (B

Exercise price 1818

BREKE (VA [T

Expected volatility (expressed as
weighted average volatility used in

Model)
Option life (expressed as weighted average
life used in the modeliing

under Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model) RIS ER)
Expected dividends TEEARR S
Risk-free interest rate (based on ERBEANE (BBEINEES
Exchange Fund Notes) ESE9)

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of
the share options), adjusted for any expected changes to
future volatility based on public available information. Expected
dividends are based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair
value estimate.

There were no service conditions or market conditions
associated with the share options granted.

— &) BEEERAA
the modeliing under Black-Scholes Option Pricing  £RFR & INFEF19K 18 )

BRESH O (A5
— A7 AT | e ERAR

R X 2 kA X 5 ()

(c) BREZQABERRER

REBAR BN ER Z RIS
DAERERBRE . AAERE -

BERBREZGSAAAEBERIAN
AR BEEERAGE - B
B A HFMBEEREN 2 —REA
28 -

2008

—TTN\F

$0.295¢ $0.297t
$0.855¢ $0.857T
$0.857¢ $0.857¢
52.13% 52.13%
3years<E 3 yearstF
2.28% 2.28%
4.30% 4.30%

TEHRR IR TR IR SR iR AT S (UARE
Pt Z I F O RIRF HIET H) - B
FEERRH AN E R ER AR
ZIhETEE o RHIR S TR B
BETE - FIRAIBBRRIEF T
RABEZEFHBEREATE -

B 2 P e I B M (AR A 1
RIS IR -
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS =t BRAREERRE
(a) Movements in component of equity (a) RRIEZRID 2B ED
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances REBEGEER S INFIREFEREE
of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set B ERENGEERETR - AN
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details A S BB R FYIRFLEAR 2
of changes in the Company’s individual components of equity EEESAT
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out
below:
The Company AAT

Capital
Share Share Special  redemption Capital  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits

ROBE  HHMGE S4EORE S4ARE  RERA
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Tr r T r Tr

Balance at 1 January 2008 R-EEN\E
-A-B2&k 313472 737,989 - 70 11,628 7926% 1,855,855

Changes in equity for 2008: BR\F2E0EE.
Dividends approved in respect of the  FEEE#EZRE

previous year (note 300 (Mﬁz@?i)) - - = = - (@367 (31.367)
Shares issued under share option 1BiEERiE 81T

scheme (note 30(c)i) RAHE=F0) 906 9429 - - (2,645) - 769
Fouity-setfled share-based WS

fransactions kER5 - - - - 2,385 - 2385
Total comprehensive income for the year  AEE2ERALE - - - - - 1Rm 132772
Dividend declared in respect of the AEEEEEZRE

curent year (note 300)() (H=10) - - = = = (18843 (18849)
Balance at 31 December 2008 R-FENE
+-A=t+-8
2 314378 747418 - 70 11368 87528 1948492
Balance at 1 January 2009 RZFENE
—-R-Bzitk 314,378 747,418 - 70 11,368 875,258 1,048,492
Changes in equity for 2009: ZEEAEZIENES:
Dividends approved in respect of the  £EERHEZ RS
previous year (note 3000 (BE=100) - - - - = (31447)  (31,447)
Shares issued under share option HRERREE%(T7
scheme (note 30(c)i) B (M=) 1,554 15,002 - - (4,540) - 12,106
Issue of ordinary shares (note S0C)fi) (TR
( WEEJF(C)UD) 48,000 1,385,035 = - - - 1,433,035
Total comprehensive income for the year  AEE2EMALE - - - - . m 112
Dividend declared in respect of the AEERERZIRE
curtent year (note 30b)() (BE=tb)0) - - - - - (31507 (31,507)
Balance at 31 December 2009 RoBENE
t-A=+-H
2kt 33932 2147545 - 10 6328 813076 3,331,451
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) =+ BRAREERRE(Z)

(b) Dividends (b) 2
() Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company () JERNTARERE S KFER
attributable to the year B

Interim dividend declared and paid BEEREZ 2P HREER
of 1.0 cent per ordinary share (2008:  E#A%1.01l (ZZZ)\4F -

0.6 cent per ordinary share) BFIR L EAR0.610) 31,507 18,843
Final dividend proposed after the REEHRBEZRDIKZ RKE
balance sheet date of 1.2 cents per & B G L @A%1.21L
ordinary share (2008: 1.0 cent per (ZZ2NF : FiRER
ordinary share) f&%1.011L) 43,672 31,447
75,179 50,290
The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date REE RIBESE DR ZRNEARR &
has not been recognised as a liability at the balance sheet HMAMEE RERERE -
date.
(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company (i) BRL— K FE - WRFEA
attributable to the previous financial year, approved and HEEN ST ARGl Ef]
paid during the year HRE

Final dividend in respect of the BRE—EMBEE  WRF
previous financial year, AREEIT A 2 REARE B3 R%
approved and paid during the TE.00l (Z2ETNFE
year, of 1.0 cent per ordinary share &A% E3E@A%1.01L)
(2008: 1.0 cent per ordinary share) 31,447 31,367
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(c) Share capital

()

(i)

Authorised and issued share capital

=t BRARGERRE(E)
(c) B&
()

JEEREEFTIRA

Authorised: SETE
Ordinary shares of FR®EE010TE

$0.10 each LEk 5,000,000 500,000 5,000,000 500,000
Ordinary shares, TEAE  BEITR

issued and fully paid: BHAR
At 1 January n—H—H 3,143,778 314,378 3,134,721 313,472
Issue of ordinary shares BT E AR 480,000 48,000 = =
Shares issued under IR R T2

share option scheme BT 15,547 1,554 9,057 906
At 31 December Wt+=—A=+—8” 3,639,325 363,932 3,143,778 314,378

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

Issue of ordinary shares

On 5 October 2009, 480,000,000 new ordinary shares
were allotted and issued to Guildford Limited, the
immediate parent of the Company, at a subscription
price of $3.03 per share. Net proceeds from such issue
amounted to $1,433,035,000 (after offsetting direct
expenses of $21,365,000), out of which $48,000,000 and
$1,385,035,000 were recorded in share capital and share
premium respectively.
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(i)

BARFSAEABRURTREIR
ZIB - WRARFAE EAIRE
BREMHZA —FREE - LA
RAIZFBEENS - AEER
BEBRIFHERN -

FITZBER
R-_ZEAFE+ARB AR
MEZ&AFGuildford Limited
A % & % 17 480,000,000 A%
LM% - BIRWBEES.03TT °
TR TEEIASREFE
#£1,433,035000 T (B & &
¥ F 221,365,000 ) © H e
48,000,0007T M 1,385,035,0007C
2 IR SRR A R AR R B ER o
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(c) Share capital (continued)

196

(i)

(v)

Shares issued under share option scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2009, share options
were exercised to subscribe for 15,547,000 ordinary shares
(2008: 9,057,000 ordinary shares) in the Company at a
consideration of $12,106,000 (2008: $7,690,000) of which
$1,554,000 (2008: $906,000) was credited to share capital
and the balance of $10,552,000 (2008: $6,784,000) was
credited to the share premium account. $4,540,000 (2008:
$2,645,000) has been transferred from the capital reserve
to the share premium account in accordance with policy
set out in note 1(r)(ii).

Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at the
balance sheet date

=t RARBERBRE(E)
() BE(E)
(i) WRIERE A T &R TR

(i)

REE-_TEThF+_A=1+—
HIEFE - BREEE ATTER
RS HE - SR8 15,547 000X A A &)
EBR(ZZZNF : 9,057,000
I& i@z ) - R E /12,106,000
JL(=ZZZ)\& : 7,690,0007T) °
H 1,554,000 0 (ZZEF/)\F -
906,0007T) B i ABRAK - &R
10,552,000 T (= T F N\ F
6,784,000 7T ) Al 52 A B 17 )% B
8 © 4,540,0007T( =T )N\ F :
2,645,0007T ) B 1% B& Bt 7 —(r) (ii)
FREMBR 2 RE - BN EE
BERMDRER °

R E H 1 R BB (5 K 7T
&2 BIRIEZ IR

2009 2008

k- 2 8- “ETN\F

Exercise period Exercise price Number Number

yid i 8B L

29 March 2004 to 25 May 2013 —EEME=A-+HAZE $0.2967T 18,500,000 20,500,000
“E-=FRA-1+hHA

29 September 20040 25 May 2013~ —TEWFNA-TNAZ $0.2967T 20,500,000 20,500,000
—T-Z#FA-+HA

3 August 2007 to 25 May 2013 “TTHF\A=RZE $0.857T 10,200,000 15,194,000
“E—=FRA-tHA

3 August 2008 to 25 May 2013 “ZZ\F\A=RZE $0.857T 15,187,000 23,740,000
“Z-—=FRA-tHA

64,387,000 79,934,000

Each share option entitles the holder to subscribe for
one ordinary share in the Company. Further details of
these share options are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements.

SREERER T ESE AR RE
—BRA DR BB AER o 1t F
R E—FPERERY R
®IFFE=TN -
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

()

(i)

(i)

Share premium and capital redemption reserve

The application of the share premium account and the
capital redemption reserve is governed by sections 48B
and 49H respectively of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of the actual or
estimated number of unexercised share options granted to
employees of the Group recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in
note 1(r)(ii).

Special reserve

On 5 January 2004, the Company announced its
intention to put forward a proposal for the reduction of
the Company’s share premium account by the sum of
$2,372,172,824 (i.e. accumulated losses of the Company
as at 30 September 2003) and the application of the same
amount of credit arising from such reduction towards the
elimination of the accumulated losses of the Company.
The reduction of share premium account, approved by the
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held on
2 February 2004, was confirmed by an order made by the
High Court of Hong Kong (“the Court”) on 2 March 2004
and became effective upon registration of the said order
by the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong on the same
date.

To safeguard the interests of the Company’s creditors,
the Company undertakes to the Court to create a special
reserve upon the reduction of share premium account on
the terms set out below:
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mERMEA R —SEERS
%Eﬁﬁﬁ/\?fiﬁﬁ$ A2 RETETE -
BRI e EBREHEEN _EZ
M= B - HE1T 2 IREEFRIK
g HERERE WRZTZTWM
F=A-HEREREER(E
Bt DIEH MBS T IARER KR
AER BREE A A MR ER
BB ER

BT REAR FIEMAZ M

ARREDEBAE AR - R
P A7 it 18 R B 8% S — 1 55 ! ek

- R

197



Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

30.

198

CAPITAL AND RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) Special reserve (continued)

(1) that for so long as there shall remain outstanding any
debt of or claim against the Company which, if the
date on which the reduction of the share premium
account of the Company (“the Effective Date”) were the
commencement of the winding-up of the Company,
would be admissible to proof in such winding-up and
the person entitled to the benefit thereof shall not have
consented to the said reduction of share premium
account or agreed otherwise, the Company shall credit
to a special reserve in the books of the Company (“the
Special Reserve”):

— any amount arising by reason of a release of any
provision taken into account in establishing the
accumulated losses of the Company shown in
the balance sheet of the management accounts
of the Company for the nine months ended 30
September 2003; or

=t BAEARGEERIRRA(E)
(d) FELEERBNE)
(i) FFIREE(E)

(1) MRS RIRIRLAL D )4t (B B

ARz B(TERBER]) (EFx
BAAQRBRMAKE)RA
BB ERARBEER SR
THRBER  mitFEHLE
%ﬁ$ ARBEEZAE
R ARSI AL
T%&ITHﬁLLMﬂh
R EREER - AIARRIA
LT EELRARRRRE
ZF IR (TRERIRE DT

— l%é@ﬂ?r]\$ A&
—EF=FNA=T
EIthMIHZEIEEEE
R BERBERAMT
RETE R Z B AT
EEXCERE %K
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) Special reserve (continued)
(1) (continued)

any amount received by the Company as profit
by way of distribution from a corporation which
was a subsidiary or an associated company of the
Company at the Effective Date (a “subsidiary” or an
“associated company” respectively) which is made
by such subsidiary or associated company out of
profits available for distribution prior to the Effective
Date or any dividend paid to the Company in
respect of any liquidation of a subsidiary or an
associated company commencing prior to the
Effective Date; and

(2) the Special Reserve:

shall not be treated as realised profits of the
Company; and

shall, for so long as the Company shall remain a
limited company, be treated as an undistributable
reserve of the Company for the purposes of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of
the People’s Republic of China) or any statutory
modification or re-enactment thereof.
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) Special reserve (continued)
Provided always that:

200

(1)

the Special Reserve may be applied for the same
purposes as a share premium account may lawfully be
applied;

the amount standing to the credit of the Special
Reserve may be reduced by an amount equal to
any increase, after the Effective Date, in the share
premium account of the Company which results from
an issue of shares (other than for the purposes of any
redemption or purchase by the Company of its own
shares) for cash or other consideration or by way of the
capitalisation of distributable profits or reserves, and
the Company shall be at liberty to transfer the amount
so reduced to the general reserves of the Company
and the same shall become available for distribution;

the amount credited to the Special Reserve in
accordance with the foregoing provisions of
this undertaking shall not at any time exceed
$1,762,999,500 (“the Limit”);

the Limit may be reduced by the amount of any
increase, after the Effective Date, in the paid-up share
capital or share premium account of the Company
which results from an issue of shares (other than
for the purposes of any redemption or purchase by
the Company of its own shares) for cash or other
consideration or by way of the capitalisation of
distributable profits or reserves;

=t BAEARGEERIRRA(E)
(d) FEHEERENE)
(i) FFFEE (&)

HE:

(1)
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MBS AR IR

BIEANEE 2 FilBELA
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

=t RARRIERRE(E)
(d) RELERBNGE)

(i) Special reserve (continued)

(v)

()

the Limit may be reduced upon the liquidation,
disposal or other realisation, after the Effective Date,
of a subsidiary, an associated company or any of the
financial or fixed assets of the Company by the amount
of the provision made in relation to such subsidiary,
associated company or financial or fixed assets as
at 30 September 2003 less such amount (if any) as
credited to the Special Reserve as a result of such
liquidation, disposal or realisation; and

in the event that the amount standing to the credit of
the Special Reserve at any time exceeds the Limit after
any reduction of the Limit pursuant to provisos (4) and/
or (5) above, the Company shall be at liberty to transfer
the amount of any such excess to the general reserves
of the Company and the same shall become available
for distribution.

The Special Reserve of $112,016,000 credited in 2004 was
reduced to $Nil during the year ended 31 December 2006
due to an increase in the share premium account of the
Company which resulted from an issue of shares in 20086.

Gooawill arising on consolidation

The goodwill arising on consolidation has been set up and
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 1(g).
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

202

v)

()

(vi)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(v).

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change
in the fair value of available-for-sale securities held at the
balance sheet date and is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies in notes 1(f) and (k).

Reserve fund

Statutory reserve — wholly foreign-owned enterprises
Subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC, which are wholly
foreign-owned enterprises, follow the accounting principles
and relevant financial regulations of the PRC applicable to
wholly foreign-owned enterprises (‘PRC GAAP — WFOE”),
in the preparation of its accounting records and financial
statements. Pursuant to the accounting regulations for
business enterprises (S &&THIE 1€ (2000) 25 %)),
the subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of the
profit arrived at in accordance with PRC GAAP — WFOE for
each year to a statutory reserve. The profit arrived at must
be used initially to set off against any accumulated losses.
The appropriations to statutory reserve, after offsetting
against any accumulated losses, must be made before the
distribution of dividends to shareholders. The appropriation
is required until the statutory reserve reaches 50% of the
registered capital. This statutory reserve is not distributable
in the form of cash dividends, but may be used to set off
losses or be converted into paid-in capital.
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(e) Distributability of reserves

U]

At 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company,
as calculated under the provisions of section 79B of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, was $813,076,000 (2008:
$875,258,000). After the balance sheet date the directors
proposed a final dividend of 1.2 cents per ordinary share (2008:
1.0 cent per ordinary share), amounting to $43,672,000 (2008:
$31,447,000). This dividend has not been recognised as a
liability at the balance sheet date.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order
to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and make adjustments
to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. The Group
reviews the capital structure on a regular basis and considers
the cost of capital and the associated risks. Based on
recommendations of the board of directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through adjusting the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, new shares issues or
new debt financing. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes during the years ended 31 December
2009 and 2008.

The Group monitors capital with reference to its debt position.
The Group’s strategy was to maintain the equity and debt in
a balanced position and ensure there were adequate working
capital to service its debt obligation. The Group’s gearing ratio,
being the Group’s total liabilities over its total assets, as at 31
December 2009 was 43% (2008: 50%).

Except for the banking facilities which require the fulfilment of
covenants relating to certain of the Group’s financial ratios as
disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also
exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in
other entities.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage
these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. Debts are usually
due within 30 days from the date of billing.

Debtors of the Group represent receivables in respect of toll
bridge revenue and revenue from waste-water treatment plants,
waste-to-energy power plants and methane-to-energy power
plant and industrial solid waste landfill operation services which
are settled on a monthly basis. In addition, the Group has gross
amounts due from customers for contract work and other
receivables in respect of the BOT and TOT arrangements.

At the balance sheet date, the debtors, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments and gross amounts due from
customers for contract work of the Group amounted to
$2,339,990,000 (2008: $1,807,724,000) and $3,477,389,000
(2008: $2,945,064,000) respectively, of which $1,067,066,000
(2008: $1,113,657,000) and $4,660,177,000 (2008:
$3,753,734,000) were due from the largest customer and five
largest customers in aggregate of the Group. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount
of each financial asset in the balance sheet. Since the parties to
BOT and TOT arrangement are local government authorities in
the PRC, the Group considers the credit risk is low.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Company to
its subsidiaries, the Group does not provide any guarantees
which would expose the Group or the Company to credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of the financial
guarantees at the balance sheet date is disclosed in note 35.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BTSRRI 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from “Debtors, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments” as well as “Gross amounts due
from customers for contract work” are set out in notes 19 and
20 respectively.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by the
parent company’s board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities
at the balance sheet date of the Group’s and the Company’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the balance sheet date) and the earliest date the Group and the
Company can be required to pay.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& 2B EHASN » FIE & RELBIEETE)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES :t- BiF5EMREERAREE)

(continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) ZBELEAKE)
The Group AEE
2009
3
Total Totd
contractual Morethan ~ More than contractual Morethan ~ More than
undis- Within ~ 1yearbut 2years but undls- Wihin -~ Tyearbut  2yearsbut
counted  1yearor lessthan lessthan conted ~ Tyeror  lessthan  lessthan
Camying cashfow ondemand  2years  5years  Morethan  Canying cashfow  ondemand 2years Syears  More than
amount SRR GRS -FEE  MEEE  Syeas  annt ; nE —ERR WERE  Syes
FEE ReRgE HEX  WER  IER i FEE RER  DER BEK
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $§000 $000
*n T n n *n I T T T T T
Bankloans G 2048004 (3486474)  (853526)  (607.447) (1506,716)  (518,785) 2329593 (2873206 (93973  (448374) (1168047 (562812
Qther loans A3 75 (12741 (2,359 (2,359 (10m) (60,046) 68064 (127.361) (4,043 (40 (12129 (107,146)
Loans fomuimateholdng SR
company INGE 12707 (12707) - (112707) - - 212%8 (215810) (2852 (12959 - -
Credftors, other ERER - £fp
payables and ERFER
acorued expenses [E:TER 481481 (481481)  (481481) - - - A 081 @103 - - -
3562787  (4153403) (1,307.366)  (722513) (1513,793)  (679,731) 3081646  (3687.408) (1171899 (665375 (1,180.176)  (669,958)
The Company F2T
It gk
Total Tod
contractual More than More than contractud More than More than
undis- Within yearbut  2yearshut unds- Within Tyearut 2yearshut
counted 1 yearor less than less than counted Tyearor ess than ess then
Carmying cashflow  ondemand 2years 5years Canying on demand 2 years 5 years
amont TR ~ihg, {1 ke amourt s —E ke
FEE  HeRgE HEX [ BER KA RER
§000 $000 $000 $000 $000 §000
v fr S i v ] ] r
Bank oans HIER 187,500 (191,262 (112,138) (30,889) (48241) 27500 (246081) (134.206) (31.881) (199%4)
Lonsfomutimalehokdng ~~ SEERATER
company - - - - - 100420 (103272) 282 (100420) -
Creditors, oher %R it
peyables and accued FEfiER
QOenSes EHER 094 (20941) (2094) - - 393 (3% (3899 - -

WXy (09 @0S) (M) & MR (M) (R (e

Finencil quaranees Bz
fsued: Bk
Maximum amount ReEREE
quaraeed ote 9 (Ki=t1) - 956,044 956,04 = - - 53078 5078 - -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BTSRRI 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Liquidity risk (continued)

As shown in the above analysis, non-derivative financial liabilities
of the Group and the Company amounting to $1,337,366,000
and $133,079,000 respectively were due to be repaid during
2010. The short-term liquidity risk inherent in this contractual
maturity date has been addressed by issue of ordinary shares
during the year ended 31 December 2009 as disclosed in note
30(c)(ii).

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the Group’s
cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits, bank loans, other
loans and loans from ultimate holding company. Borrowings
issued at variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk
respectively. The Group does not use financial derivatives to
hedge against the interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate
profile as monitored by management is set out in () below.

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile of the
Group’s and the Company’s net borrowings (being interest-
bearing financial liabilities less bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents) at the balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (continued)
() Interest rate profile (continued)

- M ERERERAREE)

(©) REEBR(E)
() FIFEBR(E)

208

The Group AEE
2009 2008
—EENE “ET)\F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BRfE BRRA=
Fixed rate deposits: EEFH -
Deposits with bank FITER 0.4% -2.3% (51,062) 2% -4.1% (12,316)
Cash and cash equivalents HERBESSEY 0.3% -1.4% (1,259,835) 0.2% - 2% (147,631)
(1,310,897) (159,947)
Net variable rate borrowings: JEEEEFE -
Bank loans FITER 1.1%-6.7% 2948884 1.8%-8.6% 2,329,593
Other loans HiER 5.9% 39,715 5.9% 68,064
Loans from uttimate holding s UNG]
company = - 2.8% 100,420
Less: Pledged bank deposits B ERIRRITIEN 0.4% - 1.2% (29,425) 1.4% (109,349)
Cash and cash RekBe
equivalents =) 0.01% - 1.4% (683,950)  0.01%-2% (408,143)
2,275,224 1,980,585
Total net borrowings BIEETE 964,327 1,820,638
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BN RS HaR M t

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES

(continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (continued)
(i) Interest rate profile (continued)

- B EREERAREE)

(0 REEBR(E)
() FIEBR(E)

The Company RAT
2009 2008
- -3 “EENF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BRHE BRRA=
Fixed rate deposits: EEF
Amount due from a subsidiary EWHBARFE 2% (23,831) -
Cash and cash equivalents e RRLEED 03%-14%  (1,259,512) 0.2%-1.3% (137,181)
(1,283,343) (137,181)
Net variable rate borrowings: EEEEFE -
Bank loans FITER 1.1% 187,500 1.8% 237,500
Loans from ultimate holding Sl YN
company R - 2.8% 100,420
Less: Cash and cash B RERARE
equivalents ZEM 0.01% - 1.4% (36,763) 0.01%-0.4% (52,929)
150,737 284,991
Total net (deposits)/ w(zm),/
borrowings BFE (1,132,606) 147,810

(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2009, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of one percent in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would decrease/increase the
Group’s profit before taxation by approximately $9,643,000

(2008: $18,206,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
BTSRRI 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk ZAERRIN - FiA & REABETE)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk (continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (continued)
The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit before taxation that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the balance sheet date and had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk at
the balance sheet date. In respect of the exposure to cash
flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-derivative
instruments held by the Group at the balance sheet date,
the impact on the Group’s profit before taxation is estimated
as an annualised impact on interest expense or income of
such a change in interest rates. The analysis is performed
on the same basis for 2008.

(d) Currency risk

(e)

210

Forecast transactions

Majority of the Group’s transactions are denominated in
functional currency of the entity to which they relate. Presently,
there is no hedging policy with respect of the foreign exchange
exposure. The Group’s transactional currencies are Chinese
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars as substantially all the turnover
are within Hong Kong and other parts in the PRC. With the
natural hedging of the revenue and costs being denominated
in Chinese Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars, the Group’s
transactional foreign exchange exposure was insignificant.

With respect to borrowings and creditors denominated in
United States Dollars (USD), the impact of foreign exchange rate
fluctuations is insignificant as HKD is pegged to USD.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising equity
investments classified as available-for-sale equity securities (see
note 18). The Group’s listed investments are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong. The Group’s unquoted investments
are held for long term strategic purposes. The management
monitoring regularly the performance of the investments against
expectation, together with an assessment of their relevance to
the Group’s long term strategic plans.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3FERSN - FIE S EIABEE)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES :t- BiF5EMREERAREE)

(continued)
(f) Fair values n DRE
() Financial instruments carried at fair value ) HUanpEAKZE@HITA

The following tables presents the carrying value of financial TREVNEHEE B BEENB

instruments measured at fair value at the balance sheet WMEERDFETRI2HTA -

date across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy HEIMEEZARBE=AER

defined in HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, B UAREIERNEMTAZ

with the fair value of each financial instrument categorised FREE mEeBIAZARE

in its entirety based on the lowest level of input that is NEZ AR B EBERZ &K

significant to that fair value measurement. The levels are B R AU MBI IE - TR

defined as follows: TEZERFFBUWT

- Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using — EF—HR(ERER) : NAE
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for EEmETHERESRIA Y
identical financial instruments WECREHAR)FELARE

- Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in — B NBREERTISH
active markets for similar financial instruments, or using HUSRMT A ZRE - kAT
valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are BEEHASBEEESME
directly or indirectly based on observable market data EERABEMISEE 2 ®

BRI - FTEARE

— Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using - B=H(HEZER) : FAE
valuation techniques in which any significant input is AEZ#H ASBEWIEERT
not based on observable market data BUR TS 8UR < (hE R TET

BrAnE

The Group The Company
5B FAF
Level1 Level2 Level3 Total Level1 Level2 Level3

-9 %-8 $=8 @i $-8 =8 %=4
$000  $000  $000 $000  $000 $000  $000
ft ¥t Fr  Fx TR

Assets 213
Available-for-sale FER
equity securities: BF
- Listed -t 16,736 - - 16,736 - - - -
- Unlisted —3EW - 4649 - 4649 - 4649 - 4649
16,736 4,649 - 21,385 - 4,649 - 4,649
During the year, there were no significant transfers between FERN B NE R IEN
instruments in Level 1 and Level 2. HE A o
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B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(continued)
(f) Fair values (continued)

(i)

Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than fair
value

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, debtors, bank
deposits, current portion of other receivables, deposits and
prepayments and creditors, other payables and accrued
expenses are not materially different from their carrying
amounts because of the immediate or short term maturity
of these financial instruments. The carrying amounts of
non-current portion of other receivables and deposit, gross
amounts due from customers for contract work, bank
loans, other loans and interest-bearing loans from ultimate
holding company approximate their fair values.

As set out in notes 16 and 27, the Company had amounts
due from/to subsidiaries and non-interest bearing loans
from ultimate holding company which are interest-free, it is
not practical to estimate the fair values of the amounts due
to the related party nature of these instruments.

(g) Estimation of fair values
The following summarises the major methods and assumptions
used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments.

)

(i)

(i)

212

Listed securities
Fair value is based on quoted market prices at the balance
sheet date without any deduction for transaction costs.

Unlisted securities

The Group’s investment in unlisted securities represents
investment in a property investment company, with its
investment properties (being significant part of the total
assets) stated at fair value. Fair value of the Group’s
investment in unlisted securities is based on net asset value
of the investee which is approximate the fair value.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

The fair value is estimated as the present value of future
cash flows, discounted at current market interest rates for
similar financial instruments.
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SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f& BA3EBRSN - FIE S EIAB K E)

32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS St BB AEZEXER S
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere Britt S B MR EMI DR E RS
in these financial statements, the Group entered into the following NEERIN  AEE D EER ATETT
material related party transactions. PNERRZS o
(@ The Group entered into the following related party transaction (@) AEBEHEHEFLIERATPEEAE
with its ultimate holding company, China Everbright Holdings EAR ARG T Ny B ALK
Company Limited: 2

Interest expense FEZH 1,306 2,494
(b) The Group entered into the following related party transaction (b) AEE EE FH#Z 2K A 7 Guildford
with its immediate holding company, Guildford Limited: Limited&] 32 7 5| @8 A 325 -

Transaction cost paid in relation to BITEBR 2 X BAK
the issue of ordinary shares 4,800 -
(c) The Group entered into the following related party transactions ) AEHEHE— %Eﬁﬂgﬁ AT T
with a related party bank: 1) YN

Interest expense FELZ 4,723 -
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B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) — =t- BARABK A2 EXRZ 5 (Z)

(d) The Group entered into the following related party transactions (d) AEBE—KEERRFIT T
with an associate: BALRS :

Service expense for operation of BRAEE SKEEM 2
waste-water treatment plants R (EE=1+=(N))
(note 32(h) 41,907 39,237
(€) The Group entered into the following related party transactions € AEEEHDBARRAT L T 51 Bk
with a minority shareholder of the Group: AER S

Revenue from environmental water RIRKBIEBER
project operation services BRAGU 2= 57,317 45,385
Revenue from environmental water IRIRKIFIE B 12
project construction services AR Wam - 1,253
Finance income B 27,126 26,949
() The Group entered into the following related party transactions ) AEEEEREBARNEDHRE
with a related company and subsidiaries of minority MEBAREISL T N5 R AR S

shareholders of the Group:

Revenue from environmental water IRRKISIEB &%

project operation services AR Y as 39,666 17,657
Revenue from environmental water IRTRKTSIE B &3

project construction services ARz 37,360 171,542
Finance income 25T ON 53,051 43,596
Technical service expense (note 32(h)) AR & (X =1+=(n)) 2,209 2,209
Purchase of equipment IEERME = 5,109
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SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& 248341 - FiA S BB EETE)

32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Q)

The Group paid key management personnel compensation as
follows:

St ERBA 2 EXRZ S (E)
@ FAEEEXNTIE
BT

EEABZEA

Salaries and other short-term e M H AR HR
employee benefits BEE1EF 24,770 23,067
Retirement scheme contributions RIRFHEIEFR 639 591
Equity compensation benefits RAEREF = 1,839
25,409 25,497

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” (see note 5(0)).

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group
entered into certain continuing connected transactions. The
Company’s independent non-executive directors have reviewed
these transactions. Details of which are disclosed under the
paragraph “Continuing connected transactions” in the report of
the directors.

On 10 November 2008, the Company entered into sale and
purchase agreements with Everbright Real Estate Limited, a
fellow subsidiary, to sell the entire issued share capital of, and
shareholder’s loan to, Sino Villa Holdings Limited and Riseland
Limited at a total consideration of $195,907,000, satisfied in
cash. A profit on disposal of subsidiaries of $51,778,000 was
credited to profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2008.

33. COMMITMENTS

(@)

At 31 December 2009, the Group had outstanding purchase
commitments in connection with the Group’s construction
contracts not provided for in the financial statements of
$248,097,000 (2008: $175,932,000).
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B SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

33.

34.

35.

216

COMMITMENTS (continued)
(b) At 31 December 2009, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

St RIE(E)

b RZZTAF+—A=1+—H R
NAIEERR R SR E T R IR B R
EHEENTAEERNT

The Group
rE

2009 2008
—EFhE —TENF
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Within 1 year —FR 510 740
After 1 year but within 5 years —FBEBERFA 474 967
984 1,707

The Group leases a number of properties under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one to
three years. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

(c0 At 31 December 2009, the Group had outstanding
commitments in connection with TOT arrangement entered into
which amounted to $303,135,000 (2008: $515,725,000).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of assets pledged are set out in note 24. The aggregate net
book value of assets pledged amounted to $4,055,137,000 as at
31 December 2009 (2008: $2,820,606,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Financial guarantees issued

As at the balance sheet date, the Company has issued financial
guarantees to five wholly-owned subsidiaries and a non-wholly
owned subsidiary. The directors do not consider it probable that a
claim will be made against the Company under the guarantees. The
maximum liability of the Company at the balance sheet date under
the guarantees issued is the facilities drawn down by the subsidiaries
of $956,044,000 (2008: $530,786,000).

AEBERBLEHERRZEYE -
ERBEE—RNTAH—Z==F "1
YA EEIEEE

© RZZETZNF+=—ZA=+—H"
AREBETOTLEZH T Z2EER
308,135000 T (= T T N\ F
515,725,0007T) °

EEHKH
BEEREEEFBENME=TM - BR=
TETNF+_A=+—08 BHEFLEE
Z IR FE4E%E 54,055,137,00070( =&
T \4F : 2,820,606,0007T) °

NEEE

OB HIBIER

HELAER ARAALRZEHE
RAIR—RIE2ENMBRAEL T
ER -BZERE AHERBEEAT
AR iR IE Eat ER M AR A &
RoNEEH ARAIE LB FE
RTzEaEEAEHEHBRARIEIR
HY 2 & & 956,044,0007T (Z BT )\ :
530,786,0007T) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& 248341 - FiA S BB EETE)

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued) SHLSEEREE)
Financial guarantees issued (continued) BB HBFIERE)
Due to the related party nature of the instruments, the directors MR BB ATHEE  WEERABMEET
considered it is not meaningful and practicable to estimate the fair EBMBERZ AR BLEZEZITNTY]
values of the financial guarantees and therefore they have not been B I ERA DR 2 B TSR K e
recognised in the Company’s financial statements. RBEMBER -
36. COMPARATIVE FIGURES Stn ELES B
As a result of the application of HKAS 1 (revised 2007), Presentation HRERCEEGEINDEIR(ZET
of financial statements, and HKFRS 8, Operating segments, certain Y FER]) [ HHREZ ZH I RBB
comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to current MERELERDNESRE —[XE L& - &
year's presentation and to provide comparative amounts in respect T BB FEIEET - WHEARFEZ
of items disclosed for the first time in 2009. Further details of these EBRAN  WARAZTENFEXEEE
developments are disclosed in note 2. ZIE BRHLIRET - W EEE) 2 E—
E=d N I S
37.IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY =it EiERRRIERAST
At 31 December 2009, the directors consider the immediate RZZEZENF+_A=+—H8 EFR
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Guildford RASE 2 BRI QRREEIERAL
Limited and China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, which U“;'J?%Guildford Limited )2 R B S K& )
are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and Hong Kong BRARF BEDIREBEXFHER
respectively. Neither of them produces financial statements available B &ﬂﬁﬁX_L o IWELBER M HmE
for public use. DA AR AR o
38. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES TN EETHIET R &E
(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s (a) EEAAREESTTBERE{EZRBE
accounting policies SETHEr
In the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, ERECRERANEESTHORR -
management has made the following accounting judgements: Ve Y& et -
() Service concession arrangements () REBErETA S L
In prior years, the Group entered into BOT and TOT RBEFE  NEEGHESKE
arrangements in respect of its waste-water treatment, ®IEAE - iii&*’kkﬁ?‘aﬁlﬁﬁ <A
waste-to-energy, methane-to-energy, industrial solid waste REETIHE - TEXEBREEYIEE
landfill and toll bridge projects. HIEE RRERBR IE B &I

BOTRTOTZHE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk RAERRIN - FiA & REABEETE)

38. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)
(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies (continued)
()  Service concession arrangements (continued)
The Group concluded that the BOT and TOT arrangements
are service concession arrangements under HK(IFRIC) 12,
because the local government controls and regulates the
services that the Group must provide with the infrastructure
at a pre-determined service charge. In addition, upon expiry
of concession right agreement, the infrastructure has to be
transferred to the local government at nil consideration.

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty
Notes 13(c), 15, 29 and 31 contain information about the
assumptions and their risk factors relating to valuation of
investment properties, goodwill impairment, fair value of share
options granted and financial instruments. Other key sources of
estimation uncertainty are as follows:

() Construction contracts

As explained in policy notes 1(m) and 1(u)(i), revenue and
profit recognition on an incompleted project is dependent
on estimating the total outcome of the construction
contract, as well as the work done to date. Based on
the Group’s recent experience and the nature of the
construction activity undertaken by the Group, the Group
makes estimates of the point at which it considers the work
is sufficiently advanced such that the costs to complete
and revenue can be reliably estimated. As a result, until this
point is reached, the “Gross amounts due from customers
for contract work” as disclosed in note 20 will not include
profit which the Group may eventually realise from the work
to date. In addition, actual outcomes in terms of total cost
or revenue may be higher or lower than estimated at the
balance sheet date, which would affect the revenue and
profit recognised in future years as an adjustment to the
amounts recorded to date.

S\ EEHHIET R GEE (E)

(a) EEBASEETBORIEATE 2B

SEtHER(E)

() MR S (E)
REBRSBHEBOTRTOTRHE
HE(ER (BREM B REREE
858)R2B)E 1257 NIRRT
REEL Y - FRE RS
WEEARRRE - MAKEXA
RIATE RIS B EMER It
SN - FERFRFR LR A IR
BRERERSEEERE R
R o

(b) ERMEEELETEEME ZBRE
MiE+=c) +H  —thAk="1—
HEEREME  BERE R
BEEAREREMTAZAERH
ZEBEERNERAZER - ERAETE
HEAHETE M 2 Bt E ZARIRANT

() EEEL

NS FT R Y 5 —(m) K —(u)(i)
Frit - shARTEAIEE 2 s kA
MEERANME + EEUARERT
BES KRB URBEK
T2 o REBEAEE 2T HKER &
REEFED  BERSHME - A
SEEDEER - HERILIEE
ERERNEE - BUFTRRY
A RIR SR A o E
b EE AT - MR
THAREBRZIERREFEHT
BRERE | TS aEASER
B TEMELEIE R
B o Bboh - ANERE S s 4B 5
ZEBRERIEESRIERLE
BHZER  WEREREE R
2 e EMFR M E N R REF
TR ek R EF) o

218 CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 5 B3¢ REIFR AR 22 F)



Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx BATERRYN @ FrESRBIABETHE)

38. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)
(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts

The Group estimates impairment losses for bad and
doubtful debts resulting from the inability of the customers
to make the required payments. The Group bases the
estimates on the ageing of the receivables, customer
credit-worthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the
financial conditions of customers were to deteriorate, actual
write-offs would be higher than estimated.

Other impairment losses

If circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
investments in subsidiaries, associate, fixed assets,
intangible asset and other financial assets may not be
recoverable, these assets may be considered impaired,
and an impairment loss may be recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36, Impairment of Assets. The carrying amounts
of these assets are reviewed periodically in order to assess
whether the recoverable amounts have declined below the
carrying amounts. These assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the carrying amount is
reduced to recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the greater of the net selling prices and the value in use.
It is difficult to estimate precisely selling prices because
quoted market prices for the Group’s assets are not
readily available. In determining the value in use, expected
cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to their
present value, which requires significant judgement relating
to revenue and amount of operating costs. The Group uses
all readily available information in determining an amount
that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of revenue and amount of
operating costs.

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 —ZZFF#

S\ ERHHIET R GEE (E)

b) ERMEEELETEEL ZBEE)
(i) REFFRZFERETR

AEBEEREPENEEMTR
AMEL 2 REMRMGETEEE
18 - AEBSRBEEUGIR IR
ik~ BP 2 ER K BEMERER
tELEE - MEP 2 M &
% BEEMREHEREETER

0

(i) B AFEIEETE

WIERERAHEAT - BEA
RANRE  BTAE  WVAE
A MBI T A 2 R B
EREE - RS EEEHRLA
Bl - MEABATRESE
SHERISEa6% [ FEM (| T )L
Wi - S AR 2 EEES TS
B0 - DT RERBERE
BEENEREE - §BFHER
BERLE AR 2 CUEEET
EERER - REAERES
FEIRAIE, o B IR - BRE
ERHETRERE - TREY
B A & B P B A
Eep 2 B © MALABEA
EEAENOTHRE - FLER
SRR EE - NEEEAEE
W AEELENRERER
HBEME - mitHERRER
SERA LI BRI - &
EEFRFEREARETTN
BB, AEEAGE - DR
UG RS ERAR L AR R
B2 BREAN TR &
X
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38. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

220

(continued)
(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(iv) Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group
carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and
tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment
of such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take
into account all changes in tax legislations. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for temporary deductible differences.
As those deferred tax assets can only be recognised to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the unused tax credits can be
utilised, management’s judgement is required to assess the
probability of future taxable profits. Management reassess
these estimates at each balance sheet date. Additional
deferred tax assets are recognised if it becomes probable
that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

S\ EEHHIET R GEE (E)

(b) EREEEETREM ZRE(E)
() Arizi

BRIFMEHBRIREETRS
Z BRBAE L HIE - AEERE
EHER ZEBENHRBEHE - 1§
matERIAERE - BERXSHZH
BRI TR ot RIS R 2 P
BEHMEMBEEE - BLEKR
TREETRLE R AR 5 T A
FER - ANZRFRELEHAEERE
SR RS FRIR AN R 3H
A T E AW A E B TAE R
ZER T AER - MEEER
1 T M%ﬁ?i*%ﬁ%
MBHZ IR - EEEENE
%8 B EHEZEGE - M
iR SR FE R T B A 5 ] BRI
EBIREER TW@E - IS
REINELENIREE
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39. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW MEAKERBE-FFTLE+=A
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT Et+—BLEEERKREHRZIERT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 HMERIRREZHERE
DECEMBER 2009
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA Rt EMBRERTIZBE - A GG
has issued the following amendments, new standards and NEERM NIERT - LA KRR -
interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 ZEEE]  MERRREREE-ZZT
December 2009 and which have not been adopted in these financial NE+_A=+—HIEFEREKRES
statements. I EM B MR IMERAZEEET - %

B2k o

Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after
BUTBE#SZE
Fita 2 ERTHIRA N

HKFRS 3 (Revised), Business combinations (BB BHREERNFEIR(BFT) 1 July 2009
—[ZEBE0] “ZTNELA—H
Amendments to HKAS 27, Consolidated and (BEAGFER)NSE275 2 85T 1 July 2009
separate financial statements —[#FE RE T ZETNFtA—H
Amendments to HKAS 39, Financial instruments: (BBGFTER)EI5R 2 187] 1 July 2009
Recognition and measurement —[ZBTR & BRRAE “ZTNELA—H

— Eligible hedged items — G A IEE |
HK(FRIC) 17, Distributions of non-cash (BH(BRMBRERELZES)RE) 1 July 2009
assets to owners BATH— [ BA DR HE L EE] —EThE+A—H
Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 (BATBREEANZ BE(ZTTNEF) 1 July 2009 or

1 January 2010
—“2ThELA—BR

—T-TF-A—H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what REBIEFTAZEBEE] - FEA R
the impact of these amendments, new standards and new ETaEEAMELEZTE  HEATR
interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application BEEERAMIEE] EAERESSY
but is not yet in a position to state whether these amendments, new REEHARQ A EEREERMBOKR
standards and interpretations would have a significant impact on BREREATE -
the Group’s or the Company’s results of operations and financial
position.
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Five Year Summary
hFXRERE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA #EE15)

At 31 December

®+=A=+—-8
2008 2007
—ETN\F ZETLF
$000 $'000
T T
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Fixed assets BEEE 168,011 164,573 304,526 263,439 352,098
Intangible asset B EE 553,828 577,754 568,882 549,649 549,533
Goodwill FEES 46,133 46,133 46,133 46,133 46,133
Interest in associates BN ElER 588 = = 442 413,304
Other financial assets HBEE 21,385 22,336 59,577 62,976 51,931
Other receivables and Hib IR
deposits ¥en 1,736,218 1,386,280 690,019 408,559 122,184
Gross amounts due from EWEFEE4
customers for contract work Tiesammses 3,174,793 2,686,012 1,752,995 944,161 353,981
Deferred tax assets ELFIBEE 22,522 26,538 35,561 22,922 19,055
Net current assets RBEETRE 1,755,970 364,815 584,432 748,449 497,958
7,479,448 5,274,441 4,042,125 3,046,730 2,406,177
Non-current liabilties FRBAR (2,549,682)  (2,143400) (1,438,699 (933534)  (1,132,871)
NET ASSETS FEE 4,929,766 3,131,041 2,603,426 2,113,196 1,273,306
Share capital [N 363,932 314,378 313,472 307,601 255,181
Reserves i 4,208,900 2,505,237 2,137,619 1,688,522 926,422
Total equity attributable to AR RPRE
equity shareholders FE L RERSiEER
of the Company 4,572,832 2,819,615 2,451,091 1,996,123 1,181,603
Minority interests DR R 356,934 311,426 152,335 117,073 91,703
TOTAL EQUITY R 4,929,766 3,131,041 2,603,426 2,113,196 1,273,306

In order to comply with HK(IFRIC) 12 “Service concession & 7THA(EE(BEBRTEREREZES )%
arrangements”, the Group adopted a new accounting policy for service 32 )55 125% — [ IR A4S £ ZHE | 7 3R5E
concession arrangements in 2007. Figures for the years from 2005 to AEBR ST SRS ST H
2006 have been adjusted for comparison purposes. HATHFNEHEE —_SETHEE-_ZZT
NEZBFIMEAERBAME R A -
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Five Year Summary
hFEEERE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JA##&TE)

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—HLFE

2008 2007 2006
—TIN\F ZTTEF  ZTTRF
$:000 $000 $000
T T T
Results E
Tumover EER 1,765,996 1,862,509 1,347,852 884,043 517,898
Profit from operations eV 677,211 607,740 439,871 528,276 100,207
Finance costs BEBR (170,262) (147,188) (72,507) (70,445) (41,667)
Share of profit (loss) of ik E A A
associates AFI(E8) 588 = (478) 32,658 68,045
Profit before taxation I 507,537 460,552 366,886 490,489 126,585
Income tax PTG (99,060) (95,161) (6,807) (9,949) 8217
Profit for the year AEEEF 408,477 365,391 360,079 480,540 134,802
Attributable to: FE(GEMp -
Equity shareholders AARRE
of the Company 371,898 339,018 337,932 460,478 119,913
Minority interests DHRRER 36,579 26,373 22,147 20,062 14,889
Profit for the year REEZEF 408,477 365,391 360,079 480,540 134,802
Basic eamnings per share BREREBF| 11.39 centsfll 10.80 centsfill 10.89 centsfill 15.92 centsflli  4.70 centsll
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Major Properties held by the Group
REBMMFAE L EZ2YE

Percentage

Location Existing use Term of lease of interest

Eh IMEFAE HEEH Fi&#Ezma st
1. Units 2703 and 2704, 27th Floor Commercial Medium 100%

Far East Finance Centre [EES AR HA

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

BBERE TR

RES AL
Tttt E= R ETNE

]

2. Units 3 and 4, 11th Floor Residential Medium 100%
Qingsong South Lane F= ]
Dalian Development Zone
the PRC
PEERERELEE
+—E=RME T

3. Room 1301-1309 Commercial Medium 100%
Central Business Building [EES AR HA
No. 88 Fuhua Road One
Futian District
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
the PRC
FPEERA R MEERR
BE—/N\+/\FHLEBAE

—=F-Z-=FTN%

4. 24th Floor Commercial Medium 100%
Tower of Education, HES HHf
Science & Technology Building
Zhuzilin, Futian District
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
the PRC
P ERAE R
BRI
HERHIAE=1UE

5. Block JO7, Zhongguancun Science Park Commercial Long 100%
No 156 Wenquan Town [SE3 KH
Haidian District
Beijing, the PRC
PEHE U E R
i 5% 15655
PREANIRRRHREJ07 5%
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